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MOTORCAR PARTS OF AMERICA, INC.
GLOSSARY
The following terms are frequently used in the tihis report and have the meanings indicatedvbel

“Used Core” — An automobile part which has beerdisethe operation of a vehicle. Generally, thedJSere is an original equipment (“OE”)
automobile part installed by the vehicle manufaatand subsequently removed for replacement. UseelsContain salvageable parts which are an
important raw material in the remanufacturing pescéVe obtain most Used Cores by providing creditsur customers for Used Cores returned to
us under our core exchange program. Our custoraeesve these Used Cores from consumers who delildsed Core to obtain credit from our
customers upon the purchase of a newly remanutatautomobile part. When sufficient Used Cores oaha obtained from our customers, we will
purchase Used Cores from core brokers, who ateeibisiness of buying and selling Used Cores. T$elCores purchased from core brokers or
returned to us by our customers under the coreaggeghprogram, and which have been physically redddy us, are part of our raw material or w

in process inventory included in long-term coreeintory.

“Remanufactured Core” — The Used Core underlyinguaiomobile part that has gone through the rematwiag process and through that process
has become part of a newly remanufactured automehbilt. The remanufacturing process takes a Usesl Beaks it down into its component parts,
replaces those components that cannot be reusegasgkmbles the salvageable components of the@égedand additional new components into a
remanufactured automobile part. Remanufactured<Cameincluded in our onand finished goods inventory and in the remanufad finished goo
product held for sale at customer locations. Usek€returned by consumers to our customers buytatoeturned to us continue to be classified as
Remanufactured Cores until we physically receies¢hUsed Cores. All Remanufactured Cores are iedlirdour long-term core inventory or in our
long-term core inventory deposit.
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MOTORCAR PARTS OF AMERICA, INC.
Unless the context otherwise requires, all refeesnio this Annual Report orForm 10-K to “the Company,” “we,” “us,” “ MPA ” and “our” refer
to Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. and its subsidiaries. This Form 1@aly contain forward-lookingstatements within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Acbf 1995. Such forward-looking statements involsksiand uncertainties. Ouactual results may differ
significantly from the results discussed in afiyward-looking statements. Discussions contairingh forward-looking statements may be found in
the material set forth under Item 7, “Managemen@iscussion and Analysis of Financial Condition delsults of Operations,” aswvell as within
this Form 10-K generally.

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, grstatements and other information with the Selesriatnd Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Our
SEC filings are available free of charge to theljputiver the Internet at the SEC’s websitevatw.sec.gov Our SEC filings are also available free of
charge on our websiteww.motorcarparts.comyYou may also read and copy any document we fila thie SEC at its Public Reference Room at 100
F. Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. PleasetltalSEC at (800) SEQ330 for further information on the operation of fAublic Reference Roo

PART |
Iltem 1. Business
General

We are a leading manufacturer, remanufacturerdastdbutor of aftermarket automobile parts. We édnawvo reportable segments, rotating electrical
and undercar product line.

Within the rotating electrical segment, we manufeetand remanufacture alternators and starteisnfoort and domestic cars, light trucks, heavy
duty, agricultural and industrial applications.

Within the undercar product line segment, Fencalémed herein) remanufactures and distributes amtwemanufactured steering components
including rack and pinion, pumps and gears, bralipers, master cylinders, and hub assembly andnggsafor virtually all passenger and truck
vehicles.

The current population of vehicles in North Amerisapproximately 247 million and the average aghese vehicles is approximately 10 years.
believe the market for replacement parts is prilpariven by the age of vehicles and the miles emnivWhile an aged vehicle population is favorable
today, miles driven continues to fluctuate primakised on fuel prices.

The aftermarket for automobile parts is divideaitwo markets. The first market is the do-it-yolfr§®1Y”) market, which is generally serviced by
the large retail chain outlets. Consumers who @selparts from the DIY channel generally instattgpanto their vehicles themselves. In most cases,
this is a less expensive alternative than haviegépair performed by a professional installer. 3b&eond market is the professional installer market
commonly known as the do-it-for-me (“DIFM”) marké&this market is serviced by the traditional warededistributors, the dealer networks, and the
commercial divisions of retail chains. Generalhg tonsumer in this channel is a professional [rastaller.

Our products are distributed to both the DIY an&RImarkets and are distributed predominantly thhmug North America. We sell our products to
the largest auto parts retail and traditional wausie chains and to major automobile manufactucersdth their aftermarket programs and their
warranty replacement programs (“OES”). Demand apiacement rates for aftermarket remanufactureshahile parts generally increase with the
age of vehicles and increases in miles driven.

Historically, the largest share of our business iwdke DIY market. While that is still the caseir®@IFM business is now a significant part of our
business. In difficult economic times, we belieeasumers are more likely to purchase lower cosacepment parts in both the DIY and DIFM
markets. We focus on supplying both these chanwigiisthe most cost efficient replacement partstiierconsumer to purchase.
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Within the rotating electrical segment, the DIFMrked is an attractive opportunity for growth. We aiositioned to benefit from this market
opportunity in two ways: (1) our auto parts retaistomers are expanding their efforts to targeD#tevl market and (2) we sell our products under
private label and our own brand names directlyufgp§iers that focus on professional installersadidition, we sell our products to OE manufacturers
for distribution to the professional installer bdtin warranty replacement and their general afteketachannels. We have been successful in growing
sales in our rotating electrical segment to thiskeia

Financial information regarding our operating segtaés included under “Financial Statements ancofupentary Data” in Part Il, Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Recent Developments

In May 2011, we purchased (i) all of the outstagdiguity of Fenwick Automotive Products Limited APL"), (ii) all of the outstanding equity of
Introcan, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Introcargind (iii) 1% of the outstanding equity of Fapcé.Sle C.V., a Mexican variable capital company
(“Fapco”) (collectively, “Fenco”). Since FAPL own&9% of Fapco prior to these acquisitions, the Camymow owns 100% of Fapco.

Since our acquisition of Fenco on May 6, 2011, weehbeen implementing our undercar product lineargund plan and our top priority continued
to be improvement of the financial performance wf endercar product line business. The implemesnaif our undercar product line turnaround
plan has taken longer and cost more than initetijcipated. Revenues generated by our undercdugtrtine segment have not been sufficient to
enable us to meet our operating expenses and dieeimplement our undercar product line turnaropliach. Fenco has incurred net losses of
$135,260,000 and $62,814,000 for the years endedHV&d, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and has amadeted deficit of approximately
$198,074,000 at March 31, 2013. Fenco continuéac® capital and liquidity concerns. The Parent Gany Financing Agreement (as defined
herein) only permitted the Company to invest upricadditional $20,000,000 in Fenco, which it hadedas of December 31, 2012. As of March 31,
2013, the Company had invested in Fenco $4,94608quity, $52,631,000 of debt, $27,382,000 of act® receivable in connection with our
March 2011 consignment arrangement to provide goodeder to maintain the service levels for Fesanistomers, and $1,782,000 of net inter-
company balances. At March 31, 2013, the Comparyehtablished a specific charge-off accrual fordiiet, accounts receivable and inter-company
balances. Fenco has been unable to refinanceeitit @greement or obtain additional sufficient talgo implement its turnaround plan. The report of
our independent registered public accounting fimoaor financial statements for the year ended M&4cH013 contains an explanatory paragraph
raising substantial doubt as to our ability to aan¢ as a going concern.

During May 2013, Fenco appointed a new board ofjireeshdent directors, hired an independent chiefuesiring officer and all its previously

existing officers resigned from FAPL. As a restlttee loss of control of Fenco, we will likely dewolidate the financial statements of Fenco from
our consolidated financial statements during thst fjuarter of fiscal 2014. On June 10, 2013, eddPAPL, Introcan and Introcan’s subsidiaries, Flo-
Pro Inc., LH Distribution Inc., Rafko Logistics Ind&Rafko Holdings Inc. and Rafko Enterprises Ifiled a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter
7 of Title 11 of the United States Code (the “Bautcy Code”) in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for thistiict of Delaware. As of March 31, 2013,
Fenco’s financial statements are included in thesobidated financial statements of the Company. @usolidated financial statements are prepared
assuming we will continue as a going concern. Tientcial statements do not include any adjustmentsflect future adverse effects on the
recoverability and classification of assets or amte@and classification of liabilities that may rietom the outcome of this uncertainty.

As a result of these challenges with Fenco, managehmas adjusted its focus. Going forward M&#gcus will not include Fenco but will continue

be on its rotating electrical business and evatgadiher opportunities. The outlook for rotatingattical continues to be strong with over 240 rwili
vehicles on the road with an average age of ovetedds. Vehicles older than 7 years generally eégpee higher replacement rates for the alternators
and starters. As such these metrics indicate aoioggrowth opportunity for rotating electrical. MR rotating electrical business has continued to
have strong liquidity which will be further enhadday the tax benefits associated with the writeedfthe Fenco investments.
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Products

Our products are manufactured to meet or exceeth@ttifacturer specifications. Remanufacturing gélyeceeates a supply of parts at a lower cost
to the end user than newly manufactured parts aidemavailable automotive parts which are no longamufactured as new. Our remanufactured
parts are sold at competitively lower prices tharstmew replacement parts.

We recycle nearly all materials in keeping with éaous of positively impacting the environment. Ngall parts, including metal from the Used
Cores, and corrugated packaging are recycled.

We remanufacture automobile parts for virtuallyimport and domestic vehicles sold in North Ameritse believe most of our automobile parts
non-elective replacement parts in all makes andeaisaaf vehicles because they are required for &heto operate.

The increasing complexity of cars and light truaksl the number of different makes and models detlvehicles have resulted in a significant
increase in the number of different alternators staders required to service import and domestis and light trucks. We carry over 4,200 stock
keeping units (“SKUs”) for alternators and startetgch cover applications for most import and doticesars and light trucks and over 4,100 SKUs
for heavy duty and a variety of agricultural anduistrial applications. These products are sold uadecustomers’ widely recognized private label
brand names and our Quality-Bufilf Xtreme®, Reliance™ and other brand names.

Prior to its bankruptcy filing, Fenco remanufactiiend distributed new and remanufactured steeongponents including rack and pinion, pumps
and gears, brake calipers, master cylinders, ahcahsembly and bearings for virtually all passemgertruck vehicles. Fenco sold remanufactured
products under the Fenco™ brand name and new pododer the Dynapakbrand name. Fenco carried over 16,000 SKUs fouafist all
passenger and truck vehicles. We do not undertalipdate any developments in the business of Heflowing its bankruptcy.

Customers: Customer Concentration

We serve all of the largest retail automotive ctaiores including AutoZone, Advance, Genuine RNESPA), O’'Reilly, Pep Boys, with an aggreg
of approximately 14,000 retail outlets as well abwerse group of automotive warehouse distribudmd OES customers.

While we continually seek to diversify our custorbase, we currently derive, and have historicadlsivetd, a substantial portion of our sales from a
small number of large customers. During fiscal 2®IBL2 and 2011, sales to our three largest custoooastituted approximately 72%, 64% and
71%, respectively, of our consolidated net saled,sales to our largest customer, AutoZone, canstitapproximately 41%, 41% and 48%,
respectively, of our consolidated net sales, indggroducts in both our segments. Any meaningfdlction in the level of sales to any of these
customers, deterioration of any customer’s findremadition or the loss of a customer in our ratgtelectrical product line could have a materially
adverse impact upon us.

Customer Arrangements; Impact on Working Capital

We have or are renegotiating lotegm agreements with many of our major customensldd these agreements, which in most cases hdia iarms

of at least four years, we are designated as tHesixe or primary supplier for specified categsrié our products. Because of the very competitive
nature of the market and the limited number of @wglrs for these products, our customers have sanghobtained price concessions, significant
marketing allowances and more favorable delivey gesyment terms in consideration for our desigmeadi® a customer’s exclusive or primary
supplier. These incentives differ from contracttmtract and can include (i) the issuance of aispd@amount of credits against receivables in
accordance with a schedule set forth in the refesantract, (i) support for a particular custonserésearch or marketing efforts provided on a
scheduled basis, (iii) discounts granted in conaratith each individual shipment of product, ang ¢ther marketing, research, store expansion or
product development support. These contracts tifpiequire that we meet ongoing standards relaaddlfillment, price, and quality. Our contracts
with major customers expire at various dates thinddgrch 2019.
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These longer-term agreements strengthen our cust@fagonships and business base. The increasadrdefor product as a result of entering into
these longer-term agreements often requires thanevease our inventories, accounts payable argbpeel. Customer demands that we purchase
their Remanufactured Core inventory have also laesignificant and an additional strain on our ald# working capital. The marketing and other
allowances we typically grant our customers in @mtion with our new or expanded customer relatigpsshdversely impact the near-term revenues,
profitability and associated cash flows from thasangements. However, we believe the investmemhalee in these new or expanded customer
relationships will improve our overall liquidity drcash flow from operations over time.

Competition

The aftermarket automotive parts market is higlompetitive. We compete with several large and nmadiized remanufacturers and a large number
of smaller regional and specialty remanufactunéfs.also compete with overseas manufacturers, pkatlg those located in China, who are
increasing their operations and could become afi&ignt competitive force in the future.

We believe that the reputations for quality andeuer service that a supplier provides are sigaifidactors in our customers’ purchase decisions.
We believe that our ability to provide quality repément automotive products, rapid and reliableeigl capabilities as well as promotional support
distinguishes us from many of our competitors amvides a competitive advantage. In addition, wieebie favorable price and extended payment
terms are also very important competitive factarsuistomers’ purchase decisions.

We seek to protect our proprietary processes dmet atformation by relying on trade secret laws aod-disclosure and confidentiality agreements
with certain of our employees and other persons mdwe access to that information.

Operations

Production ProcessOur remanufacturing process begins with the readiptsed Cores from our customers or core broKire.Used Cores are
evaluated for inventory control purposes and tteeted by part number. Each Used Core is complelisgssembled into its fundamental
components. The components are cleaned in a pri@ssmploys customized equipment and cleanin@niadg in accordance with the required
specifications of the particular component. All gmmnents known to be subject to major wear and thosgonents determined not to be reusable or
repairable are replaced by new components. Noragabble components of the Used Core are sold &s. scr

After the cleaning process is complete, the salablgecomponents of the Used Core are inspecteteatetl as prescribed by our ISO TS 16949
approved quality control program, which is implensehthroughout the production process. ISO TS 16949 internationally recognized, world
class, automotive quality system. Upon passag# tests, which are monitored by designated qualitytrol personnel, all the component parts are
assembled in a work cell into a finished produtsplection and testing are conducted at multiplgestaf the remanufacturing process, and each
finished product is inspected and tested on equipiehesigned to simulate performance under operatinglitions. Finished products are either st
in our warehouse facility or packaged for immedgtigpment. To maximize remanufacturing efficieneg, store component parts ready for asser
in our warehousing facilities.

Our remanufacturing processes combine product ii@snilith similar configurations into dedicated fagtwork cells. This remanufacturing process,
known as “lean manufacturing,” replaced the maaeditional assembly line approach we had previouslized and eliminated a large number of
inventory moves and the need to track inventory eneent through the remanufacturing process. Thisheanufacturing process has been fully
implemented at all of our production facilitieshi¥ lean manufacturing approach enables us tofiignily reduce the time it takes to produce a
finished product. We continue to explore opportiesifor improving efficiencies in our remanufactgriprocess.
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Offshore Remanufacturing. The majority of our remanufacturing operationsrawes conducted at our facilities in Mexico and Maliay For our
rotating electrical products, we continue to mamfaoduction of certain remanufactured units tieguire specialized service and/or rapid turnar
in our U.S. facilities. We also operate technicaaiters within our U.S. facilities which provide eetification of finished goods returns, rework
including testing, kitting and packaging, and samall scale production. In addition, we operathipmng and receiving warehouse and testing
facility in Singapore for our rotating electricabplucts.

Used CoresThe majority of our Used Cores are obtained frostamers using our core exchange program. The soteage program consists of
the following steps:

e Our customers purchase from us a remanufacturédouné sold to their consume
» Our customers offer their consumers a credit ttharge their used unit (Used Core) at the time dimsemer purchases a remanufactured
* We, in turn, offer our customers a credit to seadhese Used Cores. The credit reduces our accaogivable

Our customers are not obligated to send us alUdexl Cores exchanged by their consumers. We hata@ibally purchased Used Cores in the open
market from core brokers who specialize in buyind selling Used Cores. Although the open markabtsa primary source of Used Cores, itis a
critical source for meeting our raw material dengriRemanufacturing consumes, on average, morettek/sed Core for each remanufactured unit
produced since not all Used Cores are reusableyi€lierates depend upon both the product and mestgpecifications.

The price of a finished product sold to our custmmie generally comprised of an amount for remactufing (“unit value”)and an amount separat
invoiced for the Remanufactured Core included enghoduct (“Remanufactured Core charge”). The Ref@gatured Core charge is equal to the
credit we offer to induce the customer to use awe @xchange program and send back the Used @ouss The ability to obtain Used Cores,
materials and components of the types and quantitéeneed is essential to our ability to meet deinan

Return Rights. Under our customer agreements and general indpisitice, our customers are allowed stock adjustsnghen their inventory of
certain product lines exceeds the inventory necg$eaupport sales to end-user consumers. Custonase various contractual rights for stock
adjustments which are typically in the range of 83%-of total consolidated units sold. In some insésn we allow a higher level of returns in
connection with a significant update order. In #iddi we allow customers to return goods to us their end-user consumers have returned to them.
We allow this general right of return regardlessvbEther the returned item is defective. We sedkrtio the aggregate of stock adjustment and other
customer returns, including general right of refgoness than 20% of unit sales. Stock adjustmegntns do not occur at any specific time durirg th
year.

As is standard in the industry, we only acceptrretdrom on-going customers. If a customer ceasggydusiness with us, we have no further
obligation to accept additional product returnsyfrthat customer. Similarly, we accept product metand grant appropriate credits from new
customers from the time the new customer relatipnishestablished. This obligation to accept resurom new customers does not result in
decreased liquidity or increased expenses sincenlyeaccept one returned product for each unit soitie new customer. In each case, the return
must be received by us in the original box of thi sold.

Supplier Relationships.We purchase new products from suppliers for regaimarily by Fenco in our undercar product lingreent. We have
entered into a long-term strategic relationshigiwitanxiang America Corporation (the “Supplier”) wéi@ it has the right to supply new automotive
parts and components required by Fenco from thartysuppliers, provided that the Supplier matadrdsetters pricing and other material terms of
third party suppliers for all parts of comparablglity that Fenco requires.

8
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Sales, Marketing and Distribution. We have one of the widest varieties of automotiapcts available to the market, and we marketdasttibute
our products throughout North America. Our proddictshe automotive retail chain market are prityasdld under our customers’ widely
recognized private labels. We have expanded oas dforts beyond automotive retail chains to idelwarehouse distribution centers serving
professional installers. We ship our products faumfacilities and fee warehouses located in Néurtterica.

We publish, for print and electronic distributi@ncatalog with part numbers and applications forppaducts along with a detailed technical glossary
and informational database. We believe that we tagione of the most extensive catalog and prodiecttification systems available to the market.

Employees.We had 2,756 employees at March 31, 2013, compar8@d40 employees at March 31, 2012. Of theseefi¥Floyees were located in
the U.S., 56 in Canada, 1,998 in Mexico, and 24%uatSingapore and Malaysian facilities, at Mardéh 2013. Approximately 298 of these employ
were administrative personnel, of which 24 wereagregl in sales. A union represents approximat&§llemployees at our Mexico facilities. All
other employees are non-union. We consider outiselawith our employees to be satisfactory.

As of June 10, 2013, Fenco filed a voluntary patitior relief under Chapter 7 tifie Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy Courtli@ District o
Delaware and terminated employment of its 904 eygds.

Governmental Regulation

Our operations are subject to federal, state acal laws and regulations governing, among otheigshiemissions to air, discharge to waters, and the
generation, handling, storage, transportationfrireat and disposal of waste and other materialsb®lleve that our businesses, operations and
facilities have been and are being operated in tiange in all material respects with applicableiemvmental and health and safety laws and
regulations, many of which provide for substarfiias and criminal sanctions for violations. Poighyt significant expenditures, however, could be
required in order to comply with evolving environmt& and health and safety laws, regulations anirements that may be adopted or imposed in
the future.
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

While we believe the risk factors described belosvadl the material risks currently facing our business, additional risks are not presently aware
of orthat we currently believe are immaterial mayoaispair our businessoperations. Our financial condition or results gferations could be
materially and adversely impacted by these risks, the trading price of ourcommon stock could be adversely impacted by athesé risks. In
assessingthese risks, you should also refer to the othearmftion included in orincorporated by reference into this Form 10-K, irdihg our
consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto agpg elsewhere orincorporated by reference in this Form 10-K.

We rely on a few major customers for a significant majority of our business, and theloss of any of these customers, significant changesin the
prices, marketing allowances or other important terms provided to any of our major customers or adverse developments with respect to the
financial condition of any of our major customers would reduce our net income and operating results.

Our consolidated net sales are concentrated amengt number of large customers. During fiscal2Ghles to our three largest customers
constituted approximately 72% of our consolidatetisales, and sales to our largest customer astestispproximately 41% of our consolidated net
sales. We are under ongoing pressure from our magiomers to offer lower prices, extended payrtemts, increased marketing allowances and
other terms more favorable to these customers beaawr sales to these customers are concentratbth@market in which we operate is very
competitive. These customer demands have put e@tipressure on our operating margins and praftglriesulted in periodic contract
renegotiation to provide more favorable prices tmohs to these customers and significantly incrase working capital needs. In addition, this
customer concentration leaves us vulnerable tcadngrse change in the financial condition of angwfmajor customers. The loss or significant
decline of sales to any of our major customerscaadiersely affect our business, results of oparatand financial condition.

The bankruptcy processrelating to Fenco may disrupt our relationships with customers, which could harm our business.

We have attempted to minimize the adverse effette@bankruptcy of Fenco on our relationships with customers, some of whom are also
customers of Fenco. Nonetheless, the full extemtttich the bankruptcy process relating to Fendbimpact our relationships with our customers
may not be known for some time. Our relationshifil our customers may be adversely impacted, am@perations could be materially and
adversely affected.

We may be required to issue shares of our common stock or pay cash pursuant to the terms of our guarantee of obligationsto a supplier of Fenco,
which could result in dilution or reduce our liquidity.

In August 2012, we entered into an agreement withpplier of Fenco that provided credit up to $22,000 related to the purchase of automotive
parts and components by Fenco. After July 1, 28felsupplier has the right to exercise an optioaien which the supplier may settle up to
$8,000,000 of Fenco’s obligations in exchange uatoption, for (i) shares of our common stock vdlaé $7.75 per share, subject to certain
adjustments, or (ii) cash in an amount equal t&/d 85 the amount of the outstanding obligationse Sbpplier also has the right to sell accrued
interest to us for shares of our common stockpaice, subject to certain adjustments, that iddlaer of (i) $7.75 per share and (ii) 105% of the
market value of our common stock, which market gatudefined in the terms of the guarantee. Aesalt of these obligations, we could be liable
up to $22,000,000 of cash and issue an aggreg&@@4,600 shares of common stock. This liabdiyld reduce our liquidity if we do not refinar
it, and could also be dilutive to shareholdersiiftsshares are issued. The principal amount isidder the Fenco credit agreement but payment is
subordinated to the Parent Company Financing Agee¢ifas defined herein) .
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Our offshore remanufacturing and logistic activities expose usto increased political and economic risks and place a greater burden on
management to achieve quality standards.

Our overseas operations, especially our operatiohtexico, increase our exposure to political, éried or economic instability in the host countries
and to currency fluctuations. Risks are inheremnmiarnational operations, including:

. exchange controls and currency restrictic

. currency fluctuations and devaluatio

. changes in local economic conditio

. repatriation restrictions (including the impositionincrease of withholding and other taxes on tiemces and other payments by fore
subsidiaries)

. global sovereign uncertainty and hyperinflatiorcé@ntain foreign countrie:

. laws and regulations relating to export and impestrictions;

. exposure to government actions; ¢

. exposure to local political or social unrest inéhgdresultant acts of war, terrorism or similar ietee

These and other factors may have a material adeéieset on our offshore activities and on our bass) results of operations and financial condition.

Our overall success as a business depends,tjrupan our ability to manage our foreign operagioiWe may not continue to succeed in developing
and implementing policies and strategies that Heetve in each location where we do business,faildre to do so could adversely affect our
business, results of operations and financial dmrdi

Interruptions or delaysin obtaining component parts could impair our business and adversely affect our operating results.

In our remanufacturing processes, we obtain Used<;primarily through the core exchange prograth wiir customers, and component parts from
third-party manufacturers. Historically, the Usear€s returned from customers together with purchfisen core brokers have provided us with an
adequate supply of Used Cores. If there was afiignt disruption in the supply of Used Cores, wieetas a result of increased Used Core
acquisitions by existing or new competitors or otfise, our operating activities would be materiatyd adversely impacted. In addition, a numb
the other components used in the remanufacturiogess are available from a very limited numbernpidiers. We are, as a result, vulnerable to any
disruption in component supply, and any meanindfsiduption in this supply would materially and acsedy impact our operating results.

Increases in the market prices of key component raw materials could negatively impact our profitability.

In light of the long-term, continuous pressure ogipg which we have experienced from our majorteoeers, we may not be able to recoup the
higher prices which raw materials, particularlyralnum and copper, may command in the marketplaceb®lieve the impact of higher raw material
prices, which is outside our control, is mitigatedsome extent because we recover a substantiédmpof our raw materials from Used Cores
returned to us by our customers through the cochange program. However, we are unable to deterwiirae adverse impact, if any, sustained raw
material price increases may have on our profitsbil

Substantial and potentially increasing competition could reduce our market share and significantly harm our financial performance.

While we believe we are well-positioned in the aftarket for remanufactured products, this markeery competitive. In addition, other overseas
manufacturers, particularly those located in Chara,increasing their operations and could becosigraficant competitive force in the future. We
may not be successful competing against other coiepasome of which are larger than us and havetgrénancial and other resources at their
disposal. Increased competition could put addilipn@ssure on us to reduce prices or take otherectvhich may have an adverse effect on our
operating results.
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Our financial results are affected by automotive partsfailure ratesthat are outside our control.

Our operating results are affected by automotivésgailure rates. These failure rates are impabted number of factors outside our control,
including product designs that have resulted irmgnereliability, consumers driving fewer milesaagesult of both high gasoline prices and the
slowdown in the U.S. economy, and the average fgeticles on the road. A reduction in the failuages of automotive parts would adversely al
our sales and profitability.

Our operating results may continue to fluctuate significantly.

We have experienced significant variations in aurual and quarterly results of operations. Thasgdhtions have resulted from many factors,
including shifts in the demand and pricing for puoducts and general economic conditions, includimagnges in prevailing interest rates. Our gross
profit percentage fluctuates due to numerous facsmme of which are outside our control. Theswfadnclude the timing and level of marketing
allowances provided to our customers, differenegwéen the level of projected sales to a particuigtomer and the actual sales during the relevant
period, pricing strategies, the mix of productsistliring a reporting period, fluctuations in thedkeof Used Core returns during the period, and
general market and competitive conditions.

Our lenders may not waive future defaults under our credit agreements.

Over the past several years, we have violated d@auof the financial and other covenants containexlir credit agreements. To this point, our
lenders have been willing to waive these covenafdudts and to do so without imposing any signiftceost or penalty on us. If we fail to meet the
financial covenants or the other obligations sethfi our credit agreements in the future, thered assurance that our lenders will waive any such
defaults.

Our level of indebtedness and the terms of our indebtedness could adversely affect our business and liquidity position.

Our indebtedness may increase substantially frora to time for various reasons, including fluctaasi in operating results, marketing allowances
provided to customers, capital expenditures andiplesacquisitions. Our indebtedness could matgridfect our business because (i) a portion of
our cash flow must be used to service debt rattar finance our operations, (ii) it may eventuaitypair our ability to obtain financing in the fuwyr
and (iii) it may reduce our flexibility to respomal changes in business and economic conditiorskerddvantage of business opportunities that may
arise.

Our stock price may be volatile and could decline substantially.

Our stock price may decline substantially as alte$uhe volatile nature of the stock market ariden factors beyond our control. The stock market
has, from time to time, experienced extreme priz&\elume fluctuations. Many factors may causentiageket price for our common stock to decline,
including (i) our operating results failing to meké expectations of securities analysts or investoany quarter, (ii) downward revisions in
securities analysts’ estimates, (iii) market petiogls concerning our future earnings prospect$,pidlic or private sales of a substantial number o
shares of our common stock, and (v) adverse changgneral market conditions or economic trends. €ock price has ranged from $3.96 to
$15.86 per share since the acquisition of Fencelayn 6, 2011.
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Unfavorable currency exchange rate fluctuations could adversely affect us.

We are exposed to market risk from material movemenforeign exchange rates between the U.S. dafid the currencies of the foreign countries
in which we operate. As a result of our extensiperations in Mexico, our primary risk relates t@aabes in the rates between the U.S. dollar and the
Mexican peso. To mitigate this currency risk, weeeinto forward foreign exchange contracts to exaje U.S. dollars for Mexican pesos. We also
enter into forward foreign exchange contracts ttharnge U.S. dollars for Chinese yuan in order tigate risk related to our purchases and payr

to our Chinese vendors. The extent to which wefarseard foreign exchange contracts is periodicedlyiewed in light of our estimate of market
conditions and the terms and length of anticipateglirements. The use of derivative financial istents allows us to reduce our exposure to the
risk that the eventual net cash outflow resultirayf funding the expenses of the foreign operatwiide materially affected by changes in the
exchange rates. We do not engage in currency sg&mrubr hold or issue financial instruments fading purposes. These contracts expire in a year
or less. Any change in the fair value of foreigelgange contracts is accounted for as an increadecoease to general and administrative expen
current period earnings.

We may continue to make strategic acquisitions of other companies or businesses and these acquisitionsintroduce significant risks and
uncertainties, including risksrelated to integrating the acquired businesses and achieving benefits from the acquisitions.

In order to position ourselves to take advantaggrofith opportunities, we have made, and may caoatip make, strategic acquisitions that involve
significant risks and uncertainties. These risk$ amcertainties include: (i) the difficulty in irgeating newlyacquired businesses and operations i
efficient and effective manner, (ii) the challengeachieving strategic objectives, cost saving$ @ther benefits from acquisitions, (iii) the pdiah
loss of key employees of the acquired businessdghé risk of diverting the attention of senioamagement from our operations, (v) risks assoc
with integrating financial reporting and internaintrol systems, (vi) difficulties in expanding imfieation technology systems and other business
processes to accommodate the acquired businesse@ia future impairments of goodwill of an acqed business.

Continuing weakness in conditionsin the global credit markets and macroeconomic factors could adversely affect our financial condition and
results of operations.

The ongoing weakness in the financial conditiofirdncial institutions has resulted in significaoinstraints on liquidity and availability in global
credit markets and more stringent borrowing temdi@dest economic growth in most major industrial iies in the world and uncertain prospects
for continued growth threaten to cause furthertiging of the credit markets, more stringent legditandards and terms, and higher volatility in
interest rates. The persistence of these conditionkl have a material adverse effect on our bdrrgsvand the availability, terms and cost of such
borrowings. In addition, deterioration in the UeBonomy could adversely affect our corporate resulhich could adversely affect our operating
results.

Our reliance on foreign suppliersfor certain automotive parts poses various risks .

A significant portion of certain automotive parte amported from suppliers located outside the Urluding various countries in Asia. As a result,
we are subject to various risks of doing businedsrieign markets and importing products from abrcach as:

° significant delays in the delivery of cargo dugtwt security consideration

imposition of duties, taxes, tariffs or other ctesgn imports

imposition of new legislation relating to imporatas or other restrictions that may limit the ditgrof our product that may be
imported into the U.S. from countries or regionsevehwe do busines

° financial or political instability in any of the oatries in which our product is manufactur

° potential recalls or cancellations of orders foy aroduct that does not meet our quality stand:

° disruption of imports by labor disputes and loaadibess practice:

° political or military conflict involving the U.Swhich could cause a delay in the transportatioousfproducts and an increase
transportation cost:

° heightened terrorism security concerns, which csulsiect imported goods to additional, more frequemore thoroug!
inspections, leading to delays in deliveries oraompdment of goods for extended peric

° natural disasters, disease epidemics and headttedetoncerns, which could result in closed faegmnieduced workforces, scarcity
of raw materials and scrutiny or embargoing of gopbduced in infected are:

° inability of our nor-U.S. suppliers to obtain adequate credit or adigsslity to finance their operations; al

° our ability to enforce any agreements with our iigmesuppliers
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Any of the foregoing factors, or a combinationtodin, could increase the cost or reduce the suggyoducts available to us and adversely affect
our business, financial condition, results of ofiers or liquidity.

In addition, because we depend on independent phairiies to manufacture a significant portion atai@ automotive products, we cannot be certain
that we will not experience operational difficutizith such manufacturers, such as reductionsarattailability of production capacity, errors in
complying with merchandise specifications, insuéit quality controls and failure to meet produstieadlines or increases in manufacturing costs.

We have identified a material weaknessin our internal control over financial reporting resulting from our acquisition of Fenco and cannot assure
that additional material weaknesses will not be identified in the future. Our failure to implement and maintain effective internal control over
financial reporting could result in material misstatementsin our financial statements which could require usto restate financial statements, cause
investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information and have a negative effective on our stock price.

Management has identified a material weaknessiiineernal control over financial reporting at Feritbat affected our financial statements for the
first two quarters of fiscal 2013. This materialakaess in our internal control over financial repgy was related to the following factors: the
inadequacy of systems required to segregate amtiacfor certain transactions accurately; the feilof financial policies and procedures at Fenco to
provide for effective oversight and review of tleeonciliation of accounts at month or quarter eads, the inadequacy of the overall accounting

set at Fenco for diligent and consistent perforraasfkey accounting controls. These factors reduitd=enco’s inability to complete the financial
closing process on a timely and accurate basig wesult of our failure to meet our periodéporting obligations in a timely manner, we hatcereed
notices from the National Association of SecurifiEsalers Automated Quotation ("NASDAQ”) regarding ¢ailure to maintain the listing standards
for our common stock. We were in full compliancehathe NASDAQ listing standards in connection vitik filing of the quarterly report on Form
10-Q with the SEC for the second quarter of fiH3 in December 2012.

We cannot assure that additional significant deficies or material weaknesses in our internal obatrer financial reporting will not be identified
the future. Any failure to maintain or implemengjué&red new or improved controls, or any difficuitie encounter in their implementation, could
result in additional significant deficiencies or teréal weaknesses, cause us to fail to meet ouwgierreporting obligations (which may result inrou
failure to maintain the listing standards for oantnon stock) or result in material misstatemenwunfinancial statements. Any such failure could
also adversely affect the results of periodic manzent evaluations and annual auditor attestatjporte regarding the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting required under 8et404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 andrties promulgated under Section 404. The
existence of a material weakness could resultriorgin our financial statements that could resuét restatement of financial statements, cause us
fail to meet our reporting obligations (which magult in our failure to maintain the listing staratafor our common stock) and cause investors to
lose confidence in our reported financial inforroatileading to a decline in our stock price.

I mpairment of chargesrelating to goodwill and long-lived assets may have a material adverse effect on our earnings and results of operations.

We regularly monitor our goodwill and long-livedsass for impairment indicators. In conducting oaodwill impairment testing, we compare the

fair value of each our business segments to tlaecthet book value. In conducting our impairmeatigsis of long-lived assets, we compare the
undiscounted cash flows expected to be generatedtfie long-lived assets to the related net bodlkega Changes in economic or operating
conditions impacting our estimates and assumptiongd result in the impairment of our goodwill ong-lived assets. In the event that we determine
our goodwill or longhived assets are impaired, we may be requireddordea significant charge to earnings in our finahstatements that could hz

a material adverse effect on our results of opematiWe may also incur charges in connection vighsiale of assets or operations, or revaluations of
assets as we change our operations.
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As of March 31, 2013, we identified the followingpairment indicators in our undercar product liagreent: (i) continued losses from Fenco
operations, (ii) lower forecasted future reven(i@$ negative working capital position, (iv) addibal financing needs, and (v) the anticipatechdjli

for bankruptcy. As a result of the annual goodimilpairment analysis and intangible asset impairmaeatysis performed during the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2013, we concluded that goodwill and intégiassets for our undercar product line segmenre Wudly impaired, therefore, we recorded a non-
cash goodwill and intangible asset impairment chafg$68,356,000 and $16,330,000 during fiscal 2848pectively.

Anincreasein the cost or a disruption in the flow of our imported products may significantly decrease our sales and profits.

Merchandise manufactured overseas represents afgan total product purchases. A disruption ia #hipping or cost of such merchandise may
significantly decrease our sales and profits. lditéah, if imported merchandise becomes more expersr unavailable, the transition to alternative
sources may not occur in time to meet our demavidschandise from alternative sources may also besser quality and more expensive than tl
we currently import. Risks associated with ouranetie on imported merchandise include disruptiortarshipping and importation or increase in the
costs of imported products. For example, commdsnisay be:

. raw material shortage

. work stoppages

. strikes and political unres

. problems with oceanic shipping, including shippawgtainer shortage

. increased customs inspections of import shipmentgher factors causing delays in shipme
. economic crises

. international disputes and wa

. loss of“most favored natic” trading status by the United States in relations particular foreign countn
. import duties

. import quotas and other trade sanctions; and

. increases in shipping rates.

Products manufactured overseas and imported isttJ18. and other countries are subject to impattictions and duties.

Our auditors have included an explanatory paragraph expressing substantial doubt as to the ability of the consolidated companies (as defined
herein) to continue as a going concern as of March 31, 2013 as a result of losses from its Fenco operations.

During May 2013, Fenco appointed a new board ofjreshdent directors, hired an independent chiefuesiring officer and all its previously
existing officers resigned from FAPL. As a resulttee loss of control of Fenco, we will likely dewplidate the financial statements of Fenco from
our consolidated financial statements during thet fuarter of fiscal 2014. On June 10, 2013, Fdited a voluntary petition for relief under Chapte
7 of the Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy €6or the District of Delaware. As of March 31,1&) Fenco’s financial statements are included
in the consolidated financial statements of the @amy. Our consolidated financial statements arpgyesl assuming we will continue as a going
concern. The financial statements do not includeaajustments to reflect future adverse effecttherrecoverability and classification of assets or
amounts and classification of liabilities that nragult from the outcome of this uncertainty.
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As a result of these challenges with Fenco, managehas adjusted its focus. Going forward M®#dcus will not include Fenco but will continue

be on its rotating electrical business and evatgatiher opportunities. The outlook for rotatingattical continues to be strong with over 240 roili
vehicles on the road with an average age of ovetedds. Vehicles older than 7 years generally eégpee higher replacement rates for the alternators
and starters. As such these metrics indicate anioggrowth opportunity for rotating electrical. MR rotating electrical business has continued to
have strong liquidity which will be further enhadday the tax benefits associated with the writeedfthe Fenco investments.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

The following table sets forth the location, tyddaxility, square footage and ownership interastach of our facilities.

Approx. Leased Date of
Square or Lease
Location Type of Facility Feet Owned Expiration
Rotating Electrical
Torrance, CA Remanufacturing, Warehouse, Administrative, andc€ 231,00( Leasec March 2022
Tijuana, Mexico (1 Remanufacturing, Warehouse, and Of 311,00( Leasec April 2015
Singapore & Malaysi. Remanufacturing, Warehouse, and Of 60,00( Leasec Various through November 20
Shanghai, Chin Warehouse and Offic 27,00( Leasec March 201€
Undercar Product Line
(2)
Lock Haven, PA (1 Warehouse and Distributic 320,00( Leasec November 201-
Lock Haven, P2 Technical Cente 50,00( Owned -
Monterrey, Mexico (1 Industrial and Office 183,00( Leasec July 2021
Toronto, Canad Office and Warehous 45,00( Leasec December 201

1) We have an option to extend the lease term foragditional 5-year periods.

2) During May 2013, Fenco appointed a new board ofeshdent directors, hired an independent chiefuesiring officer and all its previous
existing officers resigned from FAPL. As a resulttee loss of control of Fenco, we will likely dewplidate the financial statements of Fenco from
our consolidated financial statements during the fjuarter of fiscal 2014.

We believe the above mentioned facilities are sigffit to satisfy our foreseeable warehousing, petidn, distribution and administrative office sp
requirements for our current operations.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are subject to various legal proceedings arisirige normal course of conducting business. Mamamnt does not believe that the outcome of
these matters will have a material adverse impadtsdfinancial position or future results of op#oas.

During May 2013, Fenco appointed a new board ofpeshdent directors, hired an independent chiefuesiring officer and all its previously
existing officers resigned from FAPL. As a restlttee loss of control of Fenco, we will likely dewolidate the financial statements of Fenco from
our consolidated financial statements during thet fuarter of fiscal 2014. (See Notes 1 and 2B@Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.)

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Relaed Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Globak8eMarket under the trading symbol MPAA. The faling table sets forth the high and low
sale prices for our common stock during fiscal 2648 2012.

Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012
High Low High Low
1st Quarte $ 10.0C $ 404 $ 15.8¢ $ 12.9¢
2nd Quarte $ 5.1 $ 3.9¢ % 157 $ 8.12
3rd Quartel $ 6.858 $ 42z $ 104z $ 6.7C
4th Quarte $ 73C % 53C $ 10.1C % 6.3%

As of June 10, 2013, there were 14,460,979 shdresnomon stock outstanding held by 36 holders obreé. We have never declared or paid
dividends on our common stock. The declarationngfarospective dividends is at the discretion ef Board of Directors and will be dependent u
sufficient earnings, capital requirements and faiarposition, general economic conditions, state tequirements and other relevant factors.
Additionally, our agreement with our lenders pratsithe payment of dividends, except stock dividgnwdthout the lenders’ prior consent.

Share Repurchase Program

In March 2010, our Board of Directors authorizeshare repurchase program of up to $5,000,000 obetstanding common stock from time to time
in the open market and in private transactiongiaep deemed appropriate by management. The prodpasinot have an expiration date. Under this
program, we have repurchased and retired a to&if 847 shares at a total cost of approximate \9EE® up to the year ended March 31, 2013. Our
credit agreements currently prohibit such repurebas

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes our equity compensaplans as of March 31, 2013:

@) (b) (©)
Number of securities
Number of securities tc remaining available for
be issued upon Weighted-average future issuance under
exercise of outstanding exercise price of equity compensation plan
options, warrants and outstanding options (excluding securities
Plan Category rights warrants and rights  reflected in column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by securitiédens 1,970,08(1) $ 8.7 1,135,03'(2)
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechotglers N/A N/A N/A
Total 1,970,08  $ 8.7: 1,135,03

(1) Consists of options issued pursuant to our 1994l&mp Stock Option Plan, 1996 Employee Stock Opfitam, 1994 Nc-Employee Directo
Stock Option Plan, 2003 Lo-Term Incentive Plan, 2004 N-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, and 2010 ItigerAward Plan
(2) Consists of options available for issuance under20d0 Incentive Award Plan and 2004 I-Employee Director Stock Option Ple
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative retorholders of our common stock for the five yeardieg March 31, 2013 with the NASDAQ
Composite Index and the Zacks Retail and Wholesate Parts Index. The comparison assumes $100mwastied at the close of business on March
31, 2008 in our common stock and in each of thepaieon groups, and assumes reinvestment of digglen

Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return
Assumes Initial Investment of $100
March 2013

Comparisan of 5 Year Curmulative Total Retum
Assurmes initial Investmant of 3100
March 2013

25000

200.00

5000

000 -
2008 2000 2010 2011 22 203

—Matorcer Facts of Amenca inc —8—[ASOAD Compoite-Tolal Retums = Zachi Retsd and Wholesale Aulo Pats Indea
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected historical consolidated finl information for the periods indicated beloasheen derived from and should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial stateseand related notes thereto. The acquisitioreofb on May 6, 2011, has had a significant irr

on the comparability of results.

Income Statement Date

Net sales

Operating (loss) incom

Net (loss) incom

Basic net (loss) income per share

Diluted net (loss) income per she

Balance Sheet Dat:

Total asset

Working capital
Revolving loar

Term loan

Capital lease obligatior
Other long term liabilitie:
Shareholde’ equity

Fiscal Years Ended March 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
$ 406,266,00 $ 363,687,00 $ 161,285,00 $ 147,225,00 $ 134,866,00
(88,825,00) (27,487,00) 25,384,00 18,307,00 10,642,000
(91,511,00) (48,514,00) 12,220,00 9,646,00! 3,857,00!I
$ (6.39 $ (3.90 $ 1.01 $ 0.8 $ 0.32
$ (6.39 $ (3.90 $ 0.9¢ $ 08 $ 0.32

March 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
$ 367,074,00 $ 501,898,000 $ 191,865,00 $ 163,480,00 $ 159,588,00
(67,142,00) (2,188,000 1,395,00! 3,399,00!I (3,569,001
- 48,884,00 - - 21,600,00
84,010,00 85,000,00 7,500,001 9,500,00! -
398,00( 662,00( 834,00( 1,398,00! 3,022,001
70,573,00 124,228,00 9,984,001 7,056,00! 7,364,001

$ (3,514,000 $ 73,619,00 $ 117,177,00
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Rancial Condition and Results of Operations
Disclosure Regarding Private Securities LitigatiorReform Act of 1995

This report contains certain forward-looking stagets with respect to our future performance thatlive risks and uncertainties. Various factors
could cause actual results to differ materiallyrrthose projected in such statements. These facidtgle, but are not limited to: the bankruptcy of
Fenco, concentration of sales to certain custonclesjges in our relationship with any of our majestomers, the increasing customer pressure for
lower prices and more favorable payment and o#freng, the increasing demands on our working capitalsignificant strain on working capital
associated with large Remanufactured Core invergorghases from customers, our ability to obtaiashditional financing we may seek or requ
our ability to achieve positive cash flows from mg@ns, potential future changes in our previouspyorted results as a result of the identification
and correction of errors in our accounting polimeprocedures or the potential material weaknessesr internal controls over financial reporting,
lower revenues than anticipated from new and exjstontracts, our failure to meet the financialemants or the other obligations set forth in our
credit agreements and the lenders’ refusal to waiyesuch defaults, any meaningful difference betwgrojected production needs and ultimate
sales to our customers, increases in interest, ri@tasges in the financial condition of any of major customers, the impact of high gasoline prices
the potential for changes in consumer spendingsunmer preferences and general economic conditiecrgased competition in the automotive parts
industry, including increased competition from G¥ga and other offshore manufacturers, difficultplitaining Used Cores and component parts or
increases in the costs of those parts, politicahinal or economic instability in any of the fogei countries where we conduct operations, currency
exchange fluctuations, unforeseen increases iratipgrcosts, the strategic cooperation agreemedtpther factors discussed herein and in our other
filings with the SEC.

Management Overview

We are a leading manufacturer, remanufacturerdastdbutor of aftermarket automobile parts. We édnawvo reportable segments, rotating electrical
and undercar product line.

Within the rotating electrical segment, we manufeetand remanufacture alternators and starteisnfwort and domestic cars, light trucks, heavy
duty, agricultural and industrial applications.

Within the undercar product line segment, Fenccaranfactures and distributes new and remanufactiesting components including rack and
pinion, pumps and gears, brake calipers, masterdsys, and hub assembly and bearings for virtiallpassenger and truck vehicles.

The current population of vehicles in North Amerisapproximately 247 million and the average aghese vehicles is approximately 10 years.
believe the market for replacement parts is prilpariven by the age of vehicles and the milesemnivhile an aged vehicle population is favorable
today, miles driven continues to fluctuate primakibsed on fuel prices.

The aftermarket for automobile parts is divideaitwo markets. The first market is the DIY markehjch is generally serviced by the large retail
chain outlets. Consumers who purchase parts frenDil channel generally install parts into theihigles themselves. In most cases, this is a less
expensive alternative than having the repair paréat by a professional installer. The second maskisie professional installer market, commonly
known as the DIFM market. This market is servicgdHe traditional warehouse distributors, the deadtworks, and the commercial divisions of
retail chains. Generally, the consumer in this clediis a professional parts installer.

Our products are distributed to both the DIY an&RImarkets and are distributed predominantly thhmug North America. We sell our products to
the largest auto parts retail and traditional watesle chains and to major automobile manufactuoersdth their aftermarket programs and their OES
program. Demand and replacement rates for afteehagknanufactured automobile parts generally irseredth the age of vehicles and increases in
miles driven.
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Historically, the largest share of our business iwdke DIY market. While that is still the caseir®@IFM business is now a significant part of our
business. In difficult economic times, we belieeasumers are more likely to purchase lower cosacepment parts in both the DIY and DIFM
markets. We focus on supplying both these chamwiéiisthe most cost efficient replacement partstifier consumer to purchase.

Within the rotating electrical segment, the DIFMrket is an attractive opportunity for growth. We aiositioned to benefit from this market
opportunity in two ways: (1) our auto parts retaistomers are expanding their efforts to targeDteM market and (2) we sell our products under
private label and our own brand names directlyufgp§iers that focus on professional installersadidition, we sell our products to OE manufacturers
for distribution to the professional installer bdth warranty replacement and their general afteketechannels. We have been successful in growing
sales in our rotating electrical segment to thiskeia

Recent Developmer

Since our acquisition of Fenco on May 6, 2011, weehbeen implementing our undercar product lineargund plan and our top priority continued
to be improvement of the financial performance wf endercar product line business. The implemesradf our undercar product line turnaround
plan has taken longer and cost more than initefijcipated. Revenues generated by our undercduprtine segment have not been sufficient to
enable us to meet our operating expenses and dsieeimplement our undercar product line turnaropliach. Fenco has incurred net losses of
$135,260,000 and $62,814,000 for the years endedhvBd, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and has amadated deficit of approximately
$198,074,000 at March 31, 20F=nco continues to face capital and liquidity conseThe Parent Company Financing Agreement orimieed the
Company to invest up to an additional $20,000,80Benco, which it had done as of December 31, 2882f March 31, 2013, the Company had
invested in Fenco $4,946,000 of equity, $52,631@ffebt, $27,382,000 of accounts receivable imeation with our March 2011 consignment
arrangement to provide goods in order to maintaénservice levels for Fenco’s customers, and $]0D82of net inter-company balances. At March
31, 2013, the Company has established a spec#igekoff accrual for the debt, accounts receivabltinter-company balances. Fenco has been
unable to refinance its credit agreement or otadufitional sufficient capital to implement its taround plan. The report of our independent
registered public accounting firm on our finanatdtements for the year ended March 31, 2013 aontai explanatory paragraph raising substantial
doubt as to our ability to continue as a going esnc

During May 2013, Fenco appointed a new board ofpeshdent directors, hired an independent chiefuesiring officer and all its previously

existing officers resigned from FAPL. As a resulttee loss of control of Fenco, we will likely dewplidate the financial statements of Fenco from
our consolidated financial statements during thet fuarter of fiscal 2014. On June 10, 2013, edd¢PAPL, Introcan and Introcan’s subsidiaries, Flo-
Pro Inc., LH Distribution Inc., Rafko Logistics Ind&Rafko Holdings Inc. and Rafko Enterprises Ifiked a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter
7 of the Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy €éar the District of Delaware. As of March 31,1%) Fenco’s financial statements are included
in the consolidated financial statements of the @amy. Our consolidated financial statements arpgyesl assuming we will continue as a going
concern. The financial statements do not includeaajustments to reflect future adverse effecttherrecoverability and classification of assets or
amounts and classification of liabilities that nragult from the outcome of this uncertainty.

As a result of these challenges with Fenco, managehas adjusted its focus. Going forward M®&#dcus will not include Fenco but will continue

be on its rotating electrical business and evatgatiher opportunities. The outlook for rotatingattical continues to be strong with over 240 rwilli
vehicles on the road with an average age of oveted@s. Vehicles older than 7 years generally éepee higher replacement rates for the alternators
and starters. As such these metrics indicate anioggrowth opportunity for rotating electrical. MR rotating electrical business has continued to
have strong liquidity which will be further enhaddey the tax benefits associated with the writeedfthe Fenco investments.
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Critical Accounting Policies

We prepare our consolidated financial statemené&dordance with generally accepted accountingiplies, or GAAP, in the United States. Our
significant accounting policies are discussed i@itibelow and in Note 2 in the Notes to ConsokdBFinancial Statements.

In preparing our consolidated financial statementsuse estimates and assumptions for matteratbanherently uncertain. We base our estimates
on historical experiences and reasonable assunspt@ur use of estimates and assumptions affeceff@ted amounts of assets, liabilities and the
amount and timing of revenues and expenses we menfpr and during the reporting period. Actuauks may differ from our estimates.

Our remanufacturing operations require that we medused Cores, a necessary raw material, frontaestomers and offer our customers marketing
and other allowances that impact revenue recognifibese elements of our business give rise toustitg issues that are more complex than many
businesses our size or larger. In addition, thevesit accounting standards and issues continueteee

Segment Reporting

Pursuant to the guidance provided under the FiahAcicounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accountingu®lards Codification (“ASC”), we have
two reportable segments, rotating electrical artktucar product line, based on the way we managéduyate and internally report our business
activities.

I nventory
Nor-core Inventory

Non-core inventory is comprised of non-core raw matsrithe non-core value of work in process anchtirecore value of finished goods. Used
Cores, the Used Core value of work in process hadRemanufactured Core portion of finished good<sclassified as long-term core inventory as
described below under the caption “Long-term Corehtory.”

Nor-core inventory is stated at the lower of cost arket. The cost of nooere inventory approximates average historical lpase prices paid, and
based upon the direct costs of material and agatitn of labor and variable and fixed overheadscdkhe cost of non-core inventory is evaluated at
least quarterly during the fiscal year and adjustedecessary to reflect current lower of cost arket levels. These adjustments are determined for
individual items of inventory within each of the¢le classifications of non-core inventory as fokkow

» Non-core raw materials are recorded at average cbéthvis based on the actual purchase price of raterals on hand. The average cost is
updated quarterly. This average cost is used ifntrentory costing process and is the basis facation of materials to finished goods during
the production proces

» Non-core work in process is in various stages of prido@nd is valued at the average cost of mateidalsed to the open work orde
Historically, nor-core work in process inventory has not been mateoiapared to the total n-core inventory balanc

» Finished goods cost includes the average costr-core raw materials and allocations of labor andatde and fixed overhead. T
allocations of labor and variable and fixed ovetheasts are determined based on the average astialf the production facilities over the
prior twelve months which approximates normal céga@his method prevents the distortion in allezhtabor and overhead costs that would
occur during short periods of abnormally low orthjgroduction. In addition, we exclude certain unedited overhead such as severance costs
duplicative facility overhead costs, and spoilagerf the calculation and expense these unallocatedhead as period costs. For the fiscal
years ended March 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, cbsafspooximately $1,561,000, $1,410,000, and $1(BJ®, respectively, were considel
unallocated overhead and thus excluded from thighiéal goods cost calculation and charged direstbost of sales for our rotating electrical
product line.
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We record an allowance for potentially excess argbkete inventory based upon recent sales higtoeyquantity of inventory ohand, and a forece

of potential use of the inventory. We periodicakyiew inventory to identify excess quantities gadt numbers that are experiencing a reduction in
demand. Any part numbers with quantities identifieding this process are reserved for at ratesdbasen management’s judgment, historical rates,
and consideration of possible scrap and liquidatalnes which may be as high as 100% of cost Ifquodation market exists for the part.

The quantity thresholds and reserve rates areiugeand are based on management’s judgment anwll&dge of current and projected industry
demand. The reserve estimates may, therefore visedeif there are changes in the overall markebits products or market changes that in
management’s judgment, impact our ability to seliquidate potentially excess or obsolete inveytor
We record vendor discounts as reductions of invé@gdhat are recognized as reductions to costleSsas the inventories are sold.
Inventory Unreturnet
Inventory unreturned represents our estimate, basdustorical data and prospective informationvided directly by the customer, of finished go
shipped to customers that we expect to be retutmekr our general right of return policy, aftez thalance sheet date. Because all cores are
classified separately as long-term assets, thentowe unreturned balance includes only the addédvatue of a finished good. The return rate is
calculated based on expected returns within thenaboperating cycle of one year. As such, the edlamounts are classified in current assets.
Inventory unreturned is valued in the same manseua finished goods inventory.
Long-term Core Inventory
Long-term core inventory consists of:

» Used Cores purchased from core brokers and héhémtory at our facilities

» Used Cores returned by our customers and held/aniory at our facilities

» Used Cores returned by e-users to customers but not yet returned to us wdnieltlassified as Remanufactured Cores until #éneyphysicall
received by us

» Remanufactured Cores held in finished goods invgrebour facilities; an

* Remanufactured Cores held at customer locatioaspast of the finished goods sold to the custoifRer.these Remanufactured Cores,
expect the finished good containing the RemanufadtCore to be returned under our general righe¢tfrn policy or a similar Used Core to
be returned to us by the customer, in each caserddit.

Long-term core inventory is recorded at averag®hisal purchase prices determined based on aptuahases of inventory on hand. The cost and
market value of Used Cores for which sufficienter@icpurchases have occurred are deemed the sghe@sgchase price for purchases that are |
in arm’s length transactions.

Long-term core inventory recorded at average hitdbpurchase prices is primarily made up of UsedeS for newer products related to more recent
automobile models or products for which there lissa liquid market. We must purchase these Useds<dfomm core brokers because our customers
do not have a sufficient supply of these newer USecks available for the core exchange program.
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Used Cores obtained in core broker transactionsateed based on average purchase price. The &vpuaghase price of Used Cores for more
recent automobile models is retained as the coshése Used Cores in subsequent periods ever astince of these Used Cores shifts to our core
exchange program.

Long-term core inventory is recorded at the lowlecast or market value. In the absence of sufficienent purchases, we use core broker price lists
to assess whether Used Core cost exceeds Usedn@dtet value on an item by item basis. The prinmaason for the insufficient recent purchas¢
that we obtain most of our Used Core inventory fithecustomer core exchange program.

We classify all of our core inventories as longrieassets. The determination of the long-term diaasion is based on our view that the value of the
cores is not consumed or realized in cash durimgiotmal operating cycle, which is one year for trafghe cores recorded in inventory. According
to guidance provided under the FASB ASC, curresétssare defined as “assets or resources comnueniified as those which are reasonably
expected to be realized in cash or sold or consuingdg the normal operating cycle of the busifiéa& do not believe that core inventories, which
we classify as long-term, are consumed becauseréiaés issued upon the return of Used Cores offfseamounts invoiced when the
Remanufactured Cores included in finished good&weld. We do not expect the core inventories todmsumed, and thus we do not expect to
realize cash, until our relationship with a custoereds, a possibility that we consider remote baseexisting long-term customer agreements and
historical experience.

However, historically for a portion of finished giosold, our customer will not send us a Used @oobtain the credit we offer under our core
exchange program. Therefore, based on our hist@stinate, we derecognize the core value for tfiaghed goods upon sale, as we believe they
have been consumed and we have realized cash.

We realize cash for only the core exchange prograontfall. This shortfall represents the historidiflerence between the number of finished goods
shipped to customers and the number of Used Cetesied to us by customers. We do not realize fraghe remaining portion of the cores bece
the credits issued upon the return of Used Corfsgtahe amounts invoiced when the Remanufactumrd<ncluded in finished goods were sold.
We do not expect to realize cash for the remaipioigion of these cores until our relationship watbustomer ends, a possibility that we consider
remote based on existing long-term customer agreesaad historical experience.

For these reasons, we concluded that it is moreoapgte to classify core inventory as long-terraegs.
Lonc-term Core Inventory Deposit

The longterm core inventory deposit account representsdhe of Remanufactured Cores we have purchasaddustomers, which are held by
customers and remain on the customers’ premisespiifchase is made through the issuance of cieghigst that customer’s receivables either on a
one time basis or over an agreed-upon period. Tédits against the customer’s receivable are baged the Remanufactured Core purchase price
previously established with the customer. At thmesdme, we record the lorigrm core inventory deposit for the Remanufact@edes purchased

its cost, determined as noted under Long-term @urentory. The longerm core inventory deposit is stated at the losferost or market. The cost
established at the time of the transaction basdti@then current cost, determined as noted undiegterm Core Inventory. The difference between
the credit granted and the cost of the long-terne @oventory deposit is treated as a sales allowa@ducing revenue. When the purchases are made
over an agreed-upon period, the long-term corentorg deposit is recorded at the same time thetdseidsued to the customer for the purchase of
the Remanufactured Cores.

At least annually, and as often as quarterly, reitiations and confirmations are performed to deiee that the number of Remanufactured Cores
purchased, but retained at the customer locatiensains sufficient to support the amounts recoiddte long-term core inventory deposit account.
At the same time, the mix of Remanufactured Caesviewed to determine that the aggregate vallReaianufactured Cores in the account has not
changed during the reporting period. We evaluagectist of Remanufactured Cores supporting the ggtgdongterm core inventory deposit acco
each quarter. If we identify any permanent redunctioeither the number or the aggregate valuemRémanufactured Core inventory mix held at
customer location, we will record a reduction ie thng-term core inventory deposit account durhrag period.
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Customer Core Returns Accrual

The estimated fair value of the customer core neliabilities assumed by us in connection with Bemco acquisition is included in customer core
returns accrual. We classify the portion of coability related to the core inventory purchased andhe shelves of our customers as long-term
liabilities. Upon the sale of a Remanufactured Careore liability is created to record the obligatto provide our customer with a credit upon the
return of a like core by the customer. Since thierreof a core is based on the sale of a remanufattautomobile part to an end user of our custs
the offset to this core liability generated byrigurn to us by our customer is usually followedly sale of a replacement remanufactured autp part
and thus a portion of the core liability is contitly outstanding and is recorded as long-term. &eunt we have classified as long-term is the
portion that management projects will remain outdiiag for an uninterrupted period extending one yesn the balance sheet date.

Revenue Recognition
We recognize revenue when our performance is cammed all of the following criteria have been met
» Persuasive evidence of an arrangement e;
» Delivery has occurred or services have been redd
* The selle’s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable,
» Collectability is reasonably assurt

For products shipped free-on-board (“FOB”) shippauint, revenue is recognized on the date of shijpnier products shipped FOB destination,
revenues are recognized on the estimated or attatelof delivery. We include shipping and handthgrges in the gross invoice price to customers
and classify the total amount as revenue. Shipaimghandling costs are recorded in cost of sales.

Revenue Recognition; Mof-Core-Value Basis

The price of a finished product sold to customsrgenerally comprised of separately invoiced anmsfortthe Remanufactured Core included in the
product (“Remanufactured Core value”) and the vaitie. The unit value is recorded as revenue bagexir then current price list, net of applicable
discounts and allowances. Based on our experienodractual arrangements with customers and invgmti@nagement practices, a significant
portion of the remanufactured automobile parts @lets customers are replaced by similar Used Csees back for credit by customers under our
core exchange program. In accordance with our kebi@-value revenue recognition policy, we do remognize the Remanufactured Core value as
revenue when the finished products are sold. Wergdly limit the number of Used Cores sent backeuride core exchange program to the number
of similar Remanufactured Cores previously shipjeeglach customer.
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Revenue Recognition and Defer— Core Revenue

Full price Remanufactured Coré§hen we ship a product, we invoice certain custesn@rthe Remanufactured Core value portion ofptteeluct at
full Remanufactured Core sales price but do natgeize revenue for the Remanufactured Core valtieaatime. For these Remanufactured Cores,
we recognize core revenue based upon an estimé#te adte at which our customers will pay cashiRemanufactured Cores in lieu of sending back
similar Used Cores for credits under our core erghgrogram.

Nominal price Remanufactured CorWe invoice other customers for the Remanufacturee: @alue portion of product shipped at a nominal
Remanufactured Core price. Unlike the full pricevR@ufactured Cores, we only recognize revenue frominal Remanufactured Cores not
expected to be replaced by a similar Used Corelserkt under the core exchange program when wevedlat we have met all of the following
criteria:

* We have a signed agreement with the customer cayére nominally priced Remanufactured Cores npeeted to be sent back under
core exchange program, and the agreement musfysgieeinumber of Remanufactured Cores our custawiepay cash for in lieu of sending
back a similar Used Core under our core exchanggram and the basis on which the nominally pricechBnufactured Cores are to be va
(normally the average price per Remanufactured €tipalated in the agreemer

* The contractual date for reconciling our records emstome’s records of the number of nominally priced Remactufred Cores not expect
to be replaced by similar Used Cores sent backrumatecore exchange program must be in the cumeatprior period

» The reconciliation must be completed and agredyy tine customel
* The amount must be billed to the custon

Deferral of Core RevenueéAs noted previously, we have in the past and malye future agree to buy back Remanufactured Civoen certain
customers. The difference between the credit gdaautel the cost of the Remanufactured Cores bowgitit is treated as a sales allowance reducing
revenue. As a result of the ongoing Remanufact@a®@ buybacks, we have now deferred core reveue thhese customers until there is no
expectation that sales allowances associated vethaRufactured Core buybacks from these customdrsfigiet core revenues that would otherwise
be recognized once the criteria noted above hase feet.

Revenue Recognition; General Right of Re

We allow our customers to return goods to us theit €nd-user customers have returned to themhehéte returned item is or is not defective
(warranty returns). In addition, under the termserftain agreements with our customers and indgs&gtice, our customers from time to time are
allowed stock adjustments when their inventoryestain product lines exceeds the anticipated $alead-user customers (stock adjustment returns)
We seek to limit the aggregate of customer retuntdyding warranty and stock adjustment returadess than 20% of unit sales. In some instances,
we allow a higher level of returns in connectiothna significant update order.

We provide for such anticipated returns of inventoy reducing revenue and the related cost of atetbe units estimated to be returned.

Our allowance for warranty returns is establishaseld on a historical analysis of the level of thjge of return as a percentage of total unit sales.
Stock adjustment returns do not occur at any sipdaifie during the year, and the expected levéhe$e returns cannot be reasonably estimated
based on a historical analysis. Our allowancetfmrksadjustment returns is based on specific custonventory levels, inventory movements and
information on the estimated timing of stock adjusht returns provided by our customers.
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Sales I ncentives

We provide various marketing allowances to our@w&lrs, including sales incentives and concesshasketing allowances related to a single
exchange of product are recorded as a reductioevehues at the time the related revenues arededar when such incentives are offered. Other
marketing allowances, which may only be appliedragjduture purchases, are recorded as a reduttisvenues in accordance with a schedule set
forth in the relevant contract. Sales incentive ants are recorded based on the value of the ineeptbvided.

Goodwill

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price dverfair value of identifiable net assets acquirebtisiness combinations. Goodwill is not amortized,
but rather is tested for impairment at least arlpwalmore frequently if there are indicators ofpairment present.

We perform the annual goodwill impairment analysithe fourth quarter of each fiscal year. We eatduvhether goodwill has been impaired at the
reporting unit level by first determining whethietestimated fair value of the reporting unit ssléhan its carrying value and, if so, by deterngni
whether the implied fair value of goodwill withihd reporting unit is less than the carrying vag of March 31, 2013, we identified the following
impairment indicators in our undercar product kegment: (i) continued losses from Fenco operati@insower forecasted future revenues, (iii)
negative working capital position, (iv) additiorfedancing needs, and (v) the anticipated filing hankruptcy.

We determined the fair value of the undercar protine reporting unit using a liquidation scenaf@r determining the fair value under the
liquidation scenario, we used total assets mintisiated liquidation expenses to arrive to the pedseavailable for senior secured creditors. Based
on the results of the goodwill impairment test, tbgorting unit’'s carrying value exceeded its failue, indicating an impairment of goodwill at
March 31, 2013. We determined that goodwill wasyfirhpaired as the implied fair value of goodwilithin the reporting unit was zero and recorded
a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $68,358 &9 disclosed in the consolidated statement afatipes. After recording the impairment
charge, the undercar product line segment had advgil remaining in the consolidated balance skedfiarch 31, 2013.

I ntangible Assets

Our intangible assets other than goodwill aredidived and amortized on a straight line basis tiveir respective useful lives, and are analyzed fo
impairment when and if indicators of impairmentsexAs of March 31, 2013, there were no indicatdrenpairment for our rotating electrical
product line. However, we noted impairment indicat@r our undercar product line segment as desdrdbove. Therefore, we performed an
impairment test of the undercar product line segtaémangible assets and concluded that such gildanassets were fully impaired as of March 31,
2013.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using the liability hoet, which measures deferred income taxes by apgpbmacted statutory rates in effect at the
balance sheet date to the differences betweemtheasis of assets and liabilities and their reqbamounts in the financial statements. The regplti
asset or liability is adjusted to reflect changethe tax laws as they occur. A valuation allowaisgerovided to reduce deferred tax assets whisn it
more likely than not that a portion of the defertaxl asset will not be realized.

The primary components of our income tax provigloenefit) are (i) the current liability or refundielfor federal, state and foreign income taxes and
(i) the change in the amount of the net deferrebime tax asset, including the effect of any changkee valuation allowance.
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Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent opoability to generate sufficient future taxaltleome. Management reviews the Company’s
deferred tax assets on a jurisdiction by jurisdittbasis to determine whether it is more likelynthat that the deferred tax assets will be realized

a result of Fenco’s cumulative losses in certaiisglictions, a determination was made to estalalishluation allowance against the related deferred
tax assets as it is not more likely than not thahsassets will be realized. For all other juriidits, management believes that it is more likejnt

not that future taxable income will be sufficieatrealize the recorded deferred tax assets. lnuatiag this ability, management considers long-term
agreements and Remanufactured Core purchase adtigatith our major customers that expire at vagidates through March 2019. Management
also periodically compares the forecasts to actsllts. Even though there can be no assurancéhthdrecasted results will be achieved, the hy

of income in all other jurisdictions provides saféint positive evidence that no valuation allowaisceeeded.

Financial Risk Management and Derivatives

We are exposed to market risk from material movemenforeign exchange rates between the U.S. dafid the currencies of the foreign countries
in which we operate. As a result of our significaperations in Mexico, our primary risk relatestanges in the rates between the U.S. dollar &
Mexican peso. To mitigate this currency risk, weeeimto forward foreign exchange contracts to exgje U.S. dollars for Mexican pesos. We also
enter into forward foreign exchange contracts ttharnge U.S. dollars for Chinese yuan in order tigate risk related to our purchases and payr

to our Chinese vendors. The extent to which wefuseard foreign exchange contracts is periodicedlyiewed in light of our estimate of market
conditions and the terms and length of anticipadeglirements. The use of derivative financial instents allows us to reduce our exposure to the
risk that the eventual net cash outflow resultiryf funding the expenses of the foreign operatwiide materially affected by changes in the
exchange rates. We do not engage in currency sggexubr hold or issue financial instruments fading purposes. These contracts generally expire
in a year or less. Any changes in the fair valuebodign exchange contracts are accounted for @scagase or decrease to general and administrative
expenses in current period earnings.

Share-based Payments

In accounting for share-based compensation awasel$pllow the accounting guidance for equity-basethpensation, which requires that we
measure the cost of employee services receivextim@ge for an award of equity instruments basetth@grant-date fair value of the award. The
cost associated with stock options is estimatenigutsie Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The adstquity instruments is recognized in the
consolidated statement of operations on a strdightbasis (net of estimated forfeitures) overpkeod during which an employee is required to
provide service in exchange for the award. Alseess tax benefits realized are reported as a fimgqoash inflow.

New Accounting Pronouncements
Comprehensive Income

In June 2011, the FASB issued guidance which regun entity to present the total of compreherisis@me, the components of net income, and the
components of other comprehensive income eitharsimgle continuous statement of comprehensivenecor in two separate but consecutive
statements. This guidance eliminates the optigréeent components of other comprehensive incoragast of the statement of equity. This
guidance should be applied, retrospectively, facdl years, and interim periods within those fisealrs, beginning after December 15, 2011. Other
than the change in presentation, we have deterntireechanges from the adoption of this guidancAmnil 1, 2012 did not have an impact on our
consolidated financial position and the resultsmérations.
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Testing Goodwill for Impairment

In September 2011, the FASB issued an amendmeghwgives an entity the option to first assess tptale factors to determine whether the
existence of events or circumstances leads toeardetation that it is more likely than not that fa@ value of a reporting unit is less than itsrging
amount. If an entity determines that it is not mideely than not that the fair value of a reportimgit is less than its carrying amount, then peniag
the two-step goodwill impairment test is unnecesdéian entity determines that it is more likehan not that the fair value of a reporting uniefss
than its carrying amount, then it is required tofqen the first step of the twstep goodwill impairment test. If the carrying v&lof the reporting un
exceeds its fair value, then the entity is requicegerform the second step of the goodwill impa&ntitest to measure the amount of the impairment
loss, if any. The amendments are effective for ahand interim goodwill impairment tests perfornfedfiscal years beginning after December 15,
2011. Early adoption is permitted if an entitfinancial statements for the most recent annuigterim period have not yet been issued. The tolo
of this guidance on April 1, 2012 did not have @&mpact on our consolidated financial position aesutts of operations.

Subsequent Events

During May 2013, Fenco appointed a new board ofpeshdent directors, hired an independent chiefuesiring officer and all its previously
existing officers resigned from FAPL. As a resulttee loss of control of Fenco, we will likely dewplidate the financial statements of Fenco from
our consolidated financial statements during thet fuarter of fiscal 2014. On June 10, 2013, Fdited a voluntary petition for relief under Chapte
7 of the Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy €éar the District of Delaware. As of March 31,1%) Fenco’s financial statements are included
in the consolidated financial statements of the Gamy. Our consolidated financial statements arpgyesl assuming we will continue as a going
concern. The financial statements do not includeaajustments to reflect future adverse effecttherrecoverability and classification of assets or
amounts and classification of liabilities that nragult from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis should bel ieeconjunction with the financial statements ates thereto appearing elsewhere herein. The
acquisition of Fenco on May 6, 2011 has had a Bigmt impact on the comparability of results ascdissed below. As a result of this acquisition, we
reassessed and revised our segment reportingeetrefio reportable segments, rotating electrical andercar product line, based on the way we
manage, evaluate and internally report our busiaetsgities.
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The following table summarizes certain key operatiata for the periods indicated:

Rotating Undercar

Fiscal Years Ended March 31 Electrical Product Line Consolidated
2013

Gross profit percentag 32.5% (7.0% 13.7%
Cash flow used in operatio $ (4,969,000 $ (26,092,00) $ (31,061,00)
Finished goods turnover ( 7.7 5.C 5.8
Return on equity (2 - - (119.9%
2012

Gross profit percentag 31.8% (16.0% 7.€%
Cash flow provided by (used in) operatic $ 15,464,00 $ (53,952,00) $ (38,488,00)
Finished goods turnover ( 6.5 3.7 4.4
Return on equity (2 - - (41.9%
2011

Gross profit percentag 31.9% - 31.%
Cash flow provided by operatio $ 10,735,000 $ - $ 10,735,00
Finished goods turnover ( 5.2 - 5.2
Return on equity (2 - - 11.&%

(1) Finished goods inventory turnover is calculatedltwding the cost of goods sold for the year by @lverage between beginning and endinc-
core finished goods inventory values, for eachafigear. We believe that this provides a usefulsueaof our ability to turn production into
revenues

(2) Return on equity is computed as net incomelferfiscal year divided by shareholders’ equityhatbeginning of the fiscal year and measures our
ability to invest shareholde’ funds profitably.

30




Table of Content

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012
Net Sales and Gross Profit

The following table summarizes net sales and goostt by segment for fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012:

Rotating Undercar

Fiscal Years Ended March 31 Electrical Product Line Eliminations  Consolidated
2013

Net sales to external custom: $ 213,151,00 $193,115,00 $ - $ 406,266,00
Cost of goods sol 143,810,00 206,728,00 - 350,538,00
Gross profit (loss 69,341,00 (13,613,00) - 55,728,00
Cost of goods sold as a percentage of net 67.5% 107.(% - 86.2%
Gross profit (loss) percenta 32.5% (7.0% - 13.7%
2012

Net sales $178,551,00 $ 185,136,00 $ - $363,687,00
Intersegment revenue, net of ¢ 1,853,001 - (1,853,001 -
Cost of goods sol 123,072,00 214,761,00 (1,853,001 335,980,00
Gross profit (loss 57,332,00 (29,625,00) - 27,707,00
Cost of goods sold as a percentage of net 68.2% 116.(% - 92.4%
Gross profit (loss) percenta 31.8% (16.0% - 7.€%

Net Sale:. Our consolidated net sales for fiscal 2013 ineedzby $42,579,000, or 11.7%, to $406,266,000 cosdpa consolidated net sales for
fiscal 2012 of $363,687,000.

« Rotating electrical product lin

The net sales in our rotating electrical produs lsegment increased by $34,600,000 or 19.4%,18,$21,000 for fiscal 2013 compared to net
sales of $178,551,000 for fiscal 2012. The incréaset sales in our rotating electrical produselsegment was the result of (i) new business
awarded by one of our major customers, (ii) centeiw customers acquired during fiscal 2013, andafierall increase in net sales to our other
existing customers.

« Undercar product line

The net sales in our undercar product line seginertased by $7,979,000 or 4.3%, to $193,115,0005cal 2013 compared to net sales of
$185,136,000 for fiscal 2012. This increase ingad¢s was due entirely to the recognition of apipnately $50,783,000 in revenue from the
reduction in Fenco’s obligation to provide a crddita major customer’s Remanufactured Cores. iflsi®ase was offset by (i) decreased sales
resulting from the transition out of a certain amsér relationship, (ii) vendor support allowancé$b 145,000, (iii) a $751,000 allowance Fenco
provided to one of its major customers, (iv) $668,th allowances granted to a major customer asd-gansitioned out of the relationship, and
(v) a $355,000 allowance to a customer in conneatiith a return of certain products.

We also posted an accrual for $4,244,000 to accatatedhe additional expense required based orgtleement with certain customers to
evaluate their inventory offerings and, in parthgrswith them, develop a new mix of products toofffered by these customers. In addition,
during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2013, Fenet sales were favorably impacted by $1,854,8@®nnection with our general right of ret
accruals due to the transition out of a certainasr relationship.

Fill rate penalties during fiscal 2013 and 2012ev$t,671,000 and $4,795,000, respectively. The731060 fill rate penalty expense, however,
was the result of actual fill rate fines of $3,Z4®) offset by the reduction of $1,541,000 in theraed fill rate fines related primarily to a major
customer with whom Fenco discontinued its relatigmsluring the quarter ending December 31, 2012.
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Cost of Goods Sold/Gross Profdur consolidated cost of goods sold as a percemtagensolidated net sales decreased during f5eEB to 86.3%
from 92.4% for fiscal 2012, resulting in a corres@ing increase in our consolidated gross profitpetage of 6.1% to 13.7% for fiscal 2013 from
7.6% for fiscal 2012.

Rotating electrical product lin

The gross profit percentage in our rotating eleatrproduct line during fiscal 2013 increased tb3%2 from 31.8% during fiscal 2012. This
increase in gross profit percentage in our rotagilegtrical product line for fiscal 2013 is a rexfllower per unit manufacturing costs,
partially offset by $1,665,000 of marketing andtaer other allowances made in connection with tlkelpase of inventory from a new
customer we acquired in the first quarter of fis2@l13.

Undercar product line

The gross profit percentage in our undercar proliluetwas negative 7.0% and negative 16.0% foafi2013 and 2012, respectively. Our
gross profit for fiscal 2013 was positively impattey the recognition of $19,134,000 gross proféted to the recognition of revenue and
costs of goods sold from the reduction of Fencbligation to provide a credit for a major custorséRemanufactured Cores. This increase
in our gross profit was partly offset by signifitamderabsorption of manufacturing, warehousing and distion costs resulting from low
production levels due to the loss of a major custoim the third quarter of fiscal 2013.

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013, we hkd additional cost of goods sold of $2,285,@08ted to the agreement with certain
customers to evaluate their inventory offerings,amgbartnership with them, develop a new mix afdurcts to be offered by these custon

In addition, our gross profit in our undercar protdiine during fiscal 2013 was further impacted(hy$13,208,000 of increased provision
inventory reserves, (ii) losses of $7,115,000 eeldb certain unprofitable product lines Fenco géapselling and supporting, (iii)
termination fees of $1,402,000 related to an agesgito terminate services with one of Fenco’s tpadty logistics service providers, (iv)
severance costs related to Fenco’s production wozkfof $1,272,000, and (v) premium freight cos$367,000.
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Operating Expenses

The following table summarizes operating expengeselgment for the fiscal 2013 and 2012:

Rotating Undercar
Fiscal Years Ended March 31 Electrical Product Line Eliminations  Consolidated
2013
General and administratiy $ 107,602,00 $ 18,719,00 $ (81,795,00) $ 44,526,00
Sales and marketir 7,290,00! 5,423,001 - 12,713,000
Research and developm 1,930,00! 698,00( - 2,628,00!
Impairment of goodwill and intangible ass - 84,686,00 - 84,686,00
Percent of net sale:
General and administrati 50.5% 9.7% - 11.(%
Sales and marketir 3.4% 2.8% - 3.1%
Research and developm 0.€% 0.4% - 0.€%
Impairment of goodwill and intangible ass -% 43.% - 20.8%
2012
General and administratiy $ 20,621,000 $ 18,260,000 $ - $ 38,881,000
Sales and marketir 7,659,00! 5,145,00! - 12,804,00
Research and developm 1,765,00 - - 1,765,00!
Impairment of plant and equipme - 1,031,001 - 1,031,00!
Acquisition costs 713,00( - - 713,00(
Percent of net sale:
General and administrati 11.5% 9.¢% - 10.7%
Sales and marketir 4.2% 2.8% - 3.5%
Research and developm 1.C% - - 0.5%
Impairment of plant and equipme - 0.€% - 0.2%
Acquisition costs 0.4% - - 0.2%

General and Administrativ®ur consolidated general and administrative expefsdiscal 2013 were $44,526,000, which represantincrease of
$5,645,000, or 14.5%, from general and administeatixpenses for fiscal 2012 of $38,881,000.

« Rotating electrical product lin

Our general and administrative expenses for raatlactrical product line segment increased frof,&21,000 in fiscal 2012 to
$107,602,000 in fiscal 2013, which represents aremse of $86,981,000. This increase in our geaechdministrative expenses was due
primarily to (i) the establishment of a $52,631,@p@cific charge-off accrual for the long-term naeeivable and accrued interest due from
Fenco, (ii) the establishment of a $27,382,000ifpexharge-off accrual for the receivable due frBenco in connection with our March
2011 consignment agreement to provide goods irrdod@aintain the service levels for Fenco’s cugtmn(iii) the establishment of a
$1,782,000 specific charge-off accrual for theingr-company receivable due from Fenco, and 88000 in professional fees incurred
in connection with the restructuring of Fenco. @ror year general and administrative expensesidted $1,292,000 of professional
services and travel incurred in connection with Beinco operations.

In addition, our fiscal 2013 general and admintsteaexpenses increased due to (a) $1,031,00C¢fased share-based compensation
expense, (b) $822,000 of increased legal fee$§£$,000 for liquidated damages paid in conneatiith our April 2012 private placement,
(d) $658,000 of increased general and adminisgakpenses at our offshore locations, (e) $65000@@crual established related to the
termination of our consulting agreement with Melrkiga (f) $514,000 of increased salaries and wa@g$481,000 of increased consulting
expenses primarily related to the requirementseati6n 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, @§%000 recorded due to the change in
the fair value of the warrants during fiscal 20(8$369,000 of increased expenses for work reledezbmpliance with Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, (j) $332,000 of incesgipaid to certain executives, and (k) $215,008ctased expenses in connection with
our income tax planning work. During fiscal 2013 also recorded a gain of $804,000 due to the ehamtie value of the forward foreign
currency exchange contracts subsequent to entetimghe contracts compared to a loss of $476,800rded during fiscal 2012.

33




Table of Content

« Undercar product line

Our general and administrative expenses for undgroauct line segment increased from $18,260,a803¢cal 2012 to $18,719,000 in fis
2013, which represents an increase of $459,008. ibrease of $459,000 in general and administaipenses was primarily attributable
to (i) $1,812,000 of increased professional ses/fees and other consulting fees, (ii) $1,429,008kewerance incurred in connection with
the reduction in workforce in the second quartdisaial 2013 at Fenco'’s office located in Canadal @i) $546,000 of increased bad debt
expense. These increases in general and admiivisteadpenses were partly offset by lower employstated expenses and general office
expenses due to the reduction in workforce at Feraftice located in Canada.

During fiscal 2013, we changed a certain inter-segnallocation as described below.

During the third quarter of fiscal 2013, our getharad administrative expenses for our rotatingteilead segment were negatively impacted by
$982,000 of expenses incurred in connection wighuthdercar product line segment’s initial implena¢ion work related to the Company’s
compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxletyoh 2002. These expenses were previously reddsgl@ur undercar product line segment.
This inter-segment allocation did not have anyanotn our consolidated general and administratiyeenses for fiscal 2013.

Sales and MarketingOur consolidated sales and marketing expensdsfal 2013 decreased $91,000, or 0.7%, to $120003from $12,804,000
for fiscal 2012. The decrease of $369,000 fromrotating electrical product line was due primatdy(i) $238,000 of decreased travel and
professional services incurred in connection with Benco operations and (ii) $114,000 of decreaseployee-related expenses.

Sales and marketing expenses for our undercar préide increased $278,000 due primarily to $74@,60severance due to the reduction in
workforce, partly offset by $454,000 of decreasalés commissions and agent fees.

Research and Developme. Our consolidated research and development expéns@ased by $863,000, or 48.9%, to $2,628,00fistal 2013
from $1,765,000 for fiscal 2012. The increase @%000 in research and development expenses fromotaiing electrical product line was due
primarily to increased employee-related expenséisdal 2013.

Research and development expenses for our undmamuict line segment increased $698,000 due piyrtar{i) $604,000 of increased employee-
related expense and (ii) $54,000 of increased ltrave

Impairment of goodwill and intangible asseDuring fiscal 2013, our undercar product line segmecorded a nonash goodwill and intangible as
impairment charge of $68,356,000 and $16,330,@3pactively. After recording the impairment charge,had no goodwill or intangible assets
attributable to our undercar product line segmentaining on our consolidated balance sheet at Mait¢cR2013.

Impairment of Plant and Equipme. During fiscal 2012, Fenco discontinued the C\egxloduct line and shut down the related facibiyatted in
Bedford, New Hampshire. As a result Fenco recoeteinpairment loss of approximately $1,031,000,clvhiepresents the write-off of the carrying
amount of plant and equipment.

Acquisition Cost. During fiscal 2012, we incurred $713,000 of legatl professional fees in connection with the aitjan of Fenco.
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I nterest Expense

Interest ExpenstOur interest expense reflects our increased leeesiad result of the acquisition of Fenco andribeeiase in the size of our busin
and net consolidated interest expense for fiscaB20creased $10,151,000, or 71.2%, to $24,4065@00 $14,255,000 for fiscal 2012. This increase
in net interest expense was attributable to (i)dased outstanding loan balances and higher ihtates incurred primarily by the rotating electic
product line segment during fiscal 2013 as comptodidcal 2012, (ii) a contingent fee payable @moection with the third amendment and waive
the Parent Company Financing Agreement (the “TAimtendment”), (iii) interest expense in connectiathvthe purchase of consignment inventory
from the Supplier for Fenco, and (iv) interest entain vendor payable balances owed by the undproduct line segment.

Provision for Income Taxes

Income Tay. Our income tax expense was ($21,720,000) and’8M00 during fiscal 2013 and 2012, respectivaiyeffective rate of 19% and
(16%) for fiscal 2013 and 2012, respectively. Thenpry change in the effective tax rate was duinéotax benefits of the specific charge-off accrual
for the debt, accounts receivable, and inter-comiatances from Fenco. Income tax expense, exdutie net losses of the Fenco operations,
reflect income tax rates higher than the fedeetlsbry tax rates primarily due to state incometaxwvhich were partially offset by the benefit of
lower statutory tax rates in other foreign taxinggdictions.

In addition, any potential future income tax betsefissociated with the net loss we incurred fromcBeoperations during fiscal 2013 was not
recognized due primarily to our assessment ofeéhewverability of these tax benefits. We have predid valuation allowance against these net
operating loss carryforwards as we determineditfignot more likely than not that the deferredetswill be realized.

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011

Net Sales and Gross Profit

The following table summarizes net sales and goostt by segment for fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011

Rotating Under-the-Car

Fiscal Years Ended March 31 Electrical Product Line Eliminations  Consolidated
2012

Net sales to external custom: $178,551,00 $ 185,136,000 $ - $363,687,00
Intersegment revenue, net of ¢ 1,853,00! - (1,853,001 -
Cost of goods sol 123,072,00 214,761,00 (1,853,00) 335,980,00
Gross profit (loss 57,332,00 (29,625,00) - 27,707,00
Cost of goods sold as a percentage of net 68.2% 116.(% - 92.4%
Gross profit (loss) percenta 31.8% (16.0% - 7.€%
2011

Net sales $161,285,00 $ - % - $161,285,00
Cost of goods sol 109,903,00 - - 109,903,00
Gross profit 51,382,00 - - 51,382,00
Cost of goods sold as a percentage of net 68.1% - - 68.1%
Gross profit percentag 31.9% - - 31.%%

Net Sale:. Our consolidated net sales for fiscal 2012 ineedeby $202,402,000, or 125.5%, to $363,687,000peoed to consolidated net sales for
fiscal 2011 of $161,285,000. The increase in cadat#d net sales was due primarily to (i) our Mag®l1 acquisition of Fenco which resulted in
additional net sales of $185,136,000 or 114.8%,(@ndn increase in sales to customers of $17@BBpr 10.7%, primarily to the existing customers
in our rotating electrical product line.
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Cost of Goods Sold/Gross Profdur consolidated cost of goods sold as a percemtagensolidated net sales increased during fi28aPR to 92.4%
from 68.1% for fiscal 2011, resulting in a corresgimg decrease in our consolidated gross profitggeage of 24.3% to 7.6% for fiscal 2012 from
31.9% for fiscal 2011.

Rotating Electrical product lin

The gross profit percentage in our rotating eleatrproduct line remained relatively flat at 31.8%ing fiscal 2012 compared to 31.9%
during fiscal 2011.

Undercar product line

The gross profit percentage in our undercar proliluetwas negative 16.0% for fiscal 2012 represené negative gross profit of
$29,625,000. This negative gross profit was dygairi to low net sales prices and in part to higiteduction, warehousing and distribution
costs. The net sales prices were lower primarily twuhigher customer allowances and fill rate pennce penalties. Higher production,
warehousing and distribution costs were due tartbieease in under-absorption of manufacturing oeadhon lower sales and production
levels and the additional premium purchase andlfteiosts expended in the improving of our filesaand ability to service our customers.

Our gross profit was also significantly impacteddwy decision to discontinue the CV axle produwt liwe substantially reduced sales and
support in December 2011, and closed the main ptamufacility for this product line in February 2B. The negative gross profit impact of
the discontinued line was $10,850,000 includingh@ negative contribution from the product linghe period of $5,332,000 and (ii) the
recording of the additional reserve of $4,861,08(ttie core and raw material inventory to redueedst to net realizable value.

In addition, our gross profit during fiscal 2012asvfurther impacted by (i) negative contributior&f074,000 related to certain additional
product lines we stopped selling and supportingeaember 2011, (ii) additional costs of approxirya#928,000 that were incurred in
connection with the modification of a product fonew customer program, (iii) contractual customamgities of $4,795,000, (iv) a one-time
pricing allowance of $1,851,000, and (v) salesvedince associated with the buy-back of certain prtsdof $1,283,000.

We also incurred additional expenses that impaotedjross profit percentage as follows:

« We replaced and trained a large number of persairiedncas production facilities at Monterrey, Mexico atapproximate cost ¢
$4,198,00(

« We made certain inventory purchases above our damsafor $2,519,000 for inventory that was saoldidg fiscal 2012, and we
incurred increased inbound freight expenses of P&k

Finally, in connection with the Fenco acquisiti®3,746,000 was charged to cost of goods sold irundercar product line related to the
entire amount of fair value step-up of inventorgaiced which was sold during the year ended Mat2812.
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Operating Expenses
The following table summarizes operating expengeselgment for the fiscal 2012 and 2011:

Rotating Under-the-Car

Fiscal Years Ended March 31 Electrical Product Line Eliminations Consolidated
2012

General and administrati\ $ 20,621,000 $ 18,260,000 $ - $ 38,881,00
Sales and marketir 7,659,00! 5,145,001 - 12,804,00
Research and developm 1,765,00! - - 1,765,00!
Impairment of plant and equipme - 1,031,001 - 1,031,00!
Acquisition costs 713,00( - - 713,00(

Percent of net sale:

General and administratiy 11.5% 9.9% - 10.7%
Sales and marketir 4.2% 2.8% - 3.5%
Research and developm 1.C% -% - 0.5%
Impairment of plant and equipme -% 0.€% - 0.2%
Acquisition costs 0.4% -% - 0.2%
2011

General and administrati $ 17,033,00 $ - $ - $ 17,033,00
Sales and marketir 6,537,00! - - 6,537,00!
Research and developm 1,549,00! - - 1,549,001
Acquisition costs 879,00( - - 879,00

Percent of net sale:

General and administrati 10.6% - - 10.6%
Sales and marketir 4.1% - - 4.1%
Research and developm 1.C% - - 1.C%
Acquisition costs 0.5% - - 0.5%

General and Administrativ®ur consolidated general and administrative expefsdiscal 2012 were $38,881,000, which represantincrease of
$21,848,000, or 128.3%, from general and admirigsg@&xpenses for fiscal 2011 of $17,033,000. Tleedase of $3,588,000 in general and
administrative expenses for our rotating electrraduct line during fiscal 2012 was primarily doe(i) $1,292,000 of professional services and
travel incurred in connection with our Fenco opiera, (i) $780,000 of incentive payments madeddain employees in connection with our Fenco
acquisition, (iii) $393,000 of increased professiogervices , (iv) a loss of $476,000 recordedtdube changes in the fair value of forward foreign
currency exchange contracts, compared to a 10836#,000 recorded during fiscal 2011, and (v) $303,0f decreased amortization of the deferred
gain on sale-leaseback transactions.

General and administrative expenses for the underoauct line during fiscal 2012 were $18,260,088] were primarily attributable to (i)
$7,856,000 of employee-related expenses, (ii) $00D of professional services fees and other dongdees, (iii) $1,965,000 of depreciation and
amortization of intangible assets, (iv) $325,00®aik financing charges, and (v) $97,000 for legal professional fees incurred in connection with
the Fenco Credit Agreement (as defined herein).

Sales and MarketingOur consolidated sales and marketing expensdiséal 2012 increased $6,267,000, or 95.9%, tq&¥2000 from $6,537,0(
fiscal 2011. The increase of $1,122,000 from otatiog electrical product line was due primarily(ip$343,000 of increased commissions due to
increased sales, (i) $314,000 of increased emploghated expenses, (iii) $238,000 of increasedetrand professional services incurred in
connection with our Fenco operations, (iv) the liefrem the reversal of $193,000 of commission @xges during the prior year in connection with
our August 2009 acquisition as certain sales tluldshwvere not met, and (v) $104,000 of increasadetishow expense.
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Sales and marketing expenses for the undercar gréde were $5,145,000 and primarily include (1), 796,000 of employee-related expenses, (i)
$1,482,000 of advertising expenses, (iii) $980,008ales commissions and agent fees, and (iv) $803f travel expenses.

Research and Developme. Our consolidated research and development expéns@ased by $216,000, or 13.9%, to $1,765,00fistal 2012
from $1,549,000 for fiscal 2011. The increase seegch and development expenses in our rotatictyied product line was due primarily to (i)
$128,000 of increased supplies expense, (ii) $&lgddncreased travel, and (iii) $39,000 of inceemployee-related expenses during fiscal 2012.

Impairment of Plant and Equipme. Represents the write-off of the carrying amourfb@d assets as we discontinued the CV axle prblive and
shut-down the related facility located in Bedfax&w Hampshire during fiscal 2012.

Acquisition Cost. We incurred $713,000 of legal and professiones fi@ connection with the Fenco acquisition dufiagal 2012.
I nterest Expense

Interest ExpenstReflecting our increased leverage as a resulteoatiquisition of Fenco and the increase in thedizair business, net consolidated
interest expense for fiscal 2012 increased $8,800,06r 166.2%, to $14,255,000 from $5,355,000 fi2G4 1. This increase in net interest expense
was primarily attributable to (i) interest expefseurred on the outstanding loan balances anddkeaf receivables being discounted under the
receivable discount programs by the undercar pitdthecsince our acquisition on May 6, 2011 anyificreased outstanding loan balances and
higher interest rates incurred by the rotatingteiesd product line during fiscal 2012.

Provision for Income Taxes

Income Ta. Our income tax expense was $6,772,000 and $D80%uring fiscal 2012 and 2011, respectively, fecéve rate of (16%) and 39%
for fiscal 2012 and 2011, respectively. The primelmgnge in the effective tax rate was due to raigrizing income tax benefits related to the net
losses of the Fenco operations. Income tax experskiding the net losses of the Fenco operatiefigct income tax rates higher than the federal
statutory tax rates primarily due to state incomes, which were partially offset by the benefitamfer statutory tax rates in other foreign taxing
jurisdictions.

In addition, any potential future income tax betsefissociated with the net loss we incurred fromcBeoperations during fiscal 2012 were not
recognized due primarily to our assessment ofeéhewverability of these tax benefits. We have predid valuation allowance against these net
operating loss carryforwards as we determinedittighot more likely than not that the deferredegswill be realized. During fiscal 2012, we
recorded $165,000 of income tax expense specificalhted to the Fenco subsidiaries located in Btexa separate tax jurisdiction.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following is a discussion of the Company omasolidated basis, including Fenco. However, the@any has separate loan agreements and
accounts payable and manages its cash for itSmptalectrical segment separately from Fenco.

Overview

At March 31, 2013, we had consolidated negativekimgrcapital of $67,142,000, a ratio of currentadsdo current liabilities of 0.7:1, and cash of
$19,434,000, compared to negative working capit§20188,000, a ratio of current assets to curiahbtilities of 1:1, and cash of $32,617,000 at
March 31, 2012. At March 31, 2013, our rotatingctrieal segment had working capital of $32,676,0€atio of current assets to current liabilitié
1.5:1, and cash of $19,346,000 compared to workapgtal of $15,332,000, a ratio of current assetsutrent liabilities of 1.2:1, and cash of
$32,379,000 at March 31, 2012.
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During fiscal 2013, we used cash generated fronusieeof our receivable discount programs with @@éour major customers, from the private
placement of our common stock, and our loans apomary sources of liquidity. These sources weimmarily used to pay down our accounts
payable balances, towards the integration of oac&@cquisition, and pay for the capital expenditiligations.

For our rotating electrical business, we believeaash on hand, shaierm investments, use of receivable discount prognaith certain of our maj
customers, amounts available under our credit aggag and other sources are sufficient to satiafyeapected future working capital needs,
repayment of the current portion of our term loaragital lease commitments, and capital expendabligations over the next twelve months.

Recent Devel opments

Since our acquisition of Fenco on May 6, 2011, weehbeen implementing our undercar product lineargund plan and our top priority continued
to be improvement of the financial performance wf endercar product line business. The implemesradf our undercar product line turnaround
plan has taken longer and cost more than initetijcipated. Revenues generated by our undercdugtrtine segment have not been sufficient to
enable us to meet our operating expenses and dieeimplement our undercar product line turnaropliach. Fenco has incurred net losses of
$135,260,000 and $62,814,000 for the years endedhvBd, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and has amadated deficit of approximately
$198,074,000 at March 31, 20F:nco continues to face capital and liquidity conseThe Parent Company Financing Agreement ormitied the
Company to invest up to an additional $20,000,@0Bdnco, which it had done as of December 31, 2842f March 31, 2013, the Company had
invested in Fenco $4,946,000 of equity, $52,631@ffebt, $27,382,000 of accounts receivable imeation with our March 2011 consignment
arrangement to provide goods in order to maintaénservice levels for Fenco’s customers, and $10D82of net inter-company balances. At March
31, 2013, the Company has established a spec#igekoff accrual for the debt, accounts receivabldinter-company balances. Fenco has been
unable to refinance its credit agreement or olddutitional sufficient capital to implement its taround plan. The report of our independent
registered public accounting firm on our finanatdtements for the year ended March 31, 2013 emntai explanatory paragraph raising substantial
doubt as to our ability to continue as a going esnc

As of March 31, 2013, the undercar product linensexgt had cash of $88,000, accounts payable of 8Z460, total debt and capital lease
obligations of $59,461,000, a net working capigfict of $104,502,000. As of March 31, 2013, thelercar product line segment had exceeded its
borrowing capacity by $5,795,000 on the Fenco Ciealtility (as defined herein).

During May 2013, Fenco appointed a new board ofjreshdent directors, hired an independent chiefuesiring officer and all its previously
existing officers resigned from FAPL. As a restlttee loss of control of Fenco, we will likely dewolidate the financial statements of Fenco from
our consolidated financial statements during thet fuarter of fiscal 2014. On June 10, 2013, Féited a voluntary petition for relief under Chapte
7 of the Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy €6or the District of Delaware. As of March 31,1&) Fenco’s financial statements are included
in the consolidated financial statements of the @amy. Our consolidated financial statements arpgyesl assuming we will continue as a going
concern. The financial statements do not includeaajustments to reflect future adverse effecttherrecoverability and classification of assets or
amounts and classification of liabilities that nragult from the outcome of this uncertainty.

As a result of these challenges with Fenco, managehmas adjusted its focus. Going forward M&#gcus will not include Fenco but will continue

be on its rotating electrical business and evatgatiher opportunities. The outlook for rotatingattical continues to be strong with over 240 roili
vehicles on the road with an average age of oveted@s. Vehicles older than 7 years generally éepee higher replacement rates for the alternators
and starters. As such these metrics indicate aoioggrowth opportunity for rotating electrical. MR rotating electrical business has continued to
have strong liquidity which will be further enhaddey the tax benefits associated with the writeedfthe Fenco investments.
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Cash Flows

Net cash used in operating activities was $31,@8Lghd $38,488,000 during fiscal 2013 and 201ewtdvely. The rotating electrical segment u
cash from operations of $4,969,000 during fiscdl26ompared to cash provided from operations of 4845000 during fiscal 2012. The significant
changes in our operating activities for the rogtectrical segment were due primarily to the dayn of accounts payable balances incurred in
connection with the inventory provided to Fencdiscal 2012 to provide goods in order to mainthia service levels for Fenco’s customers, an
increase in long-term core inventory due to higlaes, and a decrease in accounts receivable kaldoe to a higher balance of receivables
discounted during fiscal 2013 compared to fiscdl20The undercar product line segment used cash dfemations of $26,092,000 and $53,952,
during fiscal 2013 and 2012, respectively. Thei§iggnt changes in our undercar product line segmame due primarily to decreases in non-core
inventory as Fenco continued to normalize its oj@ma and reduced its inventory levels. In additiéenco’s core inventory levels and core returns
accrual were decreased as it recognized approXyr&f8,783,000 in revenue from the reduction ia d@bligation to provide a credit for a major
customer’'s Remanufactured Cores which were preljigasorded as a long-term core liability and $38,600 of the related long-term core
inventory previously recorded in the consolidatathhce sheet were recognized as cost of goodsladlty fiscal 2013. Additionally, there was an
increase in accounts receivables and a decrease accounts payable balances in our undercar ptdide segment.

Net cash used in investing activities was $4,089 A% $1,591,000 during fiscal 2013 and 2012, smdy. Our capital expenditures for ¢

rotating electrical segment during fiscal 2013 a0d2 were $2,330,000 and $1,010,000, respectipelparily related to the purchase of equipment
for our manufacturing facilities, improvements tr €alifornia facility, and software. Our capitadpenditures for our undercar product line segment
were $1,698,000 and $544,000 during fiscal 2013201®, respectively, primarily related to the casien of Fenco’s financial and operating
systems to the application used at our corporaadduarters in Torrance, California and purchassjafpment for Fenco facilities.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $22,900 and $70,182,000 during fiscal 2013 and 2f<hectively. The rotating electrical segm
provided cash from financing activities of $21,688) and $61,060,000 during fiscal 2013 and 20Xkpeetively. This decrease was due to decre
borrowings compared to fiscal 2012 partly offsetluy net proceeds received from our private placemhering fiscal 2013. The net cash providec
financing activities was used primarily to finarféenco. The undercar product line segment providst &rom financing activities of $263,000 and
$9,122,000 during fiscal 2013 and 2012, respegtivehe decrease is due primarily to borrowing $808,under the Fenco Revolving Facility (as
defined herein) during fiscal 2013 compared tordpayment of amounts outstanding under the FenwoliReg Facility and borrowing $10,000,000
under the Fenco Term Loan (as defined herein) ddistal 2012.

Capital Resources
Debt
We have the following outstanding credit agreements

Parent Company Credit Agreems

We have a financing agreement (the “Parent Compamncing Agreement”) with a syndicate of lend€rerberus Business Finance, LLC, as
collateral agent, and PNC Bank, National Assocmtas administrative agent (the “Parent Companyns9aThe Parent Company Loans consist of:
(i) term loans aggregating $75,000,000 (the “Pa@mrhpany Term Loans”) and (ii) revolving loans gfto $20,000,000, subject to borrowing base
restrictions and a $10,000,000 sublimit for letirsredit (the “Parent Company Revolving LoansTfe Parent Company Loans mature on January
17, 2017. The lenders hold a security interestibstantially all of the assets of our rotating &leal segment. The Parent Company Financing
Agreement only permits us to invest up to $20,000,@ Fenco, which we had done as of December@®12.2
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In May 2012, we entered into a second amendmehget®arent Company Financing Agreement (the “Seéaonendment”) and borrowed an
additional $10,000,000, for an aggregate of $85@M(the “Amended Parent Company Term Loans"gimtloans. The Second Amendment,
among other things, modified the interest ratesapaum applicable to the Amended Parent Company Teans. The Amended Parent Company
Term Loans will bear interest at rates equal touatoption, either LIBOR plus 8.5% or a base mtes 7.5%. The Amended Parent Company Term
Loans require quarterly principal payments of $280,beginning on October 1, 2012 and increase @0.$60 per quarter on April 1, 2013 and to
$1,350,000 on October 1, 2013 until the final miggudate. Among other things, the Second Amendmentides for certain amended financial
covenants, and requires that we maintain cash astdequivalents of up to $10,000,000 in the agdeagatil our obligations with respect to a
significant supplier have ceased.

In connection with the Second Amendment, we issuegrrant (the “Cerberus Warrant”) to Cerberus Bess Finance, LLC. Pursuant to the
Cerberus Warrant, Cerberus Business Finance, Llag,parchase up to 100,000 shares of our commok &toan initial exercise price of $17.00

per share for a period of five years. The exergigee is subject to adjustments, among other thiftgsales of common stock by us at a price below
the exercise price. As a result of the issuandbeBupplier Warrant (as defined herein) in Au@@t2 at an initial exercise price of $7.75 per shar
the exercise price of the Cerberus Warrant wascestito $7.75 per share. As the exercise priceeo€#rberus Warrant was reduced, the number of
shares of our common stock that may be purchased tine exercise of the Cerberus Warrant was inetetrs219,355 so that the aggregate exercise
price of the Cerberus Warrant after the adjustrieetite same as the aggregate exercise price prtbetadjustment. The fair value of the Cerberus
Warrant using the Monte Carlo simulation model $&687,000 at May 24, 2012 and $375,000 at Marct2313. This amount was recorded as a
warrant liability which is included in other lialiies in the consolidated balance sheet at Margt2813. During fiscal 2013, a gain of $232,000 was
recorded in general and administrative expensesalilee change in the fair value of the Cerberusrsive.

In August 2012, we entered into the Third Amendnvelnith, among other things, (i) permitted us teeemto the Fenco Credit Line, (ii) to make
additional investments in Fenco in an aggregateuamoot to exceed $20,000,000 at any time outstandiii) added additional reporting
requirements regarding financial reports and matentices under the Fenco Credit Line, and (imaeed the Second Amendment requirement that
we maintain cash and cash equivalents of up tc0®00000.

In December 2012, we entered into a fourth amentlioethe Parent Company Financing Agreement wlaaigng other things, permitted us to
repurchase shares pursuant to the stock repuralgasement with Mel Marks, our founder, a membeswfBoard of Directors and consultant to the
Company, and Melmarks Enterprises LLLP, a limitedility limited partnership controlled by Mr. Mask

In connection with the option purchase agreemeatemtered into a fifth amendment to the Parent Gomrinancing Agreement, which among
other things, permitted us to purchase Mr. Jofé&dek options pursuant to the option purchase awgae

On June 14, 2013, we entered into a sixth amendtoeghe Parent Company Financing Agreement (thethShmendment”), under the terms of
which the agents and lenders agreed to waive amyt@®f default that would otherwise arise underRaeent Company Financing Agreement due to
the qualification in the opinion by the Companystdied public accountants with respect to thaficial statements for the fiscal year ended March
31, 2013. In addition, the Sixth Amendment (i) ediéh reporting requirement with respect to the Gamgjs liquidity levels and certain inventory
purchases and (i) added a financial covenant uwtieth the Company must maintain the following levef liquidity on the following dates unless
otherwise consented to by the lenders: on Jun2®&, an aggregate amount of at least $25,000s@ect to certain adjustments; on July 31, 2
an aggregate amount of at least $26,000,000, dubjeertain adjustments; and on August 30, 20t &ggregate amount of at least $27,000,000,
subject to certain adjustments.

The Parent Company Financing Agreement, as amendsahg other things, requires us to maintain aeftaancial covenants including a maxim
senior leverage ratio, a minimum fixed charge cagerratio, and minimum consolidated EBITDA. We wiereompliance with all financial
covenants and reporting requirements under thenP@ampany Financing Agreement, as amended, asaofivB1, 2013.
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The following table summarizes the financial covesaequired under the Parent Company Financingéwgent as of March 31, 2013:

Financial covenants
required per the Parent
Calculation as 0 Company Financing

March 31, 2013 Agreement
Maximum senior leverage rat 2.1C 3.0t
Minimum fixed charge coverage ra 1.5: 1.1t
Minimum consolidated EBITD/ $ 40,243,00 $ 29,750,00

There was no outstanding balance on the Parent &myrfpevolving Loans at March 31, 2013 and 2012ofAdarch 31, 2013, $18,878,000 was
available under the Parent Company Revolving Lodfesshad reserved $626,000 of the Parent CompanglReyg Loans for standby letters of cre
for workers’ compensation insurance and $1,179f608ommercial letters of credit as of March 31120

Fenco Credit Agreeme

Our wholly-owned subsidiaries, FAPL and Introcasmbarrowers (the “Fenco Borrowers”), entered imt@mended and restated credit agreement,
dated May 6, 2011 (the “Fenco Credit Agreementthwilanufacturers and Traders Trust Company asdeahger, M&T Bank as lender and
administrative agent and the other lenders frone tisntime party thereto (the “Fenco Lenders”). Bard to the Fenco Credit Agreement, the Fenco
Lenders have made available to the Fenco Borroaegsolving credit facility in the maximum principamount of $50,000,000 (the “Fenco
Revolving Facility”) and a term loan in the prinalmmount of $10,000,000 (the “Fenco Term Loant)e Rvailability of the Fenco Revolving
Facility is subject to a borrowing base calculatiomsisting of eligible accounts receivable andiele inventory.

In August 2012, Fenco entered into a second amemidim¢he Fenco Credit Agreement with the Fencodees which, among other things, (i)
extended the maturity date to October 6, 2014afignded the maximum amount of the Fenco Revolauijity to (y) $55,000,000 for the period

to and including December 31, 2012 and (z) $50@@Dfor the period on or after January 1, 2013ufhoOctober 6, 2014, (iii) replaced the
repayment schedule and the amounts for the Fento Dean to require quarterly principal payment$600,000 beginning on June 30, 2013 and
increasing to $1,000,000 per quarter beginning Bz 31, 2013 through September 30, 2014, withehmaining unpaid principal amount being
due on the final maturity date, (iv) provided fer@in mandatory prepayments of the Fenco Term Laxach (v) revised certain financial covenants
regarding minimum EBITDA, minimum fixed charge coage, unused borrowing availability under the FeRewolving Credit Facility, and
maximum capital expenditures. The maturity dateg beaaccelerated upon the occurrence of an insojvewvent or event of default under the Fenco
Credit Agreement.

In February 2013, Fenco entered into a third amemdrto the Fenco Credit Agreement with the Fenndées which, among other things, (i)
amended the maximum amount of the revolving facéitailable after February 1, 2013 from $50,000,80$50,712,000, (ii) removed the excess
availability requirement, and (iii) amended thealeing facility margin limit.

The outstanding balance on the Fenco RevolvindiBasias $49,277,000 and $48,884,000 at March B132and 2012, respectively. As of March
31, 2013, approximately $712,000 was reservedtéordby commercial letters of credit and $118,008 weserved for certain expenses. In addition,
$300,000 of this Fenco Revolving Facility was resdrfor Canadian operations use. As of March 31328enco had exceeded its borrowing
capacity by $5,795,000 on the Fenco Credit Facilitye Fenco Lenders hold a security interest istauttially all of the assets of Fenco.

The Fenco Borrowers may receive advances undéfeheo Revolving Facility by any one or more of tbowing options: (i) swingline advances
Canadian or US dollars; (ii) Canadian dollar pribased loans; (iii) US dollar base rate loans; (lBOR loans; or (v) letters of credits.
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The Fenco Term Loan bears interest at the LIBOR pluapplicable margin. Outstanding advances uhddfenco Revolving Facility bear interest
as follows:

0] in respect of swingline advances in Canadian doliawd Canadian dollar pri-based loans, at the reference rate announced |
Royal Bank of Canada plus an applicable mat

(i) inrespect of swingline advances in US dollansl US dollar base rate loans, at a base ratelfvehiall be equal to the highest of (x)
M&T Bank’'s prime rate, (y) the Federal Funds Rate plus ¥afor (z) the one month LIBOR) plus an applicabkrgin;

(i) in respect of LIBOR loans, at the LIBOR plus anlaggble margin

The Fenco Credit Agreement, among other thingsiireg the Fenco Borrowers to maintain a minimum™BA of not less than $6,100,000 for the
period from September 1, 2012 to March 31, 2013ofAdarch 31, 2013, the Fenco Borrowers were nabimpliance with this financial covenant
under the Fenco Credit Agreement. As a resultfFdreo Revolving Facility and the Fenco Term Loavehaeen classified as debt in default within
current liabilities in the consolidated balanceetted March 31, 2013.

During May 2013, Fenco appointed a new board ofpeshdent directors, hired an independent chiefugsiring officer and all its previously
existing officers resigned from FAPL. As a resulttee loss of control of Fenco, we will likely dewplidate the financial statements of Fenco from
our consolidated financial statements during thet fuarter of fiscal 2014. On June 10, 2013, Fdited a voluntary petition for relief under Chapte
7 of the Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy €éar the District of Delaware. As of March 31,1%) Fenco’s financial statements are included
in the consolidated financial statements of the @amy. Our consolidated financial statements arpgyesl assuming we will continue as a going
concern. The financial statements do not includeaajustments to reflect future adverse effecttherrecoverability and classification of assets or
amounts and classification of liabilities that nragult from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Neither the Parent Company Financing AgreementhFenco Credit Agreement contain any cross defaavisions with respect to the ott
agreement.

Strategic Cooperation Agreement

In August 2012, we entered into a revolving agregnithe “Agreement”) with the Supplier and Fencodeér the terms of the Agreement, the
Supplier agreed to provide a revolving credit lioepurchases of automotive parts and componenEebgo in an aggregate amount not to exceed
$22,000,000 (the “Fenco Credit Line”) of which 20000 would only be available for accrued inteegst other amounts payable (the
“Obligation”). Payment for all purchases would heecind payable 120 days after the date of thefdiéiding. Any amounts remaining unpaid
following the due date would bear interest at a cit1% per month. The Fenco Credit Line will matan July 31, 2017. Among other things, the
Agreement requires that Fenco on an annual basishase at least approximately $33,000,000 of neanaotive parts and components. After Jul
2014, the Supplier has the right to exercise theeRable Sale Option under which the Supplier n&ttlesup to $8,000,000 (the “Receivable Sale
Option”) of our outstanding Obligations in exchangeour option, for (i) shares of our common steakied at $7.75 per share, subject to certain
adjustments, or (ii) cash in an amount equal t/d 85 the amount of the outstanding Obligations golds. Any outstanding Obligations settled by
the Supplier would reduce the Fenco Credit Linee Tligations under the Agreement are guaranteadtand certain of our subsidiaries. As of
March 31, 2013, we had approximately $19,000,006tanding under the Fenco Credit Line which wasneed in accounts payable in the
consolidated balance sheet at March 31, 2013. Uhdeerms of the guarantee, the Supplier alsdhHeasght to sell accrued interest to us for shares
of our common stock (the “Unpaid Interest Sale @i at a price, subject to certain adjustments, thttadower of (i) $7.75 per share and (ii) 1C
of the market value of our common stock, which rearkalue is defined in the terms of the guarantee.
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In connection with this Agreement, we also issuahaant (the “Supplier Warrant”) to the Suppliempurchase up to 516,129 shares of our common
stock for an initial exercise price of $7.75 pearghexercisable at any time after two years frorgusti 22, 2012 and on or prior to September 30,
2017. The exercise price is subject to adjustmamsng other things, for sales of common stockdgtia price below the exercise price. Any
outstanding Obligations settled by the Supplief reitluce the Fenco Credit Line. We are obligateidgoe no more than an aggregate of 1,032,258
shares of our common stock in connection with teed®vable Sale Option and Supplier Warrant, anthare than an aggregate of 1,572,342 shares
of our common stock in connection with the Unpaitktest Sale Option. The Obligations under thiseggrent are subordinated to our obligations
under the Parent Company Financing Agreement. dinedlue of the Supplier Warrant using the Mongl€ simulation model was $1,018,000 at
August 22, 2012, and $1,639,000 at March 31, 20h& amount was recorded as a warrant liabilityolhs included in other liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheet at March 31, 2013. Bdisoal 2013, a loss of $621,000 was recordeckitecal and administrative expenses due to the
change in the fair value of the Supplier Warrant.

Our ability to comply in future periods with theéincial covenants in the Parent Company Financorg@ment will depend on our ongoing finan
and operating performance, which, in turn, willdubject to economic conditions and to financiakibess and other factors, many of which are
beyond our control and will be substantially depantcbn the selling prices and demand for our prisjucistomer demands for marketing allowat
and other concessions, raw material costs, andhility to successfully implement our overall biess strategy. If a violation of any of the coves
in the Parent Company Financing Agreement occutiserfuture, we would attempt to obtain a waiveawramendment from our lenders. No
assurance can be given that we would be succésshit regard.

Investment in Fenc

As of March 31, 2013, we had invested in Fenco48,@00 of equity, $52,631,000 of debt, $27,382,008ccounts receivable in connection with
March 2011 consignment arrangement to provide goodsder to maintain the service levels for Fesanistomers, and $1,782,000 of net inter-
company balances. All of the debt and intercomgaaiginces owed by Fenco to us are subordinatee tbahco Revolving Facility, which is secur
We do not expect to recover any of this investnaesrd result of the Fenco bankruptcy. At March 81,32 we had established a specific charge-off
accrual for the debt, accounts receivable and-tcaerpany balances.

Receivable Discount Prograr

We use receivable discount programs with certastosners and their respective banks. Under theggars, we have options to sell those
customers’ receivables to those banks at a distourg agreed upon at the time the receivablesdge These discount arrangements allow us to
accelerate collection of customersteivables. While these arrangements have redugedorking capital needs, there can be no assertmat thes
programs will continue in the future. Interest exge resulting from these programs would increasddfest rates rise, if utilization of these
discounting arrangements expands or if the discperibd is extended to reflect more favorable payrterms to customers. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to continue theseivable discount programs with Fenco’s customers.

The following is a summary of the consolidated reslele discount programs:

Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012
Receivables discounte $ 289,529,00 $ 280,278,00
Weighted average da 31¢ 313
Weighted average discount r: 2. 1% 2.%%
Amount of discount as interest expe! $ 6,914,000 $ 7,072,000
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

At March 31, 2013, we had no dffalance sheet financing or other arrangementswmitionsolidated entities or financial partnershigl as entitie
often referred to as structured finance or spguigbose entities) established for purposes ofifatifig off-balance sheet financing or other debt
arrangements or for other contractually narrowiraitéd purposes.

Multi-year Customer Agreements

We have or are renegotiating loteym agreements with many of our major customensldd these agreements, which in most cases hdia iarms

of at least four years, we are designated as ttesixe or primary supplier for specified categsrid remanufactured alternators and starters. In
consideration for our designation as a customexctusive or primary supplier, we typically provitiee customer with a package of marketing
incentives. These incentives differ from contractontract and can include (i) the issuance ofegifipd amount of credits against receivables in
accordance with a schedule set forth in the relesantract, (ii) support for a particular custonser@search or marketing efforts provided on a
scheduled basis, (iii) discounts granted in coriapatith each individual shipment of product, aing 6ther marketing, research, store expansion or
product development support. These contracts tifpicequire that we meet ongoing standards rel&efdlfillment, price, and quality. Our contracts
with major customers expire at various dates thinddgrch 2019.

The longer-term agreements both reflect and sthemgbur customer relationships and business bamseevér, they also result in a continuing
concentration of our revenue sources among a fgvelstomers and require a significant increaseisiruge of working capital to build inventory ¢
increase production. This increased productionesgggnificant increases in our inventories, act®payable and employee base, and customer
demands that we purchase their Remanufacturedi@agtory can be a significant strain on our ad@éacapital. In addition, the marketing and
other allowances that we typically grant to ourteoers in connection with these new or expandetiogiships adversely impact the near-term
revenues and associated cash flows from thesegamants. However, we believe this incremental lassimwill improve our overall liquidity and
cash flow from operations over time.

Share Repurchase Program

In March 2010, our Board of Directors authorizeshare repurchase program of up to $5,000,000 obetstanding common stock from time to time
in the open market and in private transactiongiaep deemed appropriate by management. The prodpasinot have an expiration date. Under this
program, we have repurchased and retired a to&f 847 shares at a total cost of approximate \9EE® up to the year ended March 31, 2013. Our
credit agreements currently prohibit such repurebas

Capital Expenditures and Commitments

Our capital expenditures were $4,028,000 durinzafi013. A significant portion of these expenditurelate to the purchase of equipment for our
manufacturing and warehousing facilities and impraents to our California facility and software. Bégect our fiscal 2014 capital expenditure for
our current operations to be in the range of apprately $2,000,000 to $3,000,000. We expect toausevorking capital and incur additional capital
lease obligations to finance these capital exparet

45




Table of Content

Contractual Obligations

Rotating Electrical Product Lin

The following summarizes our contractual obligasi@md other commitments as of March 31, 2013 foratating electrical product line and the
effect such obligations could have on the cashdlofwur rotating electrical product line in futyreriods:

Payments Due by Perioc

Less than 2to 3 4t05 More than 5
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year years years years
Capital Lease Obligations ( $ 217,000 $ 186,00 $ 16,000 $ 15,000 $ =
Operating Lease Obligations ( 13,058,00 2,855,001 3,974,001 2,054,001 4,175,001
Term Loan 84,500,00 3,900,001 10,800,00 69,800,00 -
Other Long-Term Obligations (3) 43,177,000 14,956,00 14,105,00 8,375,001 5,741,001
Total $ 140,952,00 $ 21,897,000 $ 28,895,000 $ 80,244,000 $ 9,916,00

(1) Capital Lease Obligations represent amounts duerwapital leases for various types of machinedy@mputer equipmer

(2) Operating Lease Obligations represent amountsatuet under our leases for office and warehoastitfes in North America and Asia and 1
our Company automobils

(3) Other Lon¢-Term Obligations represent commitments we have eétitain customers to provide marketing allowarnceonsideration for lor-
term agreements to provide products over a defieedd. We are not obligated to provide these ntargaallowances should our business
relationships end with these custom:

We are unable to reliably estimate the timing afife payments related to uncertain tax positidmseffore, $1,116,000 of income taxes payable has

been excluded from the table above. However, fuaxgayment accruals related to uncertain taxtiposi are included in our balance sheets,
reduced by the associated federal deduction fte saes.
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Undercar Product Line

The following summarizes our contractual obligasi@md other commitments as of March 31, 2013 fouodercar product line, and the effect such
obligations could have on the cash flows of ourarndr product line in future periods:

Payments Due by Perioc

Less than 2t03 4t05 More than 5
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year years years years
Capital Lease Obligations ( $ 206,00 $ 93,00 $ 65,00 $ 48,000 $ =
Operating Lease Obligations ( 9,874,001 1,670,001 2,339,001 2,109,001 3,756,001
Revolving Loar 49,277,00 49,277,00 - - -
Term Loan 10,000,00 10,000,00 - - -
Other Lon¢-Term Obligations (3 503,00 341,00( 162,00( - -
Total $ 69,860,000 $ 61,381,00 $ 2,566,000 $ 2,157,000 $ 3,756,00!

(1) Capital Lease Obligations represent amounts duerwapital leases for various types of machinedy@mputer equipmer

(2) Operating Lease Obligations represent amouwrgdar rent under Fenco’s leases for office anceivause facilities in North America and for
Fenccs Company automobile

(3) Other Long-Term Obligations represent committaeve have with certain customers to provide mangedllowances in consideration for long-
term agreements to provide products over a defieedd. Fenco is not obligated to provide theseketiang allowances should its business
relationships end with these custom:

We are unable to reliably estimate the timing afife payments related to uncertain tax positidmseffore, $1,480,000 of income taxes payable has
been excluded from the table above. However, fuaxgayment accruals related to uncertain taxtiposi are included in our balance sheets,
reduced by the associated federal deduction fte &aes.

Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative DisclosuresAbout Market Risk

Our primary market risk relates to changes in ggtrates and foreign currency exchange rates.aV®tenter into derivatives or other financial
instruments for trading or speculative purposesodérsoverseas operations expand, our exposure tostks associated with foreign currency
fluctuations will continue to increase.

Interest rate rist

We are exposed to changes in interest rates ptinzaria result of our borrowing anelceivable discount programs, which have interestscthat var
with interest rate movements. Our credit facilitiesr interest at variable base rates, plus arcapig margin. At March 31, 2013, our consolidated
debt obligations totaled $143,287,000. If interasts were to increase 1%, our net annual intesginse would have increased by approximately
$1,433,000. In addition, for each $10,000,000 ebaats receivable we discount over a period ofd&@s, a 1% increase in interest rates would
increase our interest expense by $50,000.
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Foreign currency risl

We are exposed to foreign currency exchange risé&rgnt in our anticipated purchases and expensesrdeated in currencies other than the U.S.
dollar. We transact business in the following fgrecurrencies; Mexican pesos, Malaysian ringitg8pore dollar, Chinese yuan, and the Canadian
dollar. Our primary currency risk results from fluations in the value of the Mexican peso. To maitgthis risk, we enter into forward foreign
currency exchange contracts to exchange U.S. ddtfaMexican pesos. The Company also enters omedrd foreign currency exchange contracts
to exchange U.S. dollars for Chinese yuan in ordenitigate the risk related to its purchases aayhents to its Chinese vendors. The extent to
which we use forward foreign currency exchangeremts is periodically reviewed in light of our estite of market conditions and the terms and
length of anticipated requirements. The use ofvdérie financial instruments allows us to reduce eéxposure to the risk that the eventual net cash
outflow resulting from funding the expenses of thkeign operations will be materially affected byaonges in exchange rates. These contracts
generally expire in a year or less. Any changeheénfair values of our forward foreign currency leange contracts are reflected in current period
earnings. Based upon our forward foreign currenchange contracts related to these currenciesiaedse of 10% in exchange rates at March 31,
2013 would have increased our general and adnatigtrexpenses by approximately $1,657,000. Duistal 2013 and 2012, a gain of $804,000
and a loss of $476,000, respectively, were recondgéneral and administrative expenses due totihage in the value of the forward foreign
currency exchange contracts subsequent to entetimghe contracts.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat

The information required by this item is set faritthe consolidated financial statements, commenompage F-1 included herein.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accoumés on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have established disclosure controls and preesda ensure that the information required toibelased by the Company in the reports that it
files or submits under the Securities Exchangeohdi934 is recorded, processed, summarized andtegpwithin the time periods specified in the
SEC rules and forms and that such information ésiamulated and made known to the officers who getti€ Company’s financial reports and to
other members of senior management and the Bodditedtors as appropriate to allow timely decisioegarding required disclosures.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomainagement, including our Chief Executive Officgnjef Financial Officer, and Chief
Accounting Officer, we have conducted an evaluatibthe effectiveness of our disclosure controld procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(b) and 15d-15(e). Based on this evaluatiand that the Company has remediated the prigrmpagerial weakness in internal control over
financial reporting described below under Changdsternal Control Over Financial Reporting — ouni&f Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer, and Chief Accounting Officer concluded titae MPA's disclosure controls and procedures vefiective as of March 31, 2013.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for estabyj and maintaining adequate internal controt émancial reporting as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) .

Internal control over financial reporting is a pess designed to provide reasonable assurance irggénd reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappsges in accordance with accounting principlesgdly accepted in the United States of America,
applying certain estimates and judgments as redjuire
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Internal control over financial reporting includé®se policies and procedures that:

1. Pertain to the maintenance of records thagasanable detail, accurately and fairly reflecttthasactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company;

2. Provide reasonable assurance that transactiome@raled as necessary to permit preparation ofi¢iahstatements in accordance with gene
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdseaxpenditures of the company are being madeinrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company;

3. Provide reasonable assurance regarding prewentiomely detection of unauthorized acquisitioge, or disposition of the compagydssets th
could have a material effect on the financial stegmsts.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohover financial reporting may not prevent or @étmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods afgext to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedumnay deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomainagement, including our Chief Executive Officgjef Financial Officer, and Chief

Accounting Officer, we conducted an evaluationhaf effectiveness of our internal control over ficiahreporting based on the criteria established in
Internal Control— Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission. Based on this
evaluation — and that the Company has remediatedribr year material weakness in internal corgrar financial reporting described below under
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repgrtin management concluded that the Company’s iateontrol over financial reporting was
effective as of March 31, 2013 .

The effectiveness of our internal control over fiol reporting as of March 31, 2013 has been addiyy the Company’s independent registered
public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP. Theirsessment is included in the accompanying Repdrd&pendent Registered Public Accounting
Firm on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Other than the items noted immediately below, thezee no changes in MPA's internal control oveafinial reporting during the fourth quarter
ended March 31, 2013 that have materially affeatedye reasonably likely to materially affect, MBAnternal control over financial reporting.

Initial Assessment of Acquired Business

On May 6, 2011, MPA acquired Fenco, a privately-editoronto-based manufacturer, remanufacturer etidbditor of new and remanufactured
aftermarket auto parts. As permitted by SEC guidawhich allows for a one-year integration periménagement excluded the operations related tc
Fenco from its assessment of MPA internal contvelrdinancial reporting as of March 31, 2012.

Over the course of fiscal year 2013, the executiofenco’s internal control over financial repogiwas completed and the initial annual assessment
of internal controls over financial reporting wamducted.

Accounting Application Conversion and Centralizatio

On October 1, 2012, the Fenco financial and opegatystems were converted to the applications asBtPA. In conjunction with this system
conversion, Fenco accounting was also centraliz&Ps headquarters in Torrance, California.

Remediation of Prior Year Material Weakness

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, then@any reported the existence of a material weakingssinternal control over financial reporti
relating to Fenco, a business acquired by MPA oy §&2011.
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A material weakness is a deficiency, or combinatibdeficiencies, in internal control over finariaieporting such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the pany’s annual or interim financial statements waudd be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Since the acquisition of Fenco, we were unabl@rely file our Quarterly Reports pursuant to Sectl® or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 for the second, third and fourth quarterswffiscal year 2012, and first and second quadeour fiscal year 2013. As a result, we concluded
that our internal control over financial reportiwgs not effective because of the existence of @madtveakness in our financial statement close
process at Fenco. In response to the material vesakmwe conducted a review of the internal comivel financial reporting at Fenco and began
putting in place appropriate oversight and remétiatontrols. These changes were expected to perare timely reporting of consolidated
financial results going forward.

For additional information regarding the materia@akness and remediating controls, refer to ltemQ®@#trols and Procedures in the Company’s
report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended Ma3th2012, and Item 4, Controls and ProcedurelsérCompany’s subsequent quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal 2013 quarters ended Jn@B12, September 30, 2012, and December 31, 2012.

Over the course of fiscal year 2013, the aforemeeti remediating controls were evaluated as pdheoinitial assessment of internal controls over
financial reporting for the acquired business. Tdmults of that assessment are reported aboveaimalfement’s Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting, which found no material weas® our financial statement close process ancée

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

50




Table of Content
PART IlI
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance

The information required by this item is incorp@cby reference to our Definitive Proxy Statemertonnection with our next Annual Meeting of
Stockholders (“ the Proxy Statement”).

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorp@cby reference to the Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @vners And Management and Related Stockholder Matters
The information required by this item is incorp@cby reference to the Proxy Statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transaans, and Director Independence

The information required by this item is incorp@cby reference to the Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorp@cby reference to the Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Iltem 15.Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

a. Documents filed as part of this report:

(1) Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfing 63

Consolidated Balance She: F-1

Consolidated Statements of Operati F-2

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Losgnie F-3

Consolidated Statement of Sharehol’ Equity F-4

Consolidated Statements of Cash Fl¢ F-5

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemt F-6
(2) Schedules:

Schedule I— Valuation and Qualifying Accoun S-1
(3) Exhibits:

Number Description of Exhibit Method of Filing

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of the Company Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the @any’s Registration

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

4.1

4.2

4.3

Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of then@many

Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of thenGmany

Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of thengmany

Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of then@many

Amended and Restated -Laws of the Compan

Specimen Certificate of the Company’s common stock

Form of Underwriter's common stock purchase warrant

1994 Stock Option Plan

Statement on Form SB-2 declared effective on Ma@&;HL994 (the “1994
Registration Stateme”).

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the @amy’'s Registratior
Statement on Form S-1 (No. 33-97498) declared &f'=on November
14, 1995 (th¢*1995 Registration Statem).

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the @am’s Annual Repor
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 3197.&he “1997 Form
1C-K").

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the @any’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 3198 &he “1998 Form
1C-K").

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit C to the Cony's proxy statemer
on Schedule 14A filed with the SEC on NovemberZi)3.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to ther€ar Report on Form-K
filed on August 24, 201(

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the4l8&gistration
Statement

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to thedl8&gistration
Statement

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to thedl8@gistration
Statement
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Number Description of Exhibit Method of Filing
4.4 Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to thedl8@gistration
Statement.
4.5 1994 Nor-Employee Director Stock Option Pl Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the @am’s Annual Repor
on Form 1+-KSB for the fiscal year ended March 31, 19
4.6 1996 Stock Option Pla Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the @any’'s Registratior
Statement on Form S-2 (No. 333-37977) declared®ff=on November
18, 1997 (th¢*1997 Registration Statem).
4.7 2003 Long Term Incentive Plan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9 to the @any’s Registration
Statement on Form-8 filed with the SEC on April 2, 200.
4.8 2004 Nor-Employee Director Stock Option Pl Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the FrSiatement o
Schedule 14A for the 2004 Annual Shareholders Mge
4.9 Registration Rights Agreement among the Companyttz Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CuriReport on Form-K
investors identified on the signature pages thedgted as filed on May 18, 2007.
of May 18, 2007
4.10 Form of Warrant to be issued by the Company tostors  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to CurifReport on Form 8-K
in connection with the May 2007 Private Placen filed on May 18, 2007
411 2010 Incentive Award Plan Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the FrStatement on
Schedule 14A filed on December 15, 20
412 Amended and Restated 2010 Incentive Award Plan Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Fr8iatement on
Schedule 14A filed on March 5, 201
10.1 Amendment to Lease, dated October 3, 1996, by and Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to tlez&@mber 31, 1996 For
between the Company and Golkar Enterprises, Lidting  10-Q.
to additional property in Torrance, Califorr
10.2 Lease Agreement, dated September 19, 1995, b Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to tB85.Registratiol
between Golkar Enterprises, Ltd. and the Compalayimg  Statement.
to the Compar’s facility located in Torrance, Californ
10.3 Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated aspof A,  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to tB87LForm 10-K.
1997, by and among the Company, Mel Marks, Richarc
Marks and Vincent Quek relating to the acquisitdMVR
and Unijoh
10.4 Form of Indemnification Agreement for officers and Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to tB87LRegistration

directors

Statement
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Number

Description of Exhibit

Method of Filing

10.5

10.6*

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11*

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16*

Second Amendment to Lease, dated March 15, 2002,
between Golkar Enterprises, Ltd. and the Compalayimg
to property in Torrance, Californ

Addendum to Vendor Agreement, dated May 8, 2!
between AutoZone Parts, Inc. and the Comg

Form of Orbian Discount Agreement between the Cay,
and Orbian Corg

Form of Standard Industrial/Commercial Multi-Tenant
Lease, dated May 25, 2004, between the Company anc
Golkar Enterprises, Ltd for property located at 5&ple
Avenue, Torrance, Californ

Build to Suit Lease Agreement, dated October 2842
among Motorcar Parts de Mexico, S.A. de CV, the
Company and Beatrix Flourie Geoffr

Amendment No. 3 to Pay-On-Scan Addendum, dated
August 22, 2006, between AutoZone Parts, Inc. had t
Company

Amendment No. 1 to Vendor Agreement, dated Augs
2006, between AutoZone Parts, Inc. and MotorcatsRdr
America, Inc.

Lease Agreement Amendment, dated October 12, 200t
between the Company and Beatrix Flourie Gef

Third Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated as of
November 20, 2006, between Motorcar Parts of Amag
Inc. and Golkar Enterprises, Li

Securities Purchase Agreement among the Companthe
investors identified on the signature pages thedgted as
of May 18, 2007

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datef
December 31, 2008, by and between the Company anc
Selwyn Joffe

Vendor Agreement dated as of March 31, 2009, betwles
Company and AutoZone Parts, i

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to th6210-K.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to tA821(-K.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to tA821(-K.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to th8£210-K.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to CuriReport on Form-K
filed on November 2, 2004.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to CuriiRaport on Form 8-K
filed on August 30, 2006.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to CuriiReport on Form-K
filed on August 30, 2006.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to CurifRaport on Form 8-K
filed on October 20, 200!

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to CuriiRaport on Form 8-K
filed on November 27, 2006.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CuriReport on Form-K
filed on May 18, 2007.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CurifRaport on Form 8-K
filed January 7, 2009.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CuriiReport on Form-K
filed May 5, 2009
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Number

Description of Exhibit

Method of Filing

10.17*

10.18 *

10.19 *

10.20 *

10.21 *

10.22 *

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

Core Amendment to Vendor Agreement, dated as otM
31, 2009, between the Company and AutoZone Paxis

Vendor Agreement Addendum, dated as of March 309;
between the Company and AutoZone Parts,

Core Amendment to Vendor Agreement Addendum, d
as of March 31, 2009, between the Company and Aure
Parts, Inc

Master Vendor Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2009,
between the Company anc¢ Reilly Automotive, Inc.

Letter Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2009, betwibe
Company and ’'Reilly Automotive, Inc.

Vendor Agreement Addendum, dated as of April 1,200
between the Company anc Reilly Automotive, Inc.

Debenture, dated August 24, 2010, issued by Fenwick
Automotive Products Limited to Motorcar Parts of Anica
Inc.

Addendum to Unanimous Shareholders Agreement, (
August 24, 2010, between Motorcar Parts of Amelioe,
Fenwick Enterprises Inc., Escal Holdings Inc., Fgnc
Holdings Inc., Jofen Holdings Inc., Gordon Fenwikkul
Fenwick, Joel Fenwick, Stanley Fenwick, Karen Feyvi
Jack Shuster and FAPL Holdings i

Amended and Restated Debenture, dated December 1
2010, issued by Fenwick Automotive Products Limiied
Motorcar Parts of America, In

Amended and Restated Addendum to Unanin
Shareholders Agreement, dated December 15, 2010,
between Motorcar Parts of America, Inc., Fenwick
Enterprises Inc., Jack Shuster, Gordon Fenwickl Pau
Fenwick, Joel Fenwick, FAPL, Fenwick Automotive
Products Limited, Introcan Inc., Escal Holdings.]nc
Fencity Holdings Inc. and Jofen Holdings |

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CurifRaport on Form 8-K
filed May 5, 2009

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CurifReport on Form-
K/A filed on December 23, 200

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CurifReport on Form-
K/A filed on December 23, 2009.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CurifRaport on Form 8-K
filed on January 13, 201

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CuriiRaport on Form 8-K
filed on January 13, 201

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to CutrifRaport on Form 8-K
filed on January 13, 201

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CuriiRaport on Form 8-K
filed on August 30, 2010.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CuriReport on Form-K
filed on August 30, 2010.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CuriiRaport on Form 8-K
filed on December 21, 2010.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CuriReport on Form-K
filed on December 21, 2010.

55




Table of Content

Number

Description of Exhibit

Method of Filing

10.27*

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

Consignment Agreement, dated as of March 1, 20thbng
Motorcar Parts of America, Inc., Rafko Logisticg.ln
Fenwick Automotive Products Limited and FAPL Holglé
Inc.

Purchase Agreement, dated May 6, 2011, by and amor
Motorcar Parts of America, Inc., FAPL Holdings Ingack
Shuster, Gordon Fenwick, Paul Fenwick and Joel ke

Hold Agreement, dated May 6, 2011, between Motc
Parts of America, Inc. and FAPL Holdings |i

Escrow Agreement, dated May 6, 2011, by and an
Motorcar parts of America, Inc., FAPL Holdings Indack
Shuster, Gordon Fenwick, Paul Fenwick, Joel Fenaiuk
Strikeman Elliott LLF

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated M
2011, by and among Fenwick Automotive Products
Limited, Introcan Inc., Manufactures and Tradersstr
Company, M&T Bank and such other lenders from time
time as may become a party ther

Core Amendment No. 3 to Vendor Agreement, dateaf
May 31, 2011, by and between Motorcar Parts of Acaer
Inc. and AutoZone Parts, In

Core Amendment No. 4 to Vendor Agreement, dateaf a:
May 31, 2011, by and between Motorcar Parts of Acaer
Inc. and AutoZone Parts, In

Addendum No. 2 to Amendment No. 1 to Ven
Agreement, dated as of May 31, 2011, by and between
Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. and AutoZone Pdrts,

Purchase Agreement, dated May 6, 2011, by and amor
Motorcar Parts of America, Inc., FAPL Holdings Ingack
Shuster, Gordon Fenwick, Paul Fenwick and Joel k&n

Hold Agreement, dated May 6, 2011, between Motc
Parts of America, Inc. and FAPL Holdings Ii

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CurifRaport on Form 8-K
filed on March 7, 2011.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CurifRaport on Form 8-K
filed on May 12, 2011.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CuriiReport on Form-K
filed on May 12, 2011

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to CuriReport on Form-K
filed on May 12, 2011.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to CuriReport on Form-K
filed on May 12, 2011.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CuriiReport on Form-K
filed on June 16, 2011.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CurifRaport on Form 8-K
filed on June 16, 2011.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to CuriReport on Form-K
filed on June 16, 2011.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CuriiRaport on Form 8-K
filed on May 12, 2011.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CuriiReport on Form-K
filed on May 12, 2011
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Number

Description of Exhibit

Method of Filing

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42

10.43

10.44

10.45

Escrow Agreement, dated May 6, 2011, by and among
Motorcar Parts of America, Inc., FAPL Holdings Ingack
Shuster, Gordon Fenwick, Paul Fenwick, Joel Fenaiuk
Stikeman Elliott LLF

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated May |
2011, by and among Fenwick Automotive Products
Limited, Introcan Inc., Manufacturers and Tradersst
Company, M&T Bank and such other lenders from ttme
time as may become a party ther

Fifth Amendment, dated as of November 17, 2011hao
certain Standard Industrial Commercial Single Ténan
Lease-Gross, dated as of September 19, 1995, betwee
Golkar Enterprises, Ltd and Motorcar Parts of Arceeri
Inc., as amende

Financing Agreement, dated as of January 18, 261thg
Motorcar Parts of America, Inc., each lender frametto
time party thereto, Cerberus Business Finance, ldsC,
collateral agent, and PNC Bank, National Assocatas
administrative ager

Subscription Agreement, dated April 20, 2(

Registration Rights Agreement, dated April 20, 2

Right of First Refusal Agreement, dated May 3, 2

Employment Agreement, dated as of May 18, 2012,
between Motorcar Parts of America, Inc., and Selyifie

Second Amendment to the Financing Agreement, dae!
of May 24, 2012, among Motorcar Parts of Americe, |
each lender from time to time party thereto, Carber
Business Finance, LLC, as collateral agent, and Bk,
National Association, as administrative ag

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to CurifRaport on Form 8-K
filed on May 12, 2011.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to CurifRaport on Form 8-K
filed on May 12, 2011.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CurifRaport on Form 8-K
filed on November 25, 2011.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CuriReport on Form-K
filed on January 24, 2012.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CuriiReport on Form-K
filed on April 23, 2012

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CuriiReport on Form-K
filed on April 23, 2012

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CuriReport on Form-K
filed on May 7, 2012

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CurifRaport on Form 8-K
filed on May 24, 2012

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CuriiRaport on Form 8-K
filed on May 31, 2012.
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10.46

10.47

10.48

10.49

10.50

10.51

10.52

10.53

Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated May 242,2(
issued by Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. to Cenber
Business Finance, LLC in connection with the Second
Amendment to the Financing Agreem

Revolving Credit/Strategic Cooperation Agreemeated
as of August 22, 2012, by and among Motorcar RHrts
America, Inc. (solely for purposes of provisiongafied
thereto), Fenwick Automotive Products Limited and
Wanxiang America Corporatic

Guaranty, dated as of August 22, 2012, by MotoReats o
America, Inc. for the benefit of Wanxiang America
Corporation

Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated as of A&3
2012, issued by Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. to
Wanxiang America Corporatic

Third Amendment and Waiver to the Financing Agreety
dated as of August 22, 2012, among Motorcar Pérts o
America, Inc., each lender from time to time pdhgreto,
Cerberus Business Finance, LLC, as collateral agewlt
PNC Bank, National Association as administrativerda

Amendment No. 2 to the Amended and Restated C
Agreement, dated as of August 22, 2012, by and gmon
Fenwick Automotive Products Limited, Introcan Inc.,
Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, as lead
arranger, and M&T Bank, as administrative agentand
lender

Stock Repurchase Agreement, dated as of December
2012, by and among Motorcar Parts of America, Nl
Marks and Melmarks Enterprises LLI

Fourth Amendment to Financing Agreement, dated
December 3, 2012, among Motorcar Parts of Ameha,
each lender from time to time party thereto, Carber
Business Finance, LLC, as collateral agent, and Bhidk,
National Association, as administrative ag

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CurifRaport on Form 8-K
filed on May 31, 2012.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CurifRaport on Form 8-K
filed on August 28, 2012.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CurifRaport on Form 8-K

filed on August 28, 2012.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to CuriReport on Form-K
filed on August 28, 2012.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to CuriiRaport on Form 8-K

filed on August 28, 2012.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to CuriReport on Form-K
filed on August 28, 2012.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CurifRaport on Form 8-K
filed on December 6, 2012.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CuriiReport on Form-K
filed on December 6, 2012.
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Number Description of Exhibit Method of Filing
10.54 Option Purchase Agreement, dated as of Januar3Ol, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CurifRaport on Form 8-K
by and between Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. 8aellvyr filed on January 17, 2013.
Joffe
10.55 Fifth Amendment to Financing Agreement, dated & Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CuriReport on Form-K
January 16, 2013, among Motorcar Parts of Amehea, filed on January 17, 2013.
each lender from time to time party thereto, Carber
Business Finance, LLC, as collateral agent, and Bhidk,
National Association, as administrative ag
10.56 Amendment No. 3 to the Amended and Restated Credi Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Curifeeport on Form 8-K
Agreement, dated as of February 13, 2013, by armhgm filed on February 20, 2013.
Fenwick Automotive Products Limited, Introcan Inc.,
Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, as lead
arranger, and M&T Bank, as administrative agentand
lender
10.57 Mel Marks Agreement, dated and effective as of M&@t, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CuriReport on Form-K
2013, among Motorcar Parts of America, Inc., Melkéa filed on May 16, 2013.
and Mel Marks Enterprises LLL
10.58 Sixth Amendment to Financing Agreement, dated akiné  Filed herewith.
14, 2013, among Motorcar Parts of America, Incchea
lender from time to time party thereto, CerberusiBess
Finance, LLC, as collateral agent, and PNC BanlkioNal
Association, as administrative agr
14.1 Code of Business Conduct and Ett Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.48 to tA@2Form 1-K.
21.1 List of Subsidiarie! Filed herewith
23.0 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriting  Filed herewith
Ernst & Young LLP
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant$ectior Filed herewith
302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2C
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant$ectior  Filed herewith
302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2C
31.3 Certification of Chief Accounting Officer pursuaot Filed herewith

Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2
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32.1 Certifications of Chief Executive Officer, Chiefrfancial Filed herewith.
Officer and Chief Accounting Officer pursuant tocBen
906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2C

101.1 The following financial information from MotorcamRs of  Furnished herewitt
America, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for tieal
year ended March 31, 2013, formatted in Extens
Business Reporting Language (“XBRL") and furnished
electronically herewith: (i) the Consolidated Balan
Sheets; (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Op®ersayi(iii)
the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss)
Income, (iv) the Consolidated Statement of Shadgrs|
Equity; (v) the Consolidated Statements of CashvEj@and
(vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem

* Portions of this exhibit have been granted confidétreatment by the SEC.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 15(d) @S&écurities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrastduly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authdrize

MOTORCAR PARTS OF AMERICA, INC

Dated: June 17, 2013 By: /s/ David Lee

David Lee

Chief Financial Office
Dated: June 17, 201 By: /s/ Kevin Daly

Kevin Daly

Chief Accounting Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this Report on Form 10-K has tmgned by the following persons on behalf of
the Registrant in the capacities and on the datiedted:

/s/ Selwyn Joffe Chief Executive Officer and Director June 17, 2013
Selwyn Joffe (Principal Executive Officer
/s/ David Lee Chief Financial Office June 17, 201
David Lee (Principal Financial Officer
/s/ Kevin Daly Chief Accounting Office June 17, 201
Kevin Daly (Principal Accounting Officer
/s/ Mel Marks Director June 17, 2013
Mel Marks
/s/ Scott Adelsol Director June 17, 2013
Scott Adelsor
/s/ Rudolph Borne: Director June 17, 201
Rudolph Bornec
/s/ Philip Gay Director June 17, 201
Philip Gay
/s/ Duane Millet Director June 17, 2013
Duane Miller
/s/ Jeffrey Mirvis Director June 17, 2013

Jeffrey Mirvis
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of MotoRzmts of America, Inc.

We have audited Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. suigsidiaries’ internal control over financial rejiray as of March 31, 2013 based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framéwissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organinatiaf the Treadway Commission (the COSO
criteria). Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. and ddizsies’ management is responsible for maintairgffgctive internal control over financial
reporting, and for its assessment of the effectégsrof internal control over financial reportinglirded in the accompanying Management’'s Report
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Oesponsibility is to express an opinion on the camyfsainternal control over financial reporting
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statelof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@q&@nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether effective@iteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal corgv@r financial reporting, assessing the risk ¢hat
material weakness exists, testing and evaluatiegl@sign and operating effectiveness of internafrobbased on the assessed risk, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necesshgy aircumstances. We believe that our audit piesia reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesssuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsiéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesiatepted accounting principles. A company’s
internal control over financial reporting includésse policies and procedures that (1) pertaiheanaintenance of records that, in reasonableldetai
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disgositions of the assets of the company; (2) igereasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation afidiahstatements in accordance with generally aecepccounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made ordgd@ordance with authorizations of management amdtdirs of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tideggction of unauthorized acquisition, use, opatétion of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohover financial reporting may not prevent or @étmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgext to the risk that controls may become inadégbecause of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedumnay deteriorate.

In our opinion, Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. aubsidiaries maintained, in all material respegffgctive internal control over financial
reporting as of March 31, 2013, based on COSOrizite

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdz# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of Motorcar Parts of America, Ind.subsidiaries as of March 31, 2013 and 2012{laadelated consolidated statements of
operations, comprehensive income (loss), sharef®leguity and cash flows for each of the threey@athe period ended March 31, 2013 and our
report dated June 17, 2013 expressed an unquadifieibn thereon that included an explanatory paagly regarding Motorcar Parts of America, Inc.
and subsidiaries’ ability to continue as a goingazn.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

Los Angeles, Californi
June 17, 201
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of MotoRzmts of America, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. arbisliaries (the “Company” or
“Consolidated Companies”) as of March 31, 2013 202, and the related consolidated statementsesfitipns, comprehensive income (loss),
shareholders' equity and cash flows for each oftitee years in the period ended March 31, 2018.a0dits also included the financial statement
schedule listed in the index at Item 15(a)(2). Enfgzancial statements are the responsibility ef@ompany’'s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statemerstschan our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBaUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether the finastaiainents are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidenpporting the amounts and disclosures in thenéig statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significannestés made by management, as well as evaluatirayérell financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable Basizur opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of Motorcar
Parts of America, Inc. and subsidiaries at March2®1l3 and 2012, and the consolidated resultsedf tperations and their cash flows for each o
three years in the period ended March 31, 2018piviormity with U.S. generally accepted accounginigciples. Also, in our opinion, the related
financial statement schedule, when considerediatioa to the basic consolidated financial statetsi¢éeken as a whole, presents fairly in all materia
respects the information set forth therein.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemesng been prepared assuming that Motorcar Pa#mefica, Inc. and subsidiaries will
continue as a going concern. As more fully describeNote 1 to the financial statements, the Comgjzawholly owned subsidiary Fenwick
Automotive Products Limited (“Fencoljas recurring operating losses since the datecpfisition and has a working capital and an equétfyciency.
In addition, Fenco has not complied with certaimes@nts of its loan agreements with its bank. Tlceselitions relating to Fenco coupled with the
significance of Fenco to the Consolidated Compaméase substantial doubt about the Consolidatadamies’ ability to continue as a going
concern. Management'’s plans in regard to theseensadtso are described in Note 1. The consolidatadcial statements do not include any
adjustments to reflect the possible future effectshe recoverability and classification of assetthe amounts and classification of liabilitieatth
may result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stadsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bio@/nited States), Motorcar Parts of
America, Inc.'s internal control over financial ogfing as of March 31, 2013, based on criterialdisfaed in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifrike Treadway Commission and our report datee 17, 2013 expressedn unqualified
opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

Los Angeles, Californi
June 17, 201
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MOTORCAR PARTS OF AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
March 31,

ASSETS
Current assett
Cash
Shor-term investment
Accounts receivabl— net
Inventorny— net
Inventory unreturne
Deferred income taxe
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current asse
Plant and equipme— net
Long-term core inventor— net
Long-term core inventory deposi
Long-term deferred income tax
Goodwill
Intangible assei— net
Other assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Customer finished goods returns acci
Other current liabilitie:
Current portion of term loa
Revolving loar- in default
Term loan - in default
Total current liabilities
Term loan, less current porti
Revolving loar
Deferred core revent
Customer core returns accri
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingenci
Shareholders' equit
Preferred stock; par value $.01 per share, 5,000:8@res authorized; none issi
Series A junior participating preferred stock; palue $.01 per share, 20,000 shares authorized issnec
Common stock; par value $.01 per share, 20,0068a6es authorized; 14,460,979 and 12,533,821 s
issued; 14,460,979 and 12,519,421 outstanding athv&l, 2013 and 2012, respectiv
Treasury stock, at cost, none at March 31, 201314dD0 shares of common stock at March 31, :
Additional paic-in capital
Additional paic-in capita-warrant
Accumulated other comprehensive I
Accumulated deficit
Total shareholders' (deficit) equi

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

2013 2012
$ 1943400 $ 32,617,00
411,00( 342,00(
14,311,00 20,036,00
61,090,00 95,071,00
12,150,00 9,819,00!
34,885,00 3,793,001
10,350,00 6,553,001
152,631,00  168,231,00
14,083,00 12,738,00
158,476,00  194,406,00
27,610,00 26,939,00
2,546,001 1,857,001

- 68,356,00

3,983,00! 22,484,00
7,745,00 6,887,00

$ 367,074,00 $ 501,898,00
$ 113,753,00 $ 126,100,00
14,856,00 19,379,00
24,978,00 21,695,00
3,009,001 2,745,00
3,900,001 500,00
49,277,00 -
10,000,00 -
219,773,00  170,419,00
80,110,00 84,500,00

- 48,884,00

12,014,00 9,775,00!
50,414,00  113,702,00
8,277,00 999,00
370,588,00  428,279,00
145,00 125,00

- (89,000

114,737,00 98,627,00

- 1,879,001

(846,00() (884,00()
(117,550,00)  (26,039,00)
(3,514,000 __ 73,619,00

$ 367,074,00 $ 501,898,00

The accompanying notes to consolidated financiéstents are an integral part hereof.
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MOTORCAR PARTS OF AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
Net sales $ 406,266,00 $ 363,687,00 $ 161,285,00
Cost of goods sold 350,538,00 335,980,00 109,903,00
Gross profit 55,728,00 27,707,00 51,382,00
Operating expense
General and administrati 44 526,00 38,881,00 17,033,00
Sales and marketir 12,713,00 12,804,00 6,537,001
Research and developm 2,628,001 1,765,00! 1,549,00!
Impairment of goodwill and intangible ass 84,686,00 - -
Impairment of plant and equipme - 1,031,00! -
Acquisition costs - 713,00( 879,00(
Total operating expens: 144,553,00 55,194,00 25,998,00
Operating (loss) incom (88,825,00) (27,487,00) 25,384,00
Interest expense, n 24,406,00 14,255,00 5,355,00!
(Loss) income before income tax (benefit) expe (113,231,00) (41,742,00) 20,029,00
Income tax (benefit) expen (21,720,00) 6,772,00! 7,809,00!
Net (loss) incom: $ (91,511,00) $ (48,514,000 $ 12,220,00
Basic net (loss) income per share $ (6.39) $ (3.90 $ 1.01
Diluted net (loss) income per sh: $ (6.39 $ (3.90 $ 0.9¢
Weighted average number of shares outstan:
Basic 14,327,31 12,442,68 12,042,422
Diluted 14,327,31 12,442,68 12,334,33

The accompanying notes to consolidated financiéstents are an integral part hereof.
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MOTORCAR PARTS OF AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss) lome
Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
Net (loss) incom: $ (91,511,00) $ (48,514,00) $ 12,220,00
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of
Unrealized gain (loss) on sh-term investment 162,00( 70,00( (3,000
Foreign currency translatic (124,000 (605,000 1,080,00!
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 38,00( (535,000 1,077,00!
Comprehensive (loss) income $ (91,473,00) $ (49,049,000 $ 13,297,00

The accompanying notes to consolidated financiéstents are an integral part hereof.
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MOTORCAR PARTS OF AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statement of Shareholders’ Equity

Common Stock

For the Years Ended March 31,

Treasury Stock

Additional Accumulated
Paid-in Additional Other Retained
Capital Paid-in  Comprehensive  Earnings
Common Capital Income (Loss) (Accumulated
Shares Amount Shares Amount Stock Warrants Deficit) Total
Balance at March 31, 20 12,026,02 $120,00( -3 - $92,792,00 $1,879,000 $ (1,426,00)$ 10,255,00 $103,620,00
Compensatiol - - - - 59,00( - - - 59,00(
recognized under
employee stock plar
Exercise of option 52,25( 1,00(C - - 199,00( - - - 200,00(
Tax benefit from - - - - 123,00( - - - 123,00(
employee stock
options exercise
Impact of tax benefit o - - - - (33,000 - - - (33,000
APIC pool
Repurchase of commc - - (14,400 (89,000 - - - - (89,000
stock including fee
Unrealized gain o - - - - - - (3,000 - (3,000
investments, net of
tax
Foreign currenc - - - - - - 1,080,00! - 1,080,00!
translation
Net income - - - - - - - 12,220,00 12,220,00
Balance at March 31, 20 12,078,27 $121,00( (14,4000 $ (89,000 $ 93,140,00 $ 1,879,00 $ (349,000 $ 22,475,00 $117,177,00
Compensatiol - - - - 52,00( - - - 52,00(
recognized under
employee stock plar
Exercise of option 95,55( 1,00( - 320,00( - - - 321,00(
Tax benefit from - - - - 255,00( - - - 255,00(
employee stock
options exercise
Impact of tax benefit o - - - - (83,000 - - - (83,000)
APIC pool
Common stock issued 360,00t 3,00( - - 4,943,00! - - - 4,946,001
as consideration for
acquisition
Unrealized gain on - - - - - - 70,00( - 70,00(
investments, net of
tax
Foreign currency - - - - - - (605,000 - (605,000
translation
Net loss - - - - - - - (48,514,00) (48,514,00)
Balance at March 31, 20 12,533,82 $125,00( (14,400 $ (89,000 $ 98,627,00 $ 1,879,00' $ (884,000 $ (26,039,00) $ 73,619,00
Compensatiol - - - - 752,00( - - - 752,00(
recognized under
employee stock plar
Common stock issue 52,53( 1,00( 241,00( 242,00(
under stock plans, n
of shares withheld fc
employee taxe
Repurchase of options (455,001) (455,000
granted
Tax benefit from - - - - 171,00( - - - 171,00(
employee stock
options exercise
Impact of tax benefit o - - - - (70,000 - - - (70,000

APIC pool



Expired unexercised
warrants

Repurchase of commc
stock including fee

Cancellation of treasur
stock

Common stock issued
connection with PIPI

Stock issuance cos

Common stock issued
lieu of cash for PIPE
liquidated damage

Unrealized gain o
investments, net of
tax

Foreigncurrency
translation

Net loss

Balance at March 31, 20

(52,94)

(67,34) (1,000 67,34

1,936,000  20,00(

5,97¢ =

(300,00()

389,00(

1,879,001

(388,001
14,985,00

(1,034,001
29,00(

(1,879,001

(300,00()

- - 15,005,00
(1,034,00()
29,00(

162,00( - 162,00(

(124,000) - (124,000

- (91,511,00) (91,511,00)

14,460,97 $145,00(

$

$114,737,00 $

$

(846,000 $ (117,550,00) $ (3,514,001

The accompanying notes to consolidated financiéstents are an integral part hereof.
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MOTORCAR PARTS OF AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended March 31,

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net (loss) incomt

Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to Beshc(used in) provided by operating

activities:
Depreciatior
Amortization of intangible asse
Amortization of deferred gain on s-leasebacl
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Amortization of finished goods inventory s-up valuatior
Loss due to change in fair value of warrant lidpi
Provision for inventory reservt
Provision for customer payment discrepen:
Net (recovery of) provision for doubtful accou
Deferred income taxe
Shar-based compensation expel

Impact of tax benefit on APIC pool from stock opisoexercise:

(Gain) loss on redemption of sr-term investmen
Impairment of goodwill and intangible ass
Impairment of plant and equipme
Loss on disposal of assk
Changes in current assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Inventory
Inventory unreturne
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Other asset
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit
Customer finished goods returns acci
Income tax payabl
Deferred core revent
Long-term core inventor
Long-term core inventory deposi
Customer core returns accri
Other liabilities
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activi
Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchase of plant and equipm:
Purchase of business
Long-term note receivabl
Change in short term investme
Net cash used in investing activiti
Cash flows from financing activitie
Borrowings under revolving lozg
Repayments under revolving lo
Proceeds from term lo¢
Repayments of term lo¢
Deferred financing cos
Payments on capital lease obligati
Exercise of stock optior
Excess tax benefit from employee stock optionsased

Impact of tax benefit on APIC pool from stock opigoexercise:

Cash used to net share settle equity aw
Repurchase of common stock and options, includieg
Proceeds from issuance of common sl
Stock issuance costs
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢
Net (decrease) increase in Ci
Cash— Beginning of yea

Cash— End of yeal

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow informat

2013

2012

2011

$ (91,511,00) $ (48,514,00) $ 12,220,00

3,114,00 5,321,001 3,126,00!
2,171,00 2,029,001 774,00(

- - (307,00()

1,702,001 576,000 86,00(

- 3,746,00 -

389,00 - -
17,383,00 3,012,00 1,804,001
2,035,00! 270,00 850,00
659,00 (16,000) (38,000)
(26,611,00) 1,328,001 2,358,001
1,083,001 52,00( 59,00(
70,00 83,00( 33,00

- - (25,000
84,686,00 - -
- 1,031,001 -

40,00( 14,00 37,00
3,032,00 5,517,001 (5,894,00()
25,186,00 (6,342,001) 1,305,001
(2,331,001 5,276,001 (1,107,001
(4,242,001 2,921,00 (3,527,00()
(343,00() (234,00() (245,00()
(17,115,00)  10,259,00 8,885,001
3,283,00! (4,692,001) 1,707,001
464,00 (454,00() (381,00()
2,239,00 1,046,001 2,668,001
27,341,00  (17,045,00)  (13,885,00)
(671,00() (955,000() (216,00()
(63,288,00) (1,388,001) -
174,00 (1,329,001 448,00(
(31,061,00)  (38,488,00)  10,735,00
(4,028,001) (1,554,001) (1,566,001)
- - (464,00()

- - (4,863,001)

(41,000 (37,000 170,00
(4,069,001) (1,591,001) (6,723,001)
85,106,00  151,679,00 46,200,00
(84,713,00)  (152,339,00)  (46,200,00)
10,000,00 85,000,00 -
(500,001) (7,500,001) (2,000,001)
(799,00() (6,560,001) (16,000)
(419,00() (591,00() (975,00()
73,00 320,00 199,00
171,00( 255,00 123,00
(70,000) (83,000) (33,000
(163,00() - -
(755,000() - (89,000
15,005,00 1,000 1,00(
(1,034,00) ) )
21,902,00 70,182,00 (2,790,00)
45,00( 37,00 45,00(
(13,183,00)  30,140,00 1,267,00
32,617,00 2,477,00 1,210,001
$ 19,434,00 $ 32,617,00 2,477,001




Cash paid during the period fi

Interest, ne $ 22,923,000 $ 11,905,000

Income taxes, net of refun 8,128,00!I 3,036,001
Non-cash investing and financing activiti¢

Property acquired under capital lei $ 155,000 $ =

Warrants issued in connection with d 1,625,00! -

Common stock issued in business combing - 4,946,001

The accompanying notes to consolidated financiéstents are an integral part hereof.
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MOTORCAR PARTS OF AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Company Background and Organization
Overview

Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. and its subsidig(igae “Company”, “Consolidated Companies” or “MBAS a leading manufacturer,
remanufacturer, and distributor of aftermarket endabile parts. These replacement parts are solds®ion vehicles after initial vehicle purchase.
These automotive parts are sold to automotiveletain stores and warehouse distributors througNouth America and to major automobile
manufacturers.

The Company obtains used automobile parts, commordyn as Used Cores, primarily from its customarder the Company’s core exchange
program. It also purchases Used Cores from ver(dorse brokers). The customers grant credit to tresemer when the used part is returned to t
and the Company in turn provides a credit to thetamaers upon return to the Company. These Useds@oeean essential material needed for the
remanufacturing operations.

The Company has remanufacturing, warehousing apgisl/receiving operations for automobile partiNiorth America and Asia. In addition, the
Company utilizes various third party warehouserittistion centers in North America.

Basis of Presentation and Going Concern

On May 6, 2011, the Company purchased (i) all efdbtstanding equity of Fenwick Automotive Produdtaited (“FAPL”"), (i) all of the
outstanding equity of Introcan, Inc., a Delawargooation (“Introcan”), and (iii) 1% of the outsting equity of Fapco S.A. de C.V., a Mexican
variable capital company (“Fapco”) (collectivelyzénco”). Since FAPL owned 99% of Fapco prior tasthacquisitions, the Company now owns
100% of Fapco.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemesée been prepared assuming that Motorcar Pa&mefica, Inc. and subsidiaries will continue
as a going concern. The Company’s wholly ownedididry Fenwick Automotive Products Limited (“Fengdias incurred operating losses of
$135,260,000 and $62,814,000 and negative casls fimm operations of $26,092,000 and $53,952,00¢hyears ended March 31, 2013 and
2012, respectively. Fenco has a working capitht@scy and an accumulated deficit of approxima®99,818,000 and $198,074,000 at March 31,
2013, respectively. In addition, under the Fenced@rAgreement, the Company has an outstanding ltesmand revolving debt of $10,000,000 and
$49,277,000 at March 31, 2013, respectively. TheeBeCredit Agreement, among other things, requtergco to maintain a minimum EBITDA of
not less than $6,100,000 for the period from Septart, 2012 to March 31, 2013. As of March 31, 20%hco was not in compliance with this
financial covenant under the Fenco Credit Agreement

During May 2013, Fenco appointed a new board ofpeshdent directors, hired an independent chiefuesiring officer and all its previously
existing officers resigned from FAPL. As a resdlthe loss of control of Fenco, the Company wKkly deconsolidate the financial statements of
Fenco from its consolidated financial statementinguthe first quarter of fiscal 2014. On June 2013, each of FAPL, Introcan and Introcan’s
subsidiaries, Flo-Pro Inc., LH Distribution Inc.alRo Logistics Inc., Rafko Holdings Inc. and Ratknterprises Inc. filed a voluntary petition for
relief under Chapter 7 of Title 11 of the Unite@t®s Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) in the U.S. Bapkey Court for the District of Delaware. As of
March 31, 2013, Fenco’s financial statements ackidied in the consolidated financial statementhefCompany.

These conditions relating to Fenco coupled withsilyeificance of Fenco to the Consolidated Compmaraése substantial doubt about the
Consolidated Companies’ ability to continue as mga@oncern. The consolidated financial stateméatsot include any adjustments to reflect the
possible future effects on the recoverability aladsification of assets or the amounts and classidin of liabilities that may result from the oomce
of this uncertainty.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Segment Reporting

Pursuant to the guidance provided under the FiahAcicounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accountingu&lards Codification (“ASC”), the
Company has two reportable segments, rotatingrelacand undercar product line, based on the WwayGompany manages, evaluates and internally
reports its business activities.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemientade the accounts of Motorcar Parts of Amerina, and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All
significant inter-company accounts and transactiame been eliminated. The assets and liabilifiéeseoCompany’s undercar product line segment,
which filed for bankruptcy on June 10, 2013, aided in the Company’s consolidated financialestents as the Company had effective control of
this subsidiary as of and during the year endedcMad, 2013. (See Note 23 Subsequent Events)

Reclassifications

Certain items in the consolidated balance shedhffiscal year ended March 31, 2012 have bedassfied to conform to fiscal 2013
classifications.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash primarily consists of cash on hand and bapksies. Cash equivalents consist of money marketduThe Company considers all highly liquid
investments purchased with an original or remaimirggurity of less than three months at the dafuoéhase to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash
equivalents are maintained with various finanaiatitutions.

Accounts Receivable

The allowance for doubtful accounts is developeskdaipon several factors including customer crpgitity, historical write-off experience and any
known specific issues or disputes which exist ahefoalance sheet date. Accounts receivable attenvoff only when all collection attempts have
failed. The Company does not require collaterabfmounts receivable.

The Company has receivable discount programs that bheen established with certain customers amdréspective banks. Under these programs,
the Company has the option to sell those customecgivables to those banks at a discount to eedgrpon at the time the receivables are sold.
Once the customer chooses which outstanding ins@oe going to be made available for discountimg,Gompany can accept or decline the bundle
of invoices provided. The receivable discount pangs are non-recourse, and funds cannot be recldignéte customer or its bank after the related
invoices have been discounted.

I nventory
Nor-core Inventory

Nor-core inventory is comprised of non-core raw matsrithe non-core value of work in process anchtirecore value of finished goods. Used
Cores, the Used Core value of work in process Badkemanufactured Core portion of finished good<schassified as long-term core inventory as
described below under the caption “Long-term Corehtory.”

Non-core inventory is stated at the lower of cost arket. The cost of nocere inventory approximates average historical lpase prices paid, and
based upon the direct costs of material and agatitn of labor and variable and fixed overheadscokhe cost of non-core inventory is evaluated at
least quarterly during the fiscal year and adjustedecessary to reflect current lower of cost arket levels. These adjustments are determined for
individual items of inventory within each of tha¢le classifications of non-core inventory as foklow
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* Nor-core raw materials are recorded at average costhvidibased on the actual purchase price of rateniaés on hand. The average co
updated quarterly. This average cost is used ifntrentory costing process and is the basis focation of materials to finished goods
during the production proces

* Non-core work in process is in various stages of petida and is valued at the average cost of mateisabed to open work orders.
Historically, nor-core work in process inventory has not been mateoimpared to the total n-core inventory balanc

« Finished goods cost includes the average costrotonee raw materials and allocations of labor asdable and fixed overhead. The
allocations of labor and variable and fixed ovetheasts are determined based on the average aseiaf the production facilities over the
prior twelve months which approximates normal cégathis method prevents the distortion in all@zhtabor and overhead costs that
would occur during short periods of abnormally lomhigh production. In addition, the Company exelsidertain unallocated overhead <
as severance costs, duplicative facility overhessts; and spoilage from the calculation and expetimese unallocated overhead as period
costs. For the fiscal years ended March 31, 20082 2and 2011, costs of approximately $1,561,00 19,000, and $1,378,000,
respectively, were considered unallocated overlaeadhus excluded from the finished goods cosutation and charged directly to cost of
sales for the Compa’s rotating electrical product lin

The Company records an allowance for potentialgess and obsolete inventory based upon recenthdatesy, the quantity of inventory on-hand,
and a forecast of potential use of the inventohe Tompany periodically reviews inventory to idgnéxcess quantities and part numbers that are
experiencing a reduction in demand. Any part numbeéth quantities identified during this process eeserved for at rates based upon managesnent
judgment, historical rates, and consideration afsiie scrap and liquidation values which may bkigis as 100% of cost if no liquidation marl

exists for the part.

The quantity thresholds and reserve rates arediugeand are based on management’s judgment aowlli&dge of current and projected industry
demand. The reserve estimates may, therefore visedeif there are changes in the overall marketife Company’s products or market changes that
in management’s judgment, impact its ability td seliquidate potentially excess or obsolete ineey. The Company had recorded $24,993,000 and
$11,308,000 for excess and obsolete inventory ativial, 2013 and 2012, respectively. This increese primarily recorded in the Company’s
undercar product line segment in connection withagor customer with whom Fenco discontinued itatiehship during the third quarter of fiscal
2013.

The Company records vendor discounts as a redustimventories that are recognized as a redudtiaost of sales as the inventories are sold.
Inventory Unreturnet

Inventory unreturned represents the Company’s astinbased on historical data and prospectiverivdtion provided directly by the customer, of
finished goods shipped to customers that the Cognpapects to be returned after the balance shéet Blacause all cores are classified separately a
longterm assets, the inventory unreturned balancedeslonly the added unit value of finished good® fturn rate is calculated based on expt
returns within the normal operating cycle of onaryés such, the related amounts are classifiediirent assets.

Inventory unreturned is valued in the same mans¢he Company’s finished goods inventory.

Long-term Core Inventory

Long-term core inventory consists of:

* Used Cores purchased from core brokers and héfyémtory at the Compa’s facilities,

* Used Cores returned by the Comg’s customers and held in inventory at the Com’s facilities,
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* Used Cores returned by e-users to customers but not yet returned to the @ompre classified as Remanufactured Cores uetjl &ine
physically received by the Compar

« Remanufactured Cores held in finished goods invgragbthe Compar’s facilities; anc

* Remanufactured Cores held at customer locatioaspast of finished goods sold to the customer.tkese Remanufactured Cores, the
Company expects the finished good containing thedeifactured Core to be returned under the Compayerieral right of return policy
a similar Used Core to be returned to the Compathé customer, in each case, for cre

Long-term core inventory is recorded at averag®hisal purchase prices determined based on aptuahases of inventory on hand. The cost and
market value of Used Cores for which sufficienter@icpurchases have occurred are deemed the sghemschase price for purchases that are |
in arm’s length transactions.

Long-term core inventory recorded at average hitdbpurchase prices is primarily made up of UsedeS for newer products related to more recent
automobile models or products for which there lissa liquid market. The Company must purchase tbissel Cores from core brokers because its
customers do not have a sufficient supply of thesger Used Cores available for the core exchanggram.

Used Cores obtained in core broker transactionsateed based on average purchase price. The &puaghase price of Used Cores for more
recent automobile models is retained as the coshé&se Used Cores in subsequent periods ever astince of these Used Cores shifts to the core
exchange program.

Long-term core inventory is recorded at the lowfecast or market value. In the absence of sufficienent purchases, the Company uses core broke
price lists to assess whether Used Core cost exdéseld Core market value on an item by item babis.primary reason for the insufficient recent
purchases is that the Company obtains most ofsediiCore inventory from the customer core exchanggram.

The Company classifies all of its core inventodsdong-term assets. The determination of the teng-classification is based on its view that the
value of the cores is not consumed or realizeaghauring the Company’s normal operating cycleéckvis one year for most of the cores recorded
in inventory. According to guidance provided untter FASB ASC, current assets are defined as “assetsources commonly identified as those
which are reasonably expected to be realized in oasold or consumed during the normal operatjradecof the business.” The Company does not
believe that core inventories, which the Compagsifies as lon¢germ, are consumed because the credits issuedthpoaturn of Used Cores off:
the amounts invoiced when the Remanufactured Gocisded in finished goods were sold. The Compawgsdchot expect the core inventories to be
consumed, and thus the Company does not expegaliae cash, until its relationship with a customeds, a possibility that the Company considers
remote based on existing long-term customer agreesaad historical experience.

However, historically for certain finished goodddsahe Company’s customer will not send the Conypaised Core to obtain the credit the
Company offers under its core exchange progranmreftwe, based on the Company’s historical estinthieCompany derecognizes the core value
for these finished goods upon sale, as the Combaligves they have been consumed and the Compangéalized cash.

The Company realizes cash for only the core exah@anggram shortfall. This shortfall representshtstorical difference between the number of
finished goods shipped to customers and the nupftldsed Cores returned to the Company by custoriiées Company does not realize cash for
remaining portion of the cores because the crégfiteed upon the return of Used Cores offset theuatsanvoiced when the Remanufactured Cores
included in finished goods were sold. The Compawgschot expect to realize cash for the remaininmgqgoof these Remanufactured Cores until its
relationship with a customer ends, a possibiligt thhe Company considers remote based on existiggterm customer agreements and historical
experience.

For these reasons, the Company concluded thatibie appropriate to classify core inventory agerm assets.
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Lonc-term Core Inventory Deposit

The long-term core inventory deposit account regmesthe value of Remanufactured Cores the Comparchased from customers, which are held
by the customers and remain on the customers’ gesmirhe purchase is made through the issuancedifscagainst that customer’s receivables
either on a one-time basis or over an agreed-updnd The credits against the customer’s receévabt based upon the Remanufactured Core
purchase price previously established with thearust. At the same time, the Company records thg-ferm core inventory deposit for the
Remanufactured Cores purchased at its cost, detednais noted under Long-term Core Inventory. Thg-lerm core inventory deposit is stated at
the lower of cost or market. The cost is estabtishiethe time of the transaction based on the ¢thernt cost, determined as noted under Long-term
Core Inventory. The difference between the credihted and the cost of the long-term core invendeyosit is treated as a sales allowance reducing
revenue. When the purchases are made over an agpeaceriod, the long-term core inventory depissiecorded at the same time the credit is
issued to the customer for the purchase of the Refaetured Cores.

At least annually, and as often as quarterly, reitiations and confirmations are performed to deiee that the number of Remanufactured Cores
purchased, but retained at the customer locatiensains sufficient to support the amounts recoidede long-term core inventory deposit account.
At the same time, the mix of Remanufactured Caesviewed to determine that the aggregate vallReaianufactured Cores in the account has not
changed during the reporting period. The Compamyuaxtes the cost of cores supporting the aggrégageterm core inventory deposit account each
quarter. If the Company identifies any permanedtction in either the number or the aggregate vafuhe Remanufactured Core inventory mix

held at the customer location, the Company wilbrda reduction in the long-term core inventoryaspaccount resulting in a corresponding
increase to cost of sales during that period.

Customer Core Returns Accrual

The estimated fair value of the customer core refiabilities assumed by the Company in connectiith the Fenco acquisition is included in
customer core returns accrual. The Company clasdifie portion of core liability related to theedamventory purchased and on the shelves of its
customers as long-term liabilities. Upon the séla Bemanufactured Core, a core liability is crdaterecord the obligation to provide its customer
with a credit upon the return of a like core by tlustomer. Since the return of a core is baseti®sdle of a remanufactured automobile part to an
end user of its customer, the offset to this ciataility generated by its return to the Companyiteycustomer is usually followed by the sale of a
replacement remanufactured auto part, and thust@p®f the core liability is continually outstand and is recorded as long-term. The amount the
Company has classified as long-term is the pottiabh management projects will remain outstandimgafouninterrupted period extending one year
from the balance sheet.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using thditiamethod, which measures deferred income tdeapplying enacted statutory rates in ef
at the balance sheet date to the differences battheeax basis of assets and liabilities and tiegiorted amounts in the financial statements. The
resulting asset or liability is adjusted to reflebainges in the tax laws as they occur. A valualtmwance is provided to reduce deferred tax asset
when it is more likely than not that a portion bétdeferred tax asset will not be realized.

The primary components of the Company’s incomeptaxision are (i) the current liability or refundiel for federal, state and foreign income taxes
and (ii) the change in the amount of the net deteincome tax asset, including the effect of argngfe in the valuation allowance.

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependem tiEppCompany’s ability to generate sufficient fettaxable income. Management reviews the
Company's deferred tax assets on a jurisdictiojutigdiction basis to determine whether it is miikkely than not that the deferred tax assets véll b
realized. As a result of Fenco’s cumulative losae=ertain jurisdictions, a determination was mamlestablish a valuation allowance against the
related deferred tax assets as it is not moreylitteln not that such assets will be realized. Rarther jurisdictions, management believes that it
more likely than not that future taxable incomel Wwé sufficient to realize the recorded deferredassets. In evaluating this ability, management
considers the Company’s long-term agreements anthRefactured Core purchase obligations with eaéts ofiajor customers that expire at various
dates through March 2019. Management periodicaltymares its forecasts to actual results. Even tihthwere can be no assurance that the forec
results will be achieved, the history of incomeihother jurisdictions provides sufficient poséievidence that no valuation allowance is needed.
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Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment are stated at cost, less adatedwepreciation and amortization. The cost ditamhs and improvements are capitalized, while
maintenance and repairs are charged to expenseinhened. Depreciation and amortization are predidn a straight-line basis in amounts
sufficient to relate the cost of depreciable asgetperations over their estimated service lidachinery and equipment are amortized over a range
from five to ten years. Office equipment and figsiare amortized over a range from three to tersyBaildings are amortized over 20 years.
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the tifélse respective leases or the service liveb®igasehold improvements, whichever is shorter.
Amortization of assets recorded under capital e&secluded in depreciation expense.

Goodwill

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price dverfair value of identifiable net assets acquiredusiness combinations. Goodwill is not amortized,
but rather is tested for impairment at least arlpwalmore frequently if there are indicators ofpiairment present.

The Company performs the annual goodwill impairnaarlysis in the fourth quarter of each fiscal y@&we Company evaluates whether goodwill
has been impaired at the reporting unit level bst fletermining whether the estimated fair valuthefreporting unit is less than its carrying value
and, if so, by determining whether the implied faifue of goodwill within the reporting unit is Ethan the carrying value. As of March 31, 2018
Company identified the following impairment indioed related to the undercar product line reportinig: (i) continued losses from Fenco operatir
(i) lower forecasted future revenues, (iii) negativorking capital position, (iv) additional finang needs, and (v) the anticipated filing for
bankruptcy.

The Company determined the fair value of the uratgocoduct line reporting unit using a liquidatiecenario. For determining the fair value under
the liquidation scenario, the Company used totsg¢i@sminus estimated liquidation expenses to atoitee proceeds available for senior secured
creditors. Based on the results of the goodwillaimpent test, the reporting unit’s carrying valxeeeded its fair value, indicating an impairment of
goodwill at March 31, 2013. The Company determitieed goodwill was fully impaired as the impliedrfaalue of goodwill within the reporting unit
was zero and recorded a noash goodwill impairment charge of $68,356,000isslased in the consolidated statement of operstidfter recordin
the impairment charge, the undercar product ligenemt had no goodwill remaining in the consoliddtathnce sheet at March 31, 2013.

I ntangible Assets

The Company’s intangible assets other than gooadnalifinite—lived and amortized on a straight lxaeis over their respective useful lives, and are
analyzed for impairment when and if indicatorsrapairment exist. As of March 31, 2013, there warémlicators of impairment for the Company’s
rotating electrical product line. However, the Cany noted impairment indicators for its undercardpict line segment as described above.
Therefore, the Company performed an impairmentaiete undercar product line segment’s intangésisets and concluded that such intangible
assets were fully impaired as of March 31, 2013.

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs include fees and costsried to obtain financing. These fees and costam@rtized using the straight-line method over the
terms of the related loans and are included inésteexpense in the Company’s consolidated statesnoéoperations.
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Foreign Currency Translation

For financial reporting purposes, the functionatency of the foreign subsidiaries is the locakeocy with the exception of the Company’s
subsidiary in Canada for which the U.S. dollahis functional currency since a substantial portibthe purchases and sales are denominated in U.S
dollars. The assets and liabilities of foreign epiens for which the local currency is the functibourrency are translated into the U.S. dollghat
exchange rate in effect at the balance sheetdatks revenues and expenses are translated atggverahange rates during the year. The
accumulated foreign currency translation adjustnigeptesented as a component of comprehensive mooross in the consolidated statement of
shareholders’ equity. For the Company’s subsidiai@anada, for which the U.S. dollar is the funeéibcurrency, monetary assets and liabilities are
translated at exchange rates in effect at the balaheet date and nonmonetary items are translatestorical rates. Revenue and expenses are
translated at average rates in effect during tlae, y@xcept for depreciation and cost of produassalhich are translated at historical rates. Gais
losses from changes in exchange rates are recagnizecome in the year of occurrence.

Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue when performandeeb@ompany is complete and all of the followinigezra have been met:
e Persuasive evidence of an arrangement e;
« Delivery has occurred or services have been redd
e The selle’'s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable,
e Collectability is reasonably assure

For products shipped free-on-board (“FOB”) shippauint, revenue is recognized on the date of shijpnier products shipped FOB destination,
revenues are recognized on the estimated or atatmlof delivery. The Company includes shipping laaddling charges in its gross invoice price to
customers and classifies the total amount as reveéhipping and handling costs are recorded astasstes.

The price of a finished product sold to customsrgenerally comprised of separately invoiced anmsfortthe Remanufactured Core included in the
product (“Remanufactured Core value”) and for theig added by remanufacturing (“unit value”). Urdtue revenue is recorded based on the
Company'’s price list, net of applicable discountd allowances. The Company allows customers tometiow moving and other inventory. The
Company provides for such returns of inventory égucing revenue and cost of sales for the unitevafigoods sold that are expected to be returned
based on a historical return analysis and inforomadbtained from customers about current stockdeve

The Company accounts for revenues and cost of salamet-of-core-value basis. Management hasrdited that the Comparg/business practic
and contractual arrangements result in a signifipartion of the remanufactured automobile partd being replaced by similar Used Cores sent
back for credit by customers under the Companye eachange program. Accordingly, the Company aedithe value of Remanufactured Cores
from revenue.

When the Company ships a product, it recognizesbéigation to accept a similar Used Core sent haxder the core exchange program by recor
a contra receivable account based upon the Renwuntdd Core price agreed upon by the Company araigtomer. Upon receipt of a Used Core,
the Company grants the customer a credit basedeoReémanufactured Core price billed and restore&Jded Core to on-hand inventory.

When the Company ships a product, it invoices oeastomers for the Remanufactured Core porticth@fproduct at full Remanufactured Core
sales price. For these Remanufactured Cores, thg&uy recognizes core revenue based upon an estirihite rate at which the Company’s
customers will pay cash for Remanufactured Cordiginof sending back similar Used Cores for creditder the Company’s core exchange
program.
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In addition, the Company recognizes revenue relaté&emanufactured Cores originally sold at a nainimice and not expected to be replaced by a
similar Used Core under the core exchange progdaniike the full price Remanufactured Cores, the @any only recognizes revenue from
nominally priced Remanufactured Cores not expeittdx replaced by a similar Used Core sent baclitie core exchange program when the
Company believes it has met all of the followingesta:

« The Company has a signed agreement with the custmmering the nominally priced Remanufactured Garet expected to be replacec
a similar Used Core sent back under the core exgghprogram. This agreement must specify the numibRemanufactured Cores its
customer will pay cash for in lieu of sending backimilar Used Core and the basis on which the naltyi priced Remanufactured Cores
are to be valued (normally the average price pend&eifactured Core stipulated in the agreem

»  The contractual date for reconciling the Compangtords and customsrtecords of the number of nominally priced Remactufred Core
not expected to be replaced by a similar Used €emn¢ back under the core exchange program mustthe icurrent or a prior perio

e The reconciliation of the nominally priced Remarutifeied Cores must be completed and agreed to byutemer
e The amount must be billed to the custon

The Company has agreed in the past and may irutheefagree to buy back Remanufactured Cores. ifleeethce between the credit granted anc
cost of the Remanufactured Cores bought backasaeas a sales allowance reducing revenue. Asuli of the increasing level of Remanufactured
Core buybacks, the Company now defers core revigaoethese customers until there is no expectdtiahthe sales allowances associated with
Remanufactured Core buybacks from these custonibmsffiset Remanufactured Core revenues that waotihérwise be recognized once the criteria
noted above have been met. At March 31, 2013 afh#, ®emanufactured Core revenue of $12,014,0068y7¥5,000, respectively, was deferred.

Marketing Allowances

The Company records the cost of all marketing adloges provided to its customers. Such allowaneasde sales incentives and concessions.
Voluntary marketing allowances related to a sireehange of product are recorded as a reductioevehues at the time the related revenues are
recorded or when such incentives are offered. Qtieketing allowances, which may only be appliediagf future purchases, are recorded as a
reduction to revenues in accordance with a schesiléorth in the relevant contract. Sales incenéitnounts are recorded based on the value of the
incentive provided. See “Commitments and Contingesimote for a description of all marketing allaveas.

Advertising Costs

The Company expenses all advertising costs asreatufdvertising expenses for the fiscal years dridarch 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 were
$1,331,000, $1,678,000 and $368,000, respectively.

Net (Loss) Income Per Share

Basic net (loss) income per share is computed adidg net (loss) income by the weighted averagalmer of shares of common stock outstanding
during the period. Diluted net (loss) income parshincludes the effect, if any, from the potengiedrcise or conversion of securities, such akstoc
options and warrants, which would result in theigse of incremental shares of common stock.
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The following presents a reconciliation of basid ailuted net (loss) income per share.

Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011

Net (loss) incom: $ (91,511,00) $ (48,514,00) $ 12,220,00
Basic share 14,327,311 12,442,68 12,042,42

Effect of dilutive stock options and warrai - - 291,90
Diluted shares 14,327,311 12,442,68 12,334,33
Net (loss) income per shal

Basic $ (6.39 $ (3.90 $ 1.01

Diluted $ (6.39 $ (3.90) $ 0.9¢

The effect of dilutive options and warrants exclu@® 1,549,683 shares subject to options and Ba5sthares subject to warrants with exercise prices
ranging from $1.80 to $15.06 per share for the pealed March 31, 2013, (ii) 1,447,284 shares stljeaptions and 546,283 shares subject to
warrants with exercise prices ranging from $1.8816.06 per share for the year ended March 31,20 (iii) 771,084 shares subject to options
546,283 shares subject to warrants with exercisepranging from $9.90 to $15.00 per share foy#ba ended March 31, 2011— all of which were
anti-dilutive.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial stateméntonformity with accounting principles geneyalccepted in the United States (“GAAP”)
requires management to make estimates and assasget affect the reported amounts in the conaiifinancial statements and accompanying
notes. Actual results could differ from those esti@s. On an on-going basis, the Company evaluatestimates, including those related to the
carrying amount of plant and equipment; valuatibgaodwill and acquisition-related intangible ass@npairment of long-lived assets, including
goodwill and acquisition-related intangible asse#dyation and return allowances for receivablegemntories, and deferred income taxes; accrued
liabilities; share-based compensation, and lit@yatind disputes.

The Company uses significant estimates in the talon of sales returns. These estimates are las#te Company'’s historical return rates and an
evaluation of estimated sales returns from specifstomers.

The Company uses significant estimates in the tatlon of the lower of cost or market value of letegm core inventory.

The Company’s calculation of inventory reservelngs significant estimates. The basis for the imegy reserve is a comparison of inventory on
hand to historical production usage or sales volkime

The Company records its liability for self-insunedrkers’ compensation by including an estimatehefltability associated with total claims incurred
and reported as well as an estimate of the li@sliassociated with incurred, but not reportedmdaletermined by applying the Compasistorica
claims development factor to its estimate of thbilities associated with incurred and reportedtda

The Company uses significant estimates in the tatlon of its income tax provision or benefit byingsforecasts to estimate whether it will have
sufficient future taxable income to realize itseteéd tax assets. There can be no assurancebéhaompany’s taxable income will be sufficient to
realize such deferred tax assets.

The Company uses significant estimates in the orggealculation of potential liabilities from uncairt tax positions that are more likely than not to
occur.

A change in the assumptions used in the estimatesafes returns, inventory reserves and incomesteguld result in a difference in the related
amounts recorded in the Company’s consolidatedh&iiwh statements.
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Financial I nstruments

The carrying amounts of cash, shtatm investments, accounts receivable, accoun@ipaynd accrued liabilities approximate their fa@lue due tc
the short-term nature of these instruments. Theyicaramounts of the revolving loans, term loand ather long-term liabilities approximate their
fair value based on current rates for instrumeritis similar characteristics.

Stock Options and Share-Based Payments

In accounting for share-based compensation awtresompany follows the accounting guidance foritgeoased compensation, which requires
the Company measure the cost of employee sengce$ved in exchange for an award of equity instmtsibased on the grant-date fair value of the
award. The cost associated with stock optionstimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing motlbe cost of equity instruments is recognized
in the consolidated statements of operations dra&ht-line basis (net of estimated forfeitureggiothe period during which an employee is required
to provide service in exchange for the award. Ads@ess tax benefits realized are reported asaading cash inflow.

The Black-Scholes option pricing model requiresittpit of subjective assumptions including the expeé volatility of the underlying stock and the
expected holding period of the option. These suivjeassumptions are based on both historical #mer information. Changes in the values asst
and used in the model can materially affect thenege of fair value. Options to purchase 635,8@)0Q0 and 18,000 shares of common stock were
granted during the years ended March 31, 2013, 26822011, respectively.

The table below summarizes the Black-Scholes ogtitaing model assumptions used to derive the weijaverage fair value of the stock options
granted during the periods noted.

Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
Weighted average risk free interest t 1.17% 1.7%% 2.09%
Weightedaverage expected holding period (yei 6.6( 6.2¢ 5.7:
Weighted average expected volatil 44.25% 40.28% 38.81%
Weighted average expected dividend y - - -
Weighted average fair value of options grar $ 29z % 421 $ 3.82
Credit Risk

The majority of the Company'’s sales are to leadingpmotive aftermarket parts suppliers. Managerbeli¢ves the credit risk with respect to trade
accounts receivable is limited due to the Compaasgslit evaluation process and the nature of is$ocners. However, should the Company’s
customers experience significant cash flow probjehesCompany’s financial position and results pém@tions could be materially and adversely
affected, and the maximum amount of loss that wbeléhcurred would be the outstanding receivablariz®, Used Cores expected to be returned by
customer, and the value of the Remanufactured Gmilesat customers location at March 31, 2013.

Deferred Compensation Plan

The Company has a deferred compensation plan f@icenembers of management. The plan allows ppatits to defer salary, bonuses and
commissions. The assets of the plan are heldnmsaand are subject to the claims of the Compagwtreral creditors under federal and state laws in
the event of insolvency. Consequently, the trusiifias as a Rabbi trust for income tax purposé® plan’s assets consist primarily of mutual funds
and are classified as “available for sale.” Theestments are recorded at market value, with angalized gain or loss recorded as other
comprehensive income or loss in shareholders’ gg@idjustments to the deferred compensation olibgadre recorded in operating expenses. The
Company did not redeem any of its shierm investments for the payment of deferred corsgiéon liabilities during the years ended MarchZ&113
and 2012. The carrying value of plan assets wa$,$80 and $342,000, and deferred compensationatigigwas $411,000 and $342,000 at March
31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. During the yeaded March 31, 2013 and 2012 an expense of $8,@80@corded for each year related to the
deferred compensation plan.
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Comprehensive | ncome or Loss

Comprehensive income or loss is defined as thegghamequity during a period resulting from trarigats and other events and circumstances from
non-owner sources. The Company’s total compreheristome or loss consists of net unrealized incormess from foreign currency translation
adjustments and unrealized gains or losses on-trantinvestments.

New Accounting Pronouncements
Comprehensive Income

In June 2011, the FASB issued guidance which regun entity to present the total of compreherisis@me, the components of net income, and the
components of other comprehensive income eitharsimgle continuous statement of comprehensivenecor in two separate but consecutive
statements. This guidance eliminates the optigresent components of other comprehensive incoragast of the statement of equity. This
guidance should be applied, retrospectively, facdl years, and interim periods within those figealrs, beginning after December 15, 2011. Other
than the change in presentation, the Company hasnieed the changes from the adoption of thisauié on April 1, 2012 did not have an impact
on its consolidated financial position and the tssof operations.

Testing Goodwill for Impairment

In September 2011, the FASB issued an amendmeghwgives an entity the option to first assess tptale factors to determine whether the
existence of events or circumstances leads toeardetation that it is more likely than not that fa@ value of a reporting unit is less than itsrging
amount. If an entity determines that it is not mideely than not that the fair value of a reportimgit is less than its carrying amount, then peniag
the two-step goodwill impairment test is unnecesdéian entity determines that it is more likehah not that the fair value of a reporting unieiss
than its carrying amount, then it is required tofqen the first step of the twstep goodwill impairment test. If the carrying valof the reporting un
exceeds its fair value, then the entity is requicegerform the second step of the goodwill impa@ntitest to measure the amount of the impairment
loss, if any. The amendments are effective for ahand interim goodwill impairment tests perfornfedfiscal years beginning after December 15,
2011. The adoption of this guidance on April 1, 2@ld not have any impact on the Company’s conatgid financial position and the results of
operations.

3. Acquisition

On May 6, 2011, the Company acquired Fenco. Thadited pro forma information presented is for itfative purposes only and is not necessarily
indicative of the results of operations that woliédle been realized if the acquisition had been tetegh on the date indicated, nor is it indicative o
future operating results. The following historifialancial information has been adjusted to giveefto pro forma events that are (i) directly
attributable to the acquisition, (ii) factually sagstable, and (iii) with respect to statements pérations, expected to have a continuing impad¢hen
combined results, including the amortization of fdie value of the identifiable intangible asseatsl ¢he cost of goods sold impact related to the fai
value step-up of inventory acquired. The unauditedforma information does not reflect any opetthanges, associated cost savings or additiona
costs that the Company may achieve or incur witheet to the combined companies.
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The unaudited pro forma financial information presel below for the years ended March 31, 2012 &id 2ssumes the acquisition had occurred on
April 1, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Years Ended March 31,

2012 2011
Net sales $ 390,221,00 $ 363,142,00
Operating (loss) incom (29,131,00) 6,282,001
Loss before income tax exper (44,179,00) (9,270,001)
Net loss (51,158,00) (22,791,00)
Basic net loss per sha $ (4.1 $ (1.89
Diluted net loss per sha $ 411 $ (1.84)

4. Intangible Assets
Rotating Electrical Product Lin

The following is a summary of the intangible assgtsbutable to the Company’s rotating electrigadduct line segment subject to amortization at
March 31, 2013 and 2012.

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012
Weighted

Average Gross Gross
Amortization  Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Period Value Amortization Value Amortization

Intangible assets subject to amortizatior

Trademarks Qyears $ 553,00( $ 337,000 % 553,00( $ 262,00(
Customer relationshig 12 years 6,464,00 2,743,001 6,464,001 2,096,00!
Non-compete agreements 4 years 257,00( 211,00( 257,00( 160,00(
Total llyears $ 7,274,000 $ 3,291,000$ 7,274,000 $ 2,518,00

Undercar Product Line

The following is a summary of the undercar prodime segment’s intangible assets subject to anaditiz at March 31, 2013 and 2012.

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012
Weighted
Average Gross Gross
Amortization  Carrying  Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Period Value  Amortization Impairment Value Amortization
Intangible assets subject to amortizatior
Trademarks 20years $ 11,159,00$ 1,058,000% 10,101,00$ 11,159,00 $ 500,00t
Customer relationshig 10 years 7,680,001 1,459,001 6,221,001 7,680,001 691,00(
Nor-compete agreemer 2 years 144,00( 136,00( 8,00( 144,00( 64,00(
Total l6years $ 18,983,00$ 2,653,000$ 16,330,00$ 18,983,00 $  1,255,00

Consolidated amortization expense and impairmesutgehfor acquired intangible assets for the yeade@ March 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 is as
follows:

Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
Amortization expens $ 2,171,000 $ 2,029,000 $ 774,00(
Impairment of intangible asse 16,330,00 - -
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The consolidated aggregate estimated future anatidizexpense for intangible assets subject to ration is as follows:

Year Ending March 31,

2014 $ 738,00(
2015 670,00
2016 349,00(
2017 266,00(
2018 266,00(
Thereafte 1,694,000
Total $ 3,983,001

5. Short-Term Investments

The short-term investments account contains thetss$ the Company’s deferred compensation plaa.plén’s assets consist primarily of mutual
funds and are classified as available for sale.Jbmpany did not redeem any short-term investmfenthe payment of deferred compensation
liabilities during the year ended March 31, 2018.0% March 31, 2013 and 2012, the fair market valughe short-term investments was $411,000
and $342,000, and the liability to plan particifgawis $411,000 and $342,000, respectively.

6. Accounts Receivable — Net

Included in accounts receivable — net are significdfset accounts related to customer allowaneesesl, customer payment discrepancies,
customer fill rate penalties, returned goods aightions (“RGA”) issued for in-transit unit returrestimated future credits to be provided for Used
Cores returned by the customers and potential bhtsdDue to the forward looking nature and théedint aging periods of certain estimated offset
accounts, they may not, at any point in time, diyeelate to the balances in the open trade adsaeceivable.

Accounts receivable — net is comprised of the feitg at March 31.:

2013 2012
Accounts receivabl— trade (1) $ 76,700,000 $ 83,937,00
Allowance for bad debi (1,590,001 (968,000
Customer allowances earned (22,878,00) (25,322,00)
Customer payment discrepanc (2,550,001 (280,000)
Customer fill rate penalties ( (6,776,000 (7,827,000
Customer returns RGA issu (7,373,000 (5,875,000
Customer core returns accruals (21,222,00) (23,629,00)
Less: total accounts receivable offset acco (62,389,00) (63,901,00)
Total accounts receivab— net $ 14,311,000 $ 20,036,00

1) Amounts shown above as customer allowances eantedustomer fill rate penalties include $9,072,8a6 $7,827,000, respectively, at
March 31, 2012 which have been reclassified froooants receivable — trade to conform to the fi2€dI3 presentation.

Warranty Returns

The Company allows its customers to return goodedédCompany that their engser customers have returned to them, whetheethened item is ¢
is not defective (warranty returns). The Compargraes an estimate of its exposure to warranty methased on a historical analysis of the level of
this type of return as a percentage of total ualégs Amounts charged to expense for these warrahiyns are considered in arriving at the
Company’s net sales. At March 31, 2013, the wayreeturn accrual of $4,214,000 on the credits iddoe the returns received was included under
the customer returns RGA issued in the above w@ftdecounts receivable — net and the warranty megdgtimate of $7,344,000 was included in
customer finished goods returns accrual in the @alated balance sheets.
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Change in the Company’s warranty return accruasifollows at March 31:

2013 2012
Balance at beginning of peric $ 9,023,000 $ 8,969,00
Charged to expense ( 63,315,00 67,048,00
Amounts processed ( (60,780,00) (66,994,00)
Balance at end of period $ 11,558,000 $ 9,023,00

Q) Amounts shown above as warranty claims processedlzrged to expense for the year ended March@®P, Bave been reclassified to
conform to the current year presentation.

7. Inventory

Non-core inventory, Inventory unreturned, Long-termecmventory, and Long-term core inventory depissc¢omprised of the following at March
31:

2013 2012
Non-core inventory

Raw materials $ 29,246,000 $ 31,560,00
Work-in-process 626,00( 153,00(
Finished good 47,676,00 72,171,00
77,548,00 103,884,00
Less allowance for excess and obsolete inventory (16,458,00) (8,813,000
Total $ 61,090,000 $ 95,071,00
Inventory unreturned $ 12,150,000 $ 9,819,001

Long-term core inventory
Used cores held at the Company's facili $ 40,778,00 $ 47,206,00
Used cores expected to be returned by custo 5,147,001 5,542,001
Remanufactured cores held in finished ga 22,170,00 25,751,00
Remanufactured cores held at customers' locations 98,916,00 118,402,00
167,011,00 196,901,00
Less allowance for excess and obsolete inventory (8,535,000 (2,495,000
Total $ 158,476,00 $ 194,406,00
Long-term core inventory deposits $ 27,610,000 $ 26,939,00
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8. Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment, at cost, are as follows achad.

2013 2012

Machinery and equipme $ 26,991,00 $ 30,802,00
Office equipment and fixture 9,780,001 8,251,001
Leasehold improvemen 8,912,00! 7,761,001
Land and buildings 633,00 626,00(

46,316,00 47,440,00
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (32,233,00) (34,702,00)
Total $ 14,083,000 $ 12,738,00

Plant and equipment located in the foreign cousitnibere the Company has production facilities ofieiccumulated depreciation, totaled $6,233,000
and $6,320,000 at March 31, 2013 and 2012, resedyctiThese assets constitute substantially alldhg-lived production assets of the Company
located outside of the United States.

9. Capital Lease Obligations

The Company leases various types of machinery amputer equipment under agreements accounted faaptsl leases and included in plant and
equipment as follows at March 31.:

2013 2012
Cost $ 863,000 $ 1,606,00
Less: accumulated amortizati (466,00() (776,000)
Total $ 397,000 $ 830,00(

Future minimum lease payments at March 31, 201&fcapital leases are as follows:

Year Ending March 31,

2014 $ 279,00(
2015 46,00(
2016 35,00(
2017 35,00(
2018 28,00(
Total minimum lease paymer 423,00(
Less amount representing interest (25,000
Present value of future minimum lease payn 398,00(
Less current portion 266,00()

$ 132,00(

10. Debt

The Company has the following outstanding credieaments.
Parent Company Credit Agreeme

The Company has a financing agreement (the “P&emtpany Financing Agreement”) with a syndicateeoiders, Cerberus Business Finance, LLC,
as collateral agent, and PNC Bank, National Assiotiaas administrative agent (the “Parent Comgdawgns”). The Parent Company Loans consist
of: (i) term loans aggregating $75,000,000 (ther&éRaCompany Term Loans”) and (ii) revolving loarisip to $20,000,000, subject to borrowing
base restrictions and a $10,000,000 sublimit fibede of credit (the “Parent Company Revolving Le8n The Parent Company Loans mature on
January 17, 2017. The lenders hold a securityesten substantially all of the assets of the Camg{sarotating electrical segment. The Parent
Company Financing Agreement only permits the Comparnvest up to $20,000,000 in Fenco, which i dane as of December 31, 2012.
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In May 2012, the Company entered into a second dment to the Parent Company Financing Agreemeat‘@econd Amendment”) and borrowed
an additional $10,000,000, for an aggregate of 885000 (the “Amended Parent Company Term Loamstgim loans. The Second Amendment,
among other things, modified the interest ratesapaum applicable to the Amended Parent Company Teans. The Amended Parent Company
Term Loans will bear interest at rates equal tehatCompany’s option, either LIBOR plus 8.5% drase rate plus 7.5%.

The Amended Parent Company Term Loans require ehagrincipal payments of $250,000 beginning oridber 1, 2012 and increase to $600,000
per quarter on April 1, 2013 and to $1,350,000 aito@er 1, 2013 until the final maturity date. Amastger things, the Second Amendment provides
for certain amended financial covenants, and reguiiat the Company maintain cash and cash eqotsaléup to $10,000,000 in the aggregate |

its obligations with respect to a significant supphave ceased.

In August 2012, the Company entered into a thirérament and waiver to the Parent Company Finarkgigement (the “Third Amendment”)
which, among other things, (i) permitted the Comptmnenter into the Fenco Credit Line (as definetein) described below, (ii) to make additional
investments in Fenco in an aggregate amount retdeed $20,000,000 at any time outstanding, @@idea additional reporting requirements
regarding financial reports and material noticedasrthe Fenco Credit Line described below, andrémoved the Second Amendment requirement
that the Company maintain cash and cash equivabténis to $10,000,000.

In December 2012, the Company entered into a fmmtindment to the Parent Company Financing Agregmvlich, among other things, permit
the Company to repurchase shares pursuant todble itpurchase agreement with Mel Marks, the Coryipdounder, a member of the Board of
Directors of the Company and consultant to the Caamgpand Melmarks Enterprises LLLP, a limited ligpilimited partnership controlled by Mr.
Marks.

In connection with the option purchase agreemértompany entered into a fifth amendment to therR&€Company Financing Agreement, which
among other things, permitted the Company to pwehdr. Joffe’s stock options pursuant to the opparchase agreement.

On June 14, 2013, the Company entered into a aixébndment to the Parent Company Financing AgreeftrentSixth Amendment”), under the
terms of which the agents and lenders agreed teevaaiy event of default that would otherwise auisder the Parent Company Financing Agreel
due to the qualification in the opinion by the Canyp's certified public accountants with respedti® financial statements for the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2013. In addition, the Sixth Amendmehédded a reporting requirement with respect é@ompany’s liquidity levels and certain
inventory purchases and (ii) added a financial oam under which the Company must maintain the@fdgtg levels of liquidity on the following
dates unless otherwise consented to by the lenoledune 28, 2013, an aggregate amount of at$2as900,000, subject to certain adjustments; on
July 31, 2013, an aggregate amount of at leas0®R@)00, subject to certain adjustments; and oru8ug0, 2013, an aggregate amount of at least
$27,000,000, subject to certain adjustments.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013, the lersdender the Parent Company Financing Agreemersecagad to the purchase by the Company of up
to an aggregate of $4,000,000 of inventory for Beflnam the Supplier and the sale of that inventorffenco from time to time on a cash-on-delivery
basis.

The Parent Company Financing Agreement, as amendeahg other things, requires the Company to maitrtain financial covenants including
a maximum senior leverage ratio, a minimum fixedrgle coverage ratio, and minimum consolidated egsibefore interest, income tax,
depreciation and amortization expenses (“EBITDANe Company was in compliance with all financial@oants and reporting requirements under
the Parent Company Financing Agreement, as ameadexf,March 31, 2013.

There was no outstanding balance on the Parent &wmyrfpevolving Loans at March 31, 2013 and 2012ofAdarch 31, 2013, $18,878,000 was
available under the Parent Company Revolving Loghs.Company had reserved $626,000 of the Parenp@ay Revolving Loans for standby
letters of credit for workers’ compensation insweaiand $1,179,000 for commercial letters of cragliof March 31, 2013.
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In connection with the Second Amendment, the Comjissued a warrant (the “Cerberus Warrant”) to @asb Business Finance, LLC. Pursuant to
the Cerberus Warrant, Cerberus Business Finandg, irlay purchase up to 100,000 shares of the Congpeaasnmon stock for an initial exercise
price of $17.00 per share for a period of five gedihe exercise price is subject to adjustmentsngnother things, for sales of common stock by the
Company at a price below the exercise price. Assalt of the issuance of the Supplier Warrant &mdd herein) in August 2012 (as described
below) at an initial exercise price of $7.75 pearsh the exercise price of the Cerberus Warrantredisced to $7.75 per share. As the exercise price
of the Cerberus Warrant was reduced, the numbeharkes of the Company’s common stock that may behpaed upon the exercise of the Cerberus
Warrant was increased to 219,355 so that the agtgrexxercise price of the Cerberus Warrant afeeathustment is the same as the aggregate
exercise price prior to the adjustment. The falugaf the Cerberus Warrant using the Monte Canmkation model was $607,000 at May 24, 2012
and $375,000 at March 31, 2013. This amount wasrded as a warrant liability which is included her liabilities in the consolidated balance s

at March 31, 2013. During the year ended Marc2B13, a gain of $232,000 was recorded in genedhbdministrative expenses due to the change
in the fair value of the warrant liability.

Fenco Credit Agreeme

The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, FAPL amiadcan, as borrowers (the “Fenco Borrowers”), mtténto an amended and restated credit
agreement, dated May 6, 2011 (the “Fenco Credie@grent”)with Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company a é&eanger, M&T Bank as lend
and administrative agent and the other lenders fnora to time party thereto (the “Fenco LenderB\rsuant to the Fenco Credit Agreement, the
Fenco Lenders have made available to the Fenc@®ers a revolving credit facility in the maximunirmipal amount of $50,000,000 (the “Fenco
Revolving Facility”) and a term loan in the prinalmmount of $10,000,000 (the “Fenco Term Loanf)e Bvailability of the Fenco Revolving
Facility is subject to a borrowing base calculattomsisting of eligible accounts receivable andiele inventory.

In August 2012, Fenco entered into a second amemcimé¢he Fenco Credit Agreement with the Fencdées which, among other things, (i)
extended the maturity date to October 6, 2014afiended the maximum amount of the revolving figcib (y) $55,000,000 for the period up to and
including December 31, 2012 and (z) $50,000,00@Hemeriod on or after January 1, 2013 throughokt 6, 2014, (iii) replaced the repayment
schedule and the amounts for the term loan to requiarterly principal payments of $500,000 begigron June 30, 2013 and increasing to
$1,000,000 per quarter beginning December 31, 2@b8igh September 30, 2014, with the remaining ighpancipal amount being due on the final
maturity date, (iv) provided for certain mandatprgpayments of the term loan, and (v) revised irefitmancial covenants regarding minimum
EBITDA, minimum fixed charge coverage, unused baing availability under the Fenco revolving cref@ditility, and maximum capital
expenditures. The maturity date may be accelérgpen the occurrence of an insolvency event ontewkedefault under the Fenco Credit
Agreement.

In February 2013, Fenco entered into a third amemno the Fenco Credit Agreement with the Fenndédes which, among other things, (i) amer
the maximum amount of the revolving facility availa after February 1, 2013 from $50,000,000 to $52,000, (ii) removed the excess availability
requirement, and (iii) amended the revolving fagithargin limit.

The outstanding balance on the Fenco Revolvindifasias $49,277,000 and $48,884,000 at March B132and 2012, respectively. As of March
31, 2013, approximately $712,000 was reservedtéordby commercial letters of credit and $118,008 veserved for certain expenses. In addition,
$300,000 of this Fenco Revolving Facility was reedrfor Canadian operations use. As of March 3132the Fenco Borrowers exceeded the
borrowing capacity by $5,795,000 under the FencamRég Facility. The Fenco Lenders hold a secuiriterest in substantially all of the assets of
the undercar product line segment.

The Fenco Borrowers may receive advances undéteheo Revolving Facility by any one or more of tbéowing options: (i) swingline advances
Canadian or US dollars; (ii) Canadian dollar pribased loans; (iii) US dollar base rate loans; (lBOR loans; or (v) letters of credits.
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The Fenco Term Loan bears interest at the LIBOR piuapplicable margin. Outstanding advances uhddRevolving Facility bear interest as
follows:

0] in respect of swingline advances in Canadian doliawd Canadian dollar pri-based loans, at the reference rate announced |
Royal Bank of Canada plus an applicable mat

(i) inrespect of swingline advances in US dollansl US dollar base rate loans, at a base ratelfvehiall be equal to the highest of (x)
M&T Bank’'s prime rate, (y) the Federal Funds Rate plus ¥afor (z) the one month LIBOR) plus an applicabkrgin;

(i) in respect of LIBOR loans, at the LIBOR plus anlaggble margin

The Fenco Credit Agreement, among other thingsiireg the Fenco Borrowers to maintain a minimum™BA of not less than $6,100,000 for the
period from September 1, 2012 to March 31, 2013ofAdarch 31, 2013, the Fenco Borrowers were nabimpliance with this financial covenant
under the Fenco Credit Agreement. As a resultisfrtbncompliance, the Fenco Revolving Facility #melFenco Term Loan of $49,277,000 and
$10,000,000, respectively, have been classifiedbhsin default within current liabilities in themsolidated balance sheet at March 31, 2013.

During May 2013, Fenco appointed a new board ofpeshdent directors, hired an independent chiefugsiring officer and all its previously
existing officers resigned from FAPL. As a resdltte loss of control of Fenco, the Company wKklly deconsolidate the financial statements of
Fenco from its consolidated financial statementinguthe first quarter of fiscal 2014. On June 2013, Fenco filed a voluntary petition for relief
under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code in the Ba&kruptcy Court for the District of Delaware. AsMarch 31, 2013, Fenco’s financial
statements are included in the consolidated firzdustatements of the Company. The Company’s careeld financial statements are prepared
assuming the Company will continue as a going comnckhe financial statements do not include anystdjents to reflect future adverse effects on
the recoverability and classification of assetamounts and classification of liabilities that magult from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Neither the Parent Company Financing AgreementhFenco Credit Agreement contain any cross defaavisions with respect to the ott
agreement.

Strategic Cooperation Agreement

In August 2012, the Company entered into a revglaredit agreement (the “Agreement”) with Wanxiamgerica Corporation (the “Supplier”) and
Fenco. Under the terms of the Agreement, the Sepatireed to provide a revolving credit line forghases of automotive parts and components by
Fenco in an aggregate principal amount not to ek§2&,000,000 (the “Fenco Credit Linedf,which $2,000,000 would only be available for ramz
interest and other amounts payable (the “ObligatipriPayment for all purchases would be due anciplayl20 days after the date of the bill of
lading. Any amounts remaining unpaid following thee date would bear interest at a rate of 1% petimdhe Fenco Credit Line will mature on
July 31, 2017. Among other things, the Agreemequires that Fenco, on an annual basis, purchdsasitapproximately $33,000,000 of new
automotive parts and components. After July 1, 2€iel Supplier has the right to settle up to $8,000 (the “Receivable Sale Option”) of the
Company’s outstanding Obligations in exchangeh@tGompany’s option, for (i) shares of the Compamgmmon stock valued at $7.75 per share,
subject to certain adjustments, or (ii) cash imamunt equal to 135% of the amount of the outsten@bligations sold to the Company. Any
outstanding Obligations settled by the Supplier Moaduce the Fenco Credit Line. The Obligationdarthe Agreement are guaranteed by the
Company and certain of its subsidiaries. Undettehms of the guarantee, the Supplier also hasdheto sell accrued interest to the Company for
shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Unpetierést Sale Option”) at a price, subject to ceréaljustments, that is the lower of (i) $7.75 per
share and (ii) 105% of the market value of the Canyis common stock, which market value is defimethe terms of the guarantee.

In connection with this Agreement, the Company &saed a warrant (the “Supplier Warrartti)the Supplier to purchase up to 516,129 sharése
Company’s common stock for an initial exercise @€ $7.75 per share exercisable at any time afteryears from August 22, 2012 and on or prior
to September 30, 2017. The exercise price is sutgjeadjustments, among other things, for saleofmon stock by the Company at a price below
the exercise price. Any outstanding Obligationtlegty the Supplier will reduce the Fenco Credite. The Company is obligated to issue no more
than an aggregate of 1,032,258 shares of its consteak in connection with the Receivable Sale Opéind Supplier Warrant, and no more than an
aggregate of 1,572,342 shares of the Company’s amstock in connection with the Unpaid IntereseSaption. The Obligations under this
Agreement are subordinated to the Company’s olifigatunder the Parent Company Financing Agreenidm fair value of the Supplier Warrant
using the Monte Carlo simulation model was $1,008.8t August 22, 2012, and $1,639,000 at Marcl2813. This amount was recorded as a
warrant liability which is included in other liakigs in the consolidated balance sheet at Mar¢t2813. During the year ended March 31, 2013, a
loss of $621,000 was recorded in general and adtrative expenses due to the change in the faievall the warrant liability.
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11. Accounts Receivable Discount Programs

The Company has established receivable discougtgmts with certain customers and their respectark®. Under these programs, the Company
may sell those customers’ receivables to thosesah& discount to be agreed upon at the timeetteivables are sold. These discount arrangements
allow the Company to accelerate collection of comrs’ receivables.

Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012
Receivables discounts $ 289,529,00 $ 280,278,00
Weighted average da 31¢ 313
Weighted average discount ri 2.7% 2.%
Amount of discount as interest expel $ 6,914,000 $ 7,072,000

12. Financial Risk Management and Derivatives

Purchases and expenses denominated in currenbigstiodn the U.S. dollar, which are primarily retato the Company’s facilities overseas, expose
the Company to market risk from material moveméanfereign exchange rates between the U.S. dofidrthe foreign currency. The Company’s
primary risk exposure is from changes in the ratsvben the U.S. dollar and the Mexican peso relatdide operation of the Company’s facilities in
Mexico. The Company enters into forward foreignrency exchange contracts to exchange U.S. dolargléxican pesos in order to mitigate this
risk. The Company also enters into forward foreigmrency exchange contracts to exchange U.S. ddaiChinese yuan in order to mitigate the
related to its purchases and payments to its Chimesdors. The extent to which forward foreign enay exchange contracts are used is modified
periodically in response to management’s estimfieasket conditions and the terms and length o€igegpurchase requirements to fund those
overseas facilities and purchases.

The Company enters into forward foreign currenocghexge contracts in order to reduce the impaatreidn currency fluctuations and not to engage
in currency speculation. The use of derivativeriial instruments allows the Company to reducexsosure to the risk that the eventual cash
outflow resulting from funding the expenses of thkeign operations and purchases will be materiilgcted by changes in exchange rates. The
Company does not hold or issue financial instrusémt trading purposes. The forward foreign curyeexchange contracts are designated for
forecasted expenditure requirements to fund forejggrations and purchases.

The Company had forward foreign currency exchamgeracts with a U.S. dollar equivalent notionalugabf $17,543,000 and $13,494,000 at March
31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. These contractsrgly expire in a year or less, at rates agrédideainception of the contracts. The counterptoty
this derivative transaction is a major financiatitution with investment grade or better crediimg; however, the Company is exposed to credit ris
with this institution. The credit risk is limited the potential unrealized gains (which offset enay fluctuations adverse to the Company) in amchp
contract should this counterparty fail to perforsncantracted. Any changes in the fair values ofréwd foreign currency exchange contracts are
reflected in current period earnings and accoufteds an increase or offset to general and adtréiige expenses.
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The following table shows the effect of the Comparmerivative instruments on its consolidated stegsts of operations:

Gain (Loss) Recognized within General and Administative Expense

Derivatives Not Designated a Years Ended March 31,
Hedging Instruments 2013 2012 2011
Forward foreign currency exchange contr: $ 804,000 $ (476,000 $ (162,000

The fair value of the forward foreign currency eanbe contracts of $683,000 is included in prepapkrses and other current assets in the
consolidated balance sheet at March 31, 2013. dihedlue of the forward foreign currency exchangetracts of $121,000 is included in other
current liabilities in the consolidated balanceetrst March 31, 2012.

13. Fair Value Measurements

The Company defines fair value as the price thatlevbe received to sell an asset or paid to trarsfability (an exit price) in the principal orast
advantageous market for the asset or liabilityrimederly transaction between market participantthe measurement date. The Company uses a
three-tier valuation hierarchy based upon obseevabt unobservable inputs:

e Level 1— Valuation is based upon quoted prices (unadjusteagtive markets for identical assets or lialgkt

* Level 2 — Valuation is based upon quoted pricesiarilar assets and liabilities in active marketspther inputs that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectlfigr substantially the full term of the financiakinument.

* Level 3— Valuation is based upon unobservable inputs tresignificant to the fair value measurem:

The fair value hierarchy requires the use of obsglermarket data when available. In instances iictwtine inputs used to measure fair value fall into
different levels of the fair value hierarchy, tlarfvalue measurement has been determined bagbeé towest level input that is significant to tlarf
value measurement in its entirety. The Companyssssment of the significance of a particular iterthe fair value measurement in its entirety
requires judgment, including the consideratiomgiits specific to the asset or liability.

The following table sets forth by level within tfer value hierarchy, the Company’s financial assetd liabilities that were accounted for at fair
value on a recurring basis at March 31, 2013 ad@ 28ccording to the valuation techniques the Campeed to determine their fair values.

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012
Fair Value Measurements Fair Value Measurements
Using Inputs Considered as Using Inputs Considered as
Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets
Shor-term investment
Mutual funds $ 411,000 $ 411,00( - - $ 342,000 $ 342,00( - -

Prepaid expenses and otl
current assel
Forward foreign currenc
exchange contrac 683,00( - $ 683,00( - - - - -

Liabilities
Other current liabilitie:
Deferred compensatic 411,00( 411,00( -
Forward foreign currenc
exchange contrac - - - - 121,00( - $ 121,00( -
Other liabilities
Warrant liability 2,014,001 -

342,00( 342,00( = =

$ 2,014,001 - - _ .
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The Company’s short-term investments, which fusdigferred compensation liabilities, consist oestments in mutual funds. These investments
are classified as Level 1 as the shares of theseainfunds trade with sufficient frequency and vokito enable the Company to obtain pricing
information on an ongoing basis.

The forward foreign currency exchange contractgpamarily measured based on the foreign currepoy and forward rates quoted by the banks or
foreign currency dealers and classified as LevElZing the fiscal years ended March 31, 2013 dfP2a gain of $804,000 and a loss of $476,000,
respectively, were recorded in general and admétige expenses due to the change in the valugedbtrward foreign currency exchange contracts
subsequent to entering into the contracts.

The Company estimates the fair value of the waitiability using level 3 inputs and the Monte Casimulation model at each balance sheet date.
This amount is recorded as a warrant liability wahi included in other liabilities in the consolidd balance sheet at March 31, 2013. Any
subsequent changes in the fair value of the waliaitity will be recorded in current period eangs as a general and administrative expense. D
the year ended March 31, 2013, a loss of $389,a80recorded in general and administrative expetseso the change in the fair value of the
warrant liability.

The assumptions used to determine the fair valikeo€erberus Warrant and the Supplier Warrantrdecbas warrant liability were:

March 31, 2013
Cerberus Warrant  Supplier Warrant

Risk free interest rai 0.6(% 0.67%
Expected life in year 4.1F 4.5C
Expected volatility 43.9% 54.6€%
Dividend yield - -
Probability of future financin 0% 0%

The risk free interest rate used was based ontké&surynote yields with terms commensurate with the reingiterm of the warrants. The expec
life is based on the remaining contractual terrthefwarrants and the expected volatility is basethe Company’s daily historical volatility over a
period commensurate with the remaining term ofitherants.

A summary of the change to the Company’s warratility, as measured at fair value on a recurriagidusing significant unobservable inputs
(Level 3) is presented below:

Year Ended March 31

2013
Beginning balanc $ =
Newly issuec 1,625,00!
Total (gain) loss included in net lo 389,00(
Warrants exercise -
Net transfers in (out) of Level -
Ending balance $ 2,014,001

As a result of the annual goodwill impairment as@yand intangible asset impairment analysis perorduring the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013, the
Company concluded that goodwill and intangible &s&® its undercar product line segment were fiipaired and the Company recorded atpre-
non-cash goodwill impairment charge and intangéisleet impairment charge of $68,356,000 and $1&)880respectively, as disclosed in the
consolidated statements of operations. After diogrthe impairment charge, the Company had nogtloar intangible assets attributable to its
undercar product line reporting unit remaining @consolidated balance sheet at March 31, 2013.
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Fair Value Measurements Using Inputs Considered :

Year Ended

March 31, Total Gains
Description 2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 (Losses)
Goodwil $ = = - $ - $(68,356,00)
Intangible assel - - - - (16,330,00)

During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2013 ari?2the Company had no other significant measur&radrassets or liabilities at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis subsequent to their initial gadtion.

The carrying amounts of cash, accounts receivablnunts payable and accrued liabilities approxentair fair value due to the shaetm nature o
these instruments. The carrying amounts of thelvengloans, term loans and other long-term lidig§i approximate their fair value based on current
rates for instruments with similar characteristics.

14. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Lease Commitments

The Company leases various office and warehoudéiéscin North America and Asia under operatiegses expiring through 2021. The Company
also has short term contracts of one year or legsring its third party warehouses that providedontingent payments based on the level of sales
that are processed through the third party warehous

At March 31, 2013, the remaining future minimumtedipayments under the above operating leasesdo@aws:

Year Ending March 31,

2014 $ 4,525,00
2015 4,139,00!
2016 2,173,00
2017 2,056,001
2018 2,108,001
Thereafter 7,931,001
Total minimum lease paymer $ 22,932,00

During fiscal years 2013, 2012 and 2011, the Comjracurred total operating lease expenses of $50022 $4,852,000 and $2,889,000,
respectively.

Commitments to Provide Marketing Allowances underd-Term Customer Contracts

The Company has or is renegotiating long-term agess with many of its major customers. Under ttageements, which typically have initial
terms of at least four years, the Company is desgghas the exclusive or primary supplier for siggticategories of remanufactured alternators and
starters. In consideration for the Company’s destign as a customer’s exclusive or primary supptiesr Company typically provides the customer
with a package of marketing incentives. These itices differ from contract to contract and can uu# (i) the issuance of a specified amount of
credits against receivables in accordance withhadde set forth in the relevant contract, (ii) gon for a particular customartresearch or marketil
efforts provided on a scheduled basis, (iii) distswgranted in connection with each individual stémt of product, and (iv) other marketing,
research, store expansion or product developm@@piosu These contracts typically require that tleen@any meet ongoing standards related to
fulfillment, price, and quality. The Company’s cratts with major customers expire at various deétesugh March 2019.
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The Company typically grants its customers markgtitiowances in connection with these customergiimase of goods. The Company records the
cost of all marketing allowances provided to itstomers. Such allowances include sales incentiveéxancessions and typically consist of: (i)
allowances which may only be applied against fupinehases and are recorded as a reduction touesém accordance with a schedule set forth in
the long-term contract, (ii) allowances relate@tsingle exchange of product that are recordedredution of revenues at the time the related
revenues are recorded or when such incentivesfi@med, and (iii) allowances that are made in catioe with the purchase of inventory from a
customer.

The following table presents the breakout of alloees discussed above, recorded as a reductiomdoues in the years ended March 31:

Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
Allowances incurred under lo-term customer contrac $ 13,831,000 $ 11,830,00 $ 13,988,00
Allowances related to a single exchange of pro 33,491,00 30,998,00 17,552,000
Allowances related to core inventory purchase aliogns 2,615,00! 3,030,001 1,455,00I
Total customer allowances recorded as a reducfioevenues $ 49,937,000 $ 45,858,00 $ 32,995,00

The following table presents the commitments taiiradlowances, excluding allowances related taglsiexchange of product, which will be
recognized as a charge against revenue, and cusRenenufactured Core purchase obligations whidhoeirecognized in accordance with the
terms of the relevant long-term customer contracts:

Year Ending March 31,

2014 $ 15,297,00
2015 9,626,001
2016 4,641,001
2017 4,484,001
2018 3,891,00!I
Thereafter 5,741,001
Total marketing allowances $ 43,680,000

Workers Compensation Insurance

Effective January 1, 2007 through the current figear, the Compang'workers compensation insurance policy has beétewon a guaranteed ci
basis (first dollar payment of claims with no detihles). For each of the five years prior to Jaguar2007, the Company purchased workers
compensation insurance on a large deductible plam.Company was, and still is, liable for the f8260,000 of each claim until all claims are sel
(essentially self-insured). The Company recordestimate of its liability for the self-insured port of its workers’‘compensation policy by includil
an estimate of the total claims incurred and regabas well as an estimate of incurred, but notrtedpclaims by applying the Company’s historical
claims development factor to its estimate of inedrand reported claims.
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15. Major Customers and Suppliers

The Company’s largest customers accounted foral@afing total percentage of net sales and accowusivable — trade:

Sales
Customer A
Customer E
Customer C (1

Accounts receivable- trade
Customer A

Customer E

Customer C (1

(1) The Company discontinued supplying its undepcaducts to customer C but has retained the ngtaiectrical product line sales to this
customer. The percentage of net sales for thismestfor the year ended March 31, 2013 excludeseibgnition of approximately $50,783,000

Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
41% 41% 48%
15% 9% 18%
16% 14% 5%
2013 2012
35% 31%
6% 8%
4% 21%

in revenue from the reduction in the Comg’s obligation to provide a credit for this major mme’'s Remanufactured Core

The Company’s largest supplier accounted for thieviang total percentage of raw materials purchases

Significant supplier purchases
Supplier A

Supplier B

16. Income Taxes

The income tax (benefit) expense for the yearseéiizrch 31 is as follows:

Current tax expens
Federal
State

Foreign

Total current tax expent

Deferred tax expense (bene
Federal
State
Foreign

Total deferred tax expense (benefit)
Total income tax (benefit) expense
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Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
- 2% 13%
12% 12% -
Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
$ 3,987,000 $ 4,476,000 $ 4,797,00
256,00( 379,00( 718,00!
480,00( 448,00( 267,00(
4,723,001 5,303,00! 5,782,00!
(24,119,00) 1,039,001 1,206,001
(2,535,001 494,00( 821,00
211,00( (64,000 -
(26,443,00) 1,469,001 2,027,001
$ (21,720,000 $ 6,772,000 $ 7,809,00
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Deferred income taxes consist of the following atrish 31:

2013 2012
Assets
Accounts receivable valuatic $ 4,690,000 $ 4,465,00
Allowance for customer incentive 1,216,00! 626,00(
Inventory obsolescence rese 962,00( 839,00(
Stock options 1,551,001 1,239,00!
Property and equipment, r 468,00( 492,00(
Intangibles, ne 701,00( -
Estimate for return 10,831,00 -
Deferred core revent 10,255,00 14,524,00
Claims payabl 174,00( 288,00(
Acquisition cos - 35,00(
Accrued compensatic 1,820,00! 1,310,00!
Net operating losse 32,214,00 29,195,00
Other 1,892,001 1,165,00!
Total deferred tax assets $ 66,774,000 $ 54,178,00
Liabilities
Prepaid expenst $ (639,000 $ (363,000
Intangibles, ne - (3,812,001
Cancellation for indebtedne (1,412,001 -
Estimate for return - (3,287,000
Other (2,253,000 (496,000
Total deferred tax liabilitie $ (4,304,000 $ (7,958,000)
Less valuation allowanc $ (30,296,00) $ (40,716,00)
Net deferred tax asse $ 32,17400 $ 5,504,00
Net current deferred income tax as $ 34,711,00 $ 3,647,00
Net lon¢-term deferred income tax assets (2,537,000 1,857,00!
Total $ 32,17400 $ 5,504,00

At March 31, 2013 and 2012, current deferred inctemdiabilities of $145,000 and $146,000, respatyi, are included in other current liabilities in
the consolidated balance sheet.

At March 31, 2013, the Company had federal, statt@Ganadian net operating loss carryforwards of483000, $11,500,000, and $119,900,000,
respectively. The utilization of these net opegtoss carryforwards may be permanently limited duknternal Revenue Code Section 382 in the
Unites States and similar regulations in Canadar Ry the utilization of such losses, the Compuaiilyperform further analysis to determine the
amount subject to limitation. Additionally, in caith states the suspension of the usage of thepeeating losses may apply. The net operating loss
carryforwards expire between 2020 and 2032.

Realization of the Company's deferred tax assetspgndent upon the Company’s ability to genenafficent taxable income. Management reviews
the Company's deferred tax assets on a jurisdibygarisdiction basis to determine whether it isrmlikely than not that the deferred tax asselis wi
be realized. As a result of Fenco’s cumulativedgsa certain jurisdictions, a determination waslento establish a valuation allowance against the
related deferred tax assets as it is not moreylitteln not that such assets will be realized. Rarther jurisdictions, management believes that it
more likely than not that future taxable incomel Wé sufficient to realize the recorded deferredassets. In evaluating this ability, management
considers long-term agreements and Remanufactueglgirchase obligations with the Company’s majmst@mers that expire at various dates
through March 2019. Management also periodicallypares its forecasts to actual results. Even ththuge can be no assurance that the forecastec
results will be achieved, the history of incomeihother jurisdictions provides sufficient poséievidence that no valuation allowance is needed .
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Fenco is in a net deferred tax asset position. Heweealization of the deferred tax assets is déget on Fenco's ability to generate sufficient
taxable income. Based on the Company’s historpsdds, management believes that it is not morly likan not that future taxable income will be
sufficient to realize Fenco's recorded deferredassets. As a result, the Company has recorddthafuation allowance of $30,296,000 on the
deferred taxes of Fenco.

For the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012, and 2b&Jrimary components of the Companiyicome tax provision were (i) the current liciililue
to federal, state and foreign income taxes, (ii¢ifign income taxed at rates that are different ftbenfederal statutory rate, and (iii) a valuation

allowance established against deferred tax ass®a Wis more likely than not that the asset or portion thereof will not be realized. Additionall
during fiscal 2013, the Company impaired goodwhittis not deductible for tax purposes.

The difference between the income tax expenseedetteral statutory rate and the Company’s effedtx rate is as follows:

Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011

Statutory federal income tax re 34% 34% 34%
State income tax rate, net of federal ber 1% (D)% 3%
Change in deferred tax re -% -% 2%
Foreign income taxed at different ra (9)% (12)% (1%
Goodwill impairment (16)% -% -%
Valuation allowanct 9% (36)% -%
Other income tax -% (1)% 1%

19% (16) 39%

The Company and its subsidiaries file income tarres in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and varisteste and foreign jurisdictions with varying
statutes of limitations. At March 31, 2013, the Qamy is under examination in the United Stateshylternal Revenue Service for fiscal 2012 and
by the State of California for the fiscal years @rough 2010. The Company is not under examinati@any other jurisdiction. The Company
believes no significant changes in the unrecogniardenefits will occur within the next 12 months.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amaaininrecognized tax benefits is as follows at Ma3d.:

2013 2012 2011
Balance at beginning of peri $ 3,613,000 $ 576,000 $ 711,00(
Additions based on tax positions related to theesuryeal 227,00( 116,00( 128,00(
Additions for tax positions of prior ye 57,00( 2,997,00! 298,00(
Reductions for tax positions of prior ye (440,000 (76,000 (561,000
Settlement: - - -
Balance at end of peric $ 3,457,000 $ 3,613,000 $ 576,00(

At March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, there are $10080,$1,783,000 and $389,000 of unrecognized tagfiie that if recognized would affect the
annual effective tax rate.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties ederlated to unrecognized tax benefits as partcofme tax expense. During the years ended
March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, the Company recedrapproximately $36,000, $160,000, and $(4,000)tarest and penalties. The Company had
approximately $460,000 and $424,000 for the payrogintterest and penalties accrued at March 31320M 2012, respectively.
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17. Defined Contribution Plans

The Company has a 401(k) plan covering all emplsye®o are 21 years of age with at least six mootiservice. The plan permits eligible
employees to make contributions up to certain tions, with the Company matching 25% of each gigditing employee’s contribution up to the
first 6% of employee compensation. Employees araéddiately vested in their voluntary employee ctmiions and vest in the Compasyhatching
contributions ratably over five years. The Companyatching contribution to the 401(k) plan was $00@, $102,000 and $92,000 for the fiscal
years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respBct

The Company also offers retirement savings plaa ‘[an”) to all its Canadian-based employees waitleast one-year of continuous service. The
Company’s contribution to the Plan ranges from 8396 of the employees’ base salary. The Comgaogntribution percentage is dependent or
position of the employee and the number of yeaseofice with the Company. The Company’s contridoutiests two years from the date of
enrollment into the Plan. The Company’s contributio the Plan was $255,000 and $343,000 for Hualfiyears ended March 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

18. Stock Options

In January 1994, the Company adopted the 1994 ®pthn Plan (the “1994 Plan”), under which it veaghorized to issue non-qualified stock
options and incentive stock options to key emplsyd@ectors and consultants. After a number ofedi@der-approved increases to this plan, at
March 31, 2002 the aggregate number of stock optEmproved was 960,000 shares of the Company’s constock. The term and vesting period of
options granted is determined by a committee oBibard of Directors with a term not to exceed tearg. At the Company’s Annual Meeting of
Shareholders held on November 8, 2002, the 1994W4s amended to increase the authorized numistranés issued to 1,155,000. As of Marct
2013 and 2012, options to purchase 95,750 and 2@3fTares of common stock, respectively, were andihg under the 1994 Plan and no options
were available for grant.

At the Company’s Annual Meeting of Shareholdersiteel December 17, 2003, the shareholders appriree@ampany’s 2003 Longerm Incentive
Plan (“Incentive Plan”) which had been adoptedhi®y@ompany’s Board of Directors on October 31, 2Q08ler the Incentive Plan, a total of
1,200,000 shares of the Company’s common stock reserved for grants of Incentive Awards and athef Company’s employees are eligible to
participate. The 2003 Incentive Plan will terminateOctober 31, 2013, unless terminated earlighbyCompany’s Board of Directors. As of March
31, 2013 and 2012, options to purchase 1,035,587 slof common stock were outstanding under thenbivee Plan. As of March 31, 2013 and 2012
no options were available for grant. In Januaryl2@iis Incentive Plan was replaced and the Compalhyot make any further grants of awards
under this plan.

In November 2004, the Company'’s shareholders ajggrtive 2004 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Rtha “2004 Plan”) which provides for
the granting of options to non-employee directétthe Company’s Annual Meeting of Shareholdersllwel February 25, 2010, the Company’s
shareholders approved an amendment to the 2004tiaimcreased the number of shares of commotk sézerved for grant under the 2004 Plan
from 175,000 to 275,000. As of March 31, 2013 a@#l2 options to purchase 218,000 and 203,000 sbamEsnmon stock, respectively, were
issued, and 57,000 and 72,000 shares of commok w&re available for grant.

In January 2011, the Company’s shareholders apgrinee2010 Incentive Award Plan (the” 2010 Planhjieh replaced the 2003 Long-term
Incentive Plan. At the Company’s Annual Meetingstiareholders held on March 28, 2013, the Compahdseholders approved an amendment to
the 2010 Plan that increased the number of sh&samon stock reserved for grant under the 2040 Rbm 750,000 to 1,750,000. Under the 2
Plan, shares of the Company’s common stock weegved for grants of incentive awards and all of@menpany’s employees are eligible to
participate. As of March 31, 2013, options to pas# 620,800 shares of common stock were issuetl,ail,033 shares of common stock were
available for grant. No awards were issued unde010 Plan as of March 31, 2012.

The shares of common stock issued upon exerciagmviously granted stock option are considersdiasuances from shares reserved for issuance
upon adoption of the various plans. The Companyires that the option holders provide a writteric@bdf exercise to the stock plan administrator
and payment for the shares prior to issuance détihees.
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A summary of stock option transactions follows:

Number of Weighted Average

Shares Exercise Price
Outstanding at March 31, 20 1,628,33 $ 8.4¢
Granted 18,00 $ 9.61
Exercisec (52,250 $ 3.8¢
Cancelled (3,000 $ 11.0C
Outstanding at March 31, 20 1,591,08 $ 8.61
Granted 15,00( $ 10.0¢
Exercisec (95,550 $ 3.3¢
Cancellec (48,250 $ 3.1¢
Outstanding at March 31, 20. 1,462,28: $ 9.1t
Granted 635,80( $ 6.41
Exercisec (128,000 $ 2.2¢
Cancellec - $ -
Outstanding at March 31, 2013 1,970,08 ¢ 8.77

Based on the market value of the Company’s comrtamk @it March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, the prariasic value of options exercised was
$493,000, $598,000 and $530,000 respectively.

The followings table summarizes information abdet options outstanding at March 31, 2013:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Weighted Average Weighted
Average Remaining Aggregate Average Aggregate
Range of Exercise Life Intrinsic Exercise Intrinsic
Exercise price Shares Price In Years Value Shares Price Value
$ 1.800to $6.34 178,75( % 5.82 3.0C $ 55,41 176,75( $ 58/ $ 51,25¢
$ 6.460to $7.45 716,80( 6.57 8.9¢ - 302,39¢ 6.71 -
$ 8.700to $9.9C 300,20( 9.12 1.3 - 298,20( 9.11 -
$10.010 to $11.9C 359,33 10.21 2.82 - 359,33 10.21 -
$12.000 to $15.0¢ 415,000 g 12.1¢ 3.5¢ - 413,000 g 12.1¢ -
1,970,08. $ 55,41: 1,549,68. $ 51,25¢

The aggregate intrinsic values in the above tapeasent the pre-tax value of all in-the-moneyartiif all such options had been exercised on
March 31, 2013 based on the Company'’s closing gtoick of $6.13 as of that date.

Options to purchase 1,549,683, 1,447,284 and 1)B46&hares of common stock were exercisable asaofivB1, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
The weighted average exercise price of optionsoesaile was $9.33, $9.14 and $8.61 as of Marcl2@13, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
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A summary of changes in the status of non-vestatksiptions during the fiscal year ended March2®11,3 is presented below.

Weighted Average
Number of  Grant Date Fair

Shares Value
Non-vested at March 31, 20: 15,000 $ 4.1¢
Granted 635,800 $ 2.92
Vested (230,399 $ 2.9¢
Nor-vested at March 31, 20: 420,40 ¢ 297

Effective April 1, 2006, the Company began using tiodified prospective application method of traasifor all its stock-based compensation
plans. The Company did not modify the terms of prgviously granted options in anticipation of tlietion of this guidance. At March 31, 2013,
there was $1,059,000 of total unrecognized compiemsexpense from stock-based compensation gramtedr the plans, which is related to non-
vested shares. The compensation expense is expgediedecognized over a weighted average vesgrigghof 2.1 years.

19. Shareholders’ Equity Transactions
Share Repurchase Program

In March 2010, the Company’s Board of Directorshauzed a share repurchase program of up to $%)00®f the Company’s outstanding common
stock from time to time in the open market andringie transactions at prices deemed appropriatednyagement. There is no expiration date
governing the period over which the Company canmamse shares under this program. Under this filariCompany repurchased and retired
67,347 shares at a total cost of approximately £889 The Company’s credit agreements currentlipiosuch repurchases.

Private Placemer

In April 2012, the Company entered into a SubsiipAgreement and a Registration Rights Agreemendise approximately $15,004,000 in gross
proceeds and net proceeds of $13,970,000 aftenszpahrough a private placement of its commorkstgarsuant to the terms of the Subscription
Agreement, certain accredited investors purchasexjgregate of 1,936,000 shares of common stoalpiivate placement exempt from registration
under the Securities Act in reliance upon Rule 80Begulation D, for a purchase price of $7.75gw®re. The Company used the proceeds to
enhance the integration of its Fenco acquisitichfan general corporate purposes.

Pursuant to the Registration Rights AgreementQibipany agreed to file a registration statemertt thié SEC to register for resale the common
stock sold in the private placement not later thanlays after the closing of the private placenagtto use commercially reasonable efforts to cause
such registration statement to be declared effectiubject to certain exceptions, within 60 daysla$ing (or 120 days in the event of an SEC
review). Failure to meet these deadlines and cedthier events resulted in the Company’s paymetiitagurchasers of liquidated damages in the
amount of 1.0% of the purchase price per 30-dapg@grending filing of the registration statemerfteetiveness of the registration statement or other
events, as applicable. On June 12, 2012, the Coyrfped a registration statement under the Se@asifict of 1933 to register the shares of common
stock; however, the registration statement waglaolared effective in accordance with the deadlingse Registration Rights Agreement and the
Company began accruing liquidated damages stastifgugust 25, 2012. Liquidated damages could btedetither in cash or, at the option of the
purchaser, in shares of the Company’s common siagkng fiscal 2013, the Company recorded $675@0feneral and administrative expense for
the settlement of these liquidated damages. ThésRatipn Statement was declared effective in timder applicable securities laws on January 7,
2013.
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20. Litigation

The Company is subject to various lawsuits andrddn the normal course of business. Managemerst niaebelieve that the outcome of these
matters will have a material adverse effect offiit@ncial position or future results of operations.

21. Related Party Transactions

The Company has arrangements or entered into agreemith three members of its Board of Directdsssrs. Mel Marks, Philip Gay and Selwyn
Joffe.

In August 2000, the Company’s Board of Directoreeagd to engage Mr. Mel Marks to provide consulsegvices to the Company. Mr. Marks was
paid an annual consulting fee of $350,000 per yeder this arrangement. Mr. Marks was paid $350¢00thg each of the years ended March 31,
2013, 2012, and 2011. In March 2013, the Compatsred into an agreement with Mr. Marks whereby Marks will no longer serve as a
consultant to the Company. Pursuant to this agragrttee Company agreed to pay a one-time fee 0® $80 and an additional compensation of
$300,000 to be paid ratably on a monthly basisnduttie term.

On May 3, 2012, the Company entered into the Rijfrirst Refusal Agreement with Mr. Marks and MetiksaEnterprises LLLP, a limited liability
limited partnership controlled by Mr. Marks (theif&@eholders”), which, among other things, provitiesCompany with the right to purchase any or
all shares of common stock that the Shareholdeysgse to sell or transfer, subject to certain etiopp. Pursuant to the Right of First Refusal
Agreement, the Company has 30 days after notieeppbposed sale or transfer to exercise its rigputchase such shares, and may do so at a price
that is 10% below the average daily closing prieeghare of its common stock for the five conseeutiading days immediately preceding the date
of such notice. The Right of First Refusal Agreettas a term of three years.

In December 2012, the Company entered into a seqmlrchase agreement (the “Stock Repurchase Agre&meéth the Shareholders, which,

among other things, provides the Shareholderstéloption to sell up to $300,000 of the Compargsimon stock held by the Shareholders (the
“Shares”), on or prior to February 28, 2013, atiechase price that is 10% below the average dhikirgg price per share of its common stock for the
five consecutive trading days immediately precedirggdate of the notice of sale. During fiscal 2ah® Company repurchased and retired 52,947
Shares at a total cost of approximately $300,000.

The Company agreed to pay Mr. Gay $90,000 perfpeaerving on the Company’s Board of Directors] &or being Chairman of the Company’s
Audit and Ethics Committees.

On May 18, 2012, the Company entered into a newl@ment agreement (the “New Employment Agreemewith Mr. Joffe, which terminates al
supersedes Mr. Joffe’s previous employment agreethahwas to expire on August 31, 2012. The NevwpByment Agreement provides for Mr.
Joffe to serve as the Company’s Chairman, Presat@hChief Executive Officer for a term expiring Aagust 31, 2015, unless extended or earlier
terminated. Pursuant to the New Employment Agre¢mién Joffe will receive a base salary of $600,@@0 year, which will be reviewed from time
to time in accordance with the Company'’s estabtigitvecedures for adjusting salaries for similaityated employees. Mr. Joffe will be eligible to
participate in the Company’s Annual Incentive Pdalopted and amended from time to time by the Bthed“Annual Incentive Plan”), with a target
bonus equal to 100% of Mr. Joffe’s salary (the “Aahincentive Bonuses”)n addition to the Annual Incentive Bonuses, thenpany paid Mr. Jofi

a one-time bonus of $250,000 upon the signing®NbBw Employment Agreement and awarded Mr. Joffaaranteed bonus of $500,000, which is
payable in three annual installments: $168,000 ay VB, 2012; $166,000 on May 18, 2013; and $166¢00®lay 18, 2014.

Pursuant to Mr. Joffe’s previous employment agregntee was entitled to receive a transaction fek@¥ of the “total consideration” of any
transaction, including any transaction resulting ichange of control, his efforts brought to thenpany. In lieu of this transaction fee, pursuant to
the New Employment Agreement, the Company grantesiyant to its 2010 Plan (i) a fully-vested optiorpurchase 109,100 shares of the
Company’s common stock equal to $250,000 baseteBlack-Scholes valuation method and (ii) 51,1164rss of fully vested restricted stock with

a fair value of $331,000 in December 2012. The Camgpwithheld 25,137 shares based upon the Comgatgsing stock price on the vesting dal
settle Mr. Joffe’s minimum statutory obligation filve applicable income and other employment ta¥é® Company then remitted cash to the
appropriate taxing authorities. Total payment fos tax obligation to the taxing authorities wa$3%$,000 and is reflected as a financing activity
within the consolidated statements of cash flowssE net-share settlements had the effect of stmechases by the Company as they reduced anc
retired the number of shares that would have otiserveen issued as a result of the vesting andadicepresent an expense to the Company.
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Pursuant to the New Employment Agreement, Mr. Jaifealso be eligible to receive annual awardsemithe 2010 Plan in such amounts as are
determined by the Compensation Committee as admatos of the 2010 Plan in its sole and absoluserdition (the “Annual Awards”). Such awards
may be in the form of options, restricted stocktnieted stock units, performance shares, perfocamamits or such other form of award as detern
by the Compensation Committee as administratdn@®010 Plan in its sole and absolute discretion.

In January 2013, the Company entered into an optimchase agreement (the “Option Purchase Agreé&pweith Mr. Joffe. Pursuant to this
agreement, among other things, the Company purdhideseloffe’s options to purchase 101,500 shargh@fCompany’s common stock granted
under the Company’s 1994 Stock Option Plan at @uethase price of $454,675. This payment repreghntdifference per share of common stock
between $6.87, the average closing price of thef@mryis common stock for the five consecutive trgdiays preceding, and including the date of
the Option Purchase Agreement, and the exercise pfithe respective stock options, discountedgiereent and multiplied by the total number of
shares under Mr. Joffe’s stock options.

Other Related Party Transactions

During fiscal 2013, the Company paid Houlihan Lokéyward & Zukin Capital, Inc. $350,000 in conneatiwith the restructuring of Fenco. Scott J.
Adelson, a member of the Company’s Board of Dines;tis a Senior Managing Director for Houlihan Lpkéoward & Zukin Capital Inc.

22. Segment Information

The Company has two reportable segments, themgtatectrical segment and the undercar productsiégnent, based on the way the Company
manages, evaluates and internally reports its basiactivities.

The rotating electrical segment is comprised ofCleenpany’s alternator and starter business. Tlhggsieat manufactures, remanufactures, and
distributes alternators and starters for import doshestic cars, light trucks, heavy duty, agriaaltand industrial applications. These replacement
parts are sold for use on vehicles after initidigke purchase.

The undercar product line segment remanufacturgslstributes new and remanufactured aftermarktet parts, including steering components,
brake calipers, master cylinders, hub assemblybaadngs, for virtually all passenger and truckieks.

The Company'’s products are sold to automotive Irekeiin stores, warehouse distributors, and to nejtomobile manufacturers throughout North
America.

The results of operations of Fenco have been ieddbm the date of acquisition on May 6, 2011 aRitial information relating to the Company’s
reportable segments is as follows:

Year Ended March 31, 201:

Rotating Undercar
Selected statement of operations da Electrical Product Line  Eliminations Consolidated
Net sales to external custom $ 213,151,00 $ 193,115,000 $ - $ 406,266,00
Gross profit (loss 69,341,00 (13,613,00) - 55,728,00
Operating los: (47,481,00) (123,139,00) 81,795,00 (88,825,00)
Net loss (38,046,00)  (135,260,00) 81,795,00 (91,511,00)
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Selected statement of operations da

Net sales to external custom:
Intersegment revenue, net of ¢

Gross profit (loss
Operating income (los!
Net income (loss

Selected statement of operations da

Net sales to external custom:

Gross profit
Operating incom:
Net income

Selected balance sheet da

Current assetl
Nonr-current assel

Total assets

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Equity (deficit)
Total liabilities and equity

Selected balance sheet da

Current asset
Nonr-current assel

Total assets

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Equity (deficit)
Total liabilities and equity
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Year Ended March 31, 201z

Rotating Undercar
Electrical Product Line  Eliminations ~ Consolidated
178,551,00 $ 185,136,00 $ - $ 363,687,00
1,853,00! - (1,853,001 -
57,332,00 (29,625,00) - 27,707,00
26,574,00 (54,061,00) - (27,487,00)
14,300,00 (62,814,00) - (48,514,00)
Year Ended March 31, 2011
Rotating Undercar
Electrical Product Line Eliminations Consolidated
161,285,00 $ - $ - $ 161,285,00
51,382,00 - - 51,382,00
25,384,00 - - 25,384,00
12,220,00 - - 12,220,00
March 31, 2013
Rotating Undercar
Electrical Product Line Eliminations Consolidated
102,031,00 $ 54,024,00 $ (3,424,000 $ 152,631,00
175,055,00 44,334,00 (4,946,000 214,443,00
277,086,00 $ 98,358,000 $ (8,370,000 $ 367,074,00
68,716,000 $ 183,645,00 $ (32,588,00) $ 219,773,00
95,605,00 107,841,00 (52,631,00) 150,815,00
164,321,00 291,486,00 (85,219,00) 370,588,00
112,765,00 (193,128,00) 76,849,00 (3,514,000
277,086,000 $ 98,358,000 $ (8,370,000 $ 367,074,00
March 31, 2012
Rotating Undercar
Electrical Product Line Eliminations Consolidated
115,451,00 $ 81,778,00 $ (28,998,00) $ 168,231,00
179,167,00 186,896,00 (32,396,00) 333,667,00
294,618,00 $ 268,674,00 $ (61,394,00) $ 501,898,00
72,987,000 $ 126,430,00 $ (28,998,00) $ 170,419,00
85,201,00 200,112,00 (27,453,00) 257,860,00
158,188,00 326,542,00 (56,451,00) 428,279,00
136,430,00 (57,868,00) (4,943,000 73,619,00
294,618,00 $ 268,674,00 $ (61,394,00) $ 501,898,00
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Year Ended March 31, 201:

Rotating Undercar
Selected cash flow dati Electrical Product Line  Eliminations Consolidated
Net cash used in operating activit $ (4,969,000 $ (26,092,00) $ - $ (31,061,00)
Net cash used in investing activiti (2,371,001 (1,698,001 - (4,069,001
Net cash provided by financing activiti 21,639,00 263,00( 21,902,00
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ 45,00( - 45,00(
Cash— Beginning of perioc 32,379,00 238,00( 32,617,00
Cash— End of perioc 19,346,00 88,00( - 19,434,000
Additional selected financial data
Depreciation and amortizatic $ 2,849,000 $ 2,436,000 $ - $ 5,285,00
Capital expenditure 2,330,001 1,698,001 - 4,028,001

Year Ended March 31, 201z

Rotating Undercar
Selected cash flow dati Electrical Product Line  Eliminations Consolidated
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi $ 15,464,000 $ (53,952,00) $ - $ (38,488,00)
Net cash used in investing activiti (1,047,001 (544,000 - (1,591,001
Net cash provided by financing activiti 61,060,00 9,122,00! - 70,182,00
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ 37,00( - - 37,00(
Cash— Beginning of perioc 2,477,000 - - 2,477,000
Cash— End of perioc 32,379,00 238,00( - 32,617,00
Additional selected financial data
Depreciation and amortizatic $ 3,466,000 $ 3,884,000 $ - $ 7,350,00
Capital expenditure 1,010,00! 544,00( - 1,554,00!

Year Ended March 31, 2011

Rotating Undercar
Selected cash flow dati Electrical Product Line  Eliminations Consolidated
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 10,735,000 $ - 9% - $ 10,735,00
Net cash used in investing activiti (6,723,001 - - (6,723,000
Net cash used in financing activiti (2,790,001 - - (2,790,001
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ 45,00( - - 45,00(
Cash— Beginning of perioc 1,210,00! - - 1,210,00!
Cash— End of perioc 2,477,001 - - 2,477,001
Additional selected financial data
Depreciation and amortizatic $ 3,900,000 $ - 8 - $ 3,900,00
Capital expenditure 1,566,00! - - 1,566,00!

23. Subsequent Events

During May 2013, Fenco appointed a new board ofpeshdent directors, hired an independent chiefuesiring officer and all its previously
existing officers resigned from FAPL. As a resdlttee loss of control of Fenco, the Company wKkly deconsolidate the financial statements of
Fenco from its consolidated financial statementindithe first quarter of fiscal 2014. On June 2013, Fenco filed a voluntary petition for relief
under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code in the Ba&kruptcy Court for the District of Delaware. AMarch 31, 2013, Fenco'’s financial
statements are included in the consolidated firustatements of the Company. The Company’s cateteld financial statements are prepared
assuming the Company will continue as a going camckhe financial statements do not include anystdjents to reflect future adverse effects on
the recoverability and classification of assetamounts and classification of liabilities that miagult from the outcome of this uncertainty.
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24. Unaudited Quarterly Financial Data

The following table summarizes selected quarterigiricial data for the fiscal year ended March 31,2.

Net sales
Cost of goods sol
Gross profit
Operating expense
General and administratiy
Sales and marketir
Research and developme
Impairment of goodwill and intangible ass
Total operating expenses
Operating (loss) incom
Other expense
Interest expens
(Loss) income before income tax expense (ber
Income tax expense (bene!

Net (loss) incomi
Basic net (loss) income per share

Diluted net (loss) income per share

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
$ 89,023,000 $ 111,632,00 $ 116,275,00 $ 89,336,00
76,909,00 94,911,00 92,232,00 86,486,00
12,114,00 16,721,00 24,043,00 2,850,001
11,564,00 11,193,00 12,779,00 8,990,00!
3,539,001 3,904,001 2,687,001 2,583,001
436,00( 461,00( 807,00( 924,00(
- - - 84,686,00
15,539,00 15,558,00 16,273,00 97,183,00
(3,425,000 1,163,00! 7,770,000 (94,333,00)
5,084,001 6,162,00 5,889,001 7,271,000
(8,509,001 (4,999,001 1,881,00! (101,604,00)
1,353,00! 3,934,001 946,00( (27,953,00)
$ (9,862,000 $ (8,933,000 $ 935,000 $ (73,651,00)
$ (0.7) $ (0.62) $ 0.0¢6 $ (5.09
$ 0.70) $ (0.62) $ 0.06 $ (5.09

The following table summarizes selected quarterigrfcial data for the fiscal year ended March 31,2 including the Fenco operations from the

date of acquisition on May 6, 2011:

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit (loss
Operating expense
General and administratiy
Sales and marketir
Research and developm
Impairment of plant and equipme
Acquisition costs
Total operating expenses
Operating los:
Other expense
Interest expense
Loss before income tax exper
Income tax expense

Net loss
Basic net loss per share

Diluted net loss per share

Quarterly and year-to-date computations of peresharounts are made independently. Therefore, theo§per share amounts for the quarters may

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
$ 70,510,00 $ 107,616,00 $ 84,097,00 $ 101,464,00
63,477,00 92,637,00 85,678,00 94,188,00
7,033,001 14,979,00 (2,581,001 7,276,001
8,309,00! 11,309,00 10,155,00 9,108,00!
2,453,001 3,197,001 3,369,001 3,785,001
416,00( 401,00( 453,00( 495,00(
- - 1,031,00! -
404,00( 309,00( - -
11,582,00 15,216,00 15,008,00 13,388,00
(4,549,000 (237,000 (16,589,00) (6,112,001
1,914,00! 3,389,00! 3,262,00! 5,690,00!
(6,463,001 (3,626,001 (19,851,00) (11,802,00)
1,842,00! 1,813,00! 1,976,00! 1,141,00!
$ (8,305,000 $ (5,439,000 $ (21,827,00) $ (12,943,00)
$ (0.68) $ (049 $ 1.7 $ (1.09)
$ (0.6¢) $ (0.49) $ (1.74 $ (1.09)

not agree with per share amounts for the year stedsawhere in the Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Schedule 11— Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Accounts Receivable— Allowance for doubtful accounts

Charge to
Balance at (recovery of) Balance at
Years Ended beginning of bad debts Amounts end of
March 31,  Description period expense written off period
2013 Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 968,00( $ 659,00( $ 37,00 $ 1,590,00I
2012 Allowance for doubtful accounts ( $ 1,049,000 $ (16,000 $ 65,000 $ 968,00(
2011 Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 1,141,000 $ (38,000 $ 77,00 $ 1,026,001

1) Includes $23,000 of allowance for doubtful accowstgblished in the opening balance sheet in coionerith the Compar’s May 6, 201:

acquisition.

Accounts Receivable— Allowance for customer-payment discrepancies

Balance at Charge to Balance at
Years Ended beginning of  discrepancies Amounts end of
March 31,  Description period expense Processec period
2013 Allowance for custom-payment discrepancit $ 280,00 $ 2,035,000 $ (235,000 $ 2,550,00
2012 Allowance for custome-payment discrepancit $ 648,000 $ 270,000 $ 638,000 $ 280,00(
2011 Allowance for customepayment discrepancit $ 553,000 $ 850,00( $ 755,000 $ 648,00(
Inventory — Allowance for excess and obsolete inventory
Provision for
Balance at excess an( Balance at
Years Ended beginning of obsolete Amounts end of
March 31,  Description period inventory written off period
2013 Allowance for excess and obsolete invent $ 11,308,00 $ 17,383,000 $ 3,698,000 $ 24,993,00
2012 Allowance for excess and obsolete inventory $ 14,736,000 $ 3,012,000 $ 6,440,000 $ 11,308,00
2011 Allowance for excess and obsolete invent $ 2,480,000 $ 1,804,000 $ 1,685,000 $ 2,599,00I

1) Includes $12,137,000 of allowance for excessarsblete inventory established in the openingrizsaheet in connection with the

Compan’s May 6, 2011 acquisitiol
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Exhibit 10.58

SIXTH AMENDMENT AND WAIVER TO FINANCING AGREEMENT

SIXTH AMENDMENT AND WAIVER, dated as of June 14, P® (this "_Sixth Amendmeny, to the Financing Agreement, da
as of January 18, 2012 (as amended by First AmenidtoeFinancing Agreement, dated as of March 1822@®econd Amendment to Financ
Agreement, dated as of May 24, 2012, Third Amendni@rFinancing Agreement, dated as of August 22,22@-ourth Amendment to Financir
Agreement, dated as of December 3, 2012, Fifth Almamt to Financing Agreement, dated as of Janugrgd13, and as further amended, rest
supplemented, modified or otherwise changed frone tio time, the " Financing Agreeméhtby and among Motorcar Parts of America, IndNew
York corporation (the "_Borrowet), the lenders from time to time party theretocfea " _Lender' and collectively, the " _Lendery, Cerberu
Business Finance, LLC, a Delaware limited liabiliigmpany ("_Cerberu9, as collateral agent for the Lenders (in sucpacity, together with i
successors and assigns in such capacity, the &t€all Agent'), and PNC Bank, National Association (* PN)C as administrative agent for 1
Lenders (in such capacity, together with its susaesand assigns in such capacity, the " AdmiriggaAgent" and together with the Collate
Agent, each an " Ageritand collectively, the " Agents.

WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Agents and the Lenddashwo amend certain terms and provisions of tmaféing Agreement
hereafter set forth.

WHEREAS, Section 7.01(a)(iii) of the Financing Agmeent requires, among other things, delivery dadritial statements and ot
reports for the Fiscal Year ended March 31, 20k®mpanied by a report and an unqualified opiniomdépendent certified public accountant
the Borrower (which opinion shall be without (iYgoing concern” or like qualification or exceptidii) any qualification or exception as to the se
of such audit, or (iii) any qualification which atés to the treatment or classification of any im which, as a condition to the removal of :
qualification, would require an adjustment to siteim, the effect of which would be to cause anyamwnpliance with the provisions oSection 7.0
of the Financing Agreement).

WHEREAS, the Borrower has been advised by its fedtpublic accountants that its opinion will bebgct to a "going concer
qualification as a result of (i) Fenwick's recugioperating losses, (ii) Fenwick's working capdald equity deficiency, (iii) Fenwick's failure
comply with certain financial covenants under @arl agreement with M&T Bank and (iv) Fenwick'snfiiof an Insolvency Proceeding in the |
Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware om@dul0, 2013 (the " Fenwick Insolvency Proceedirand collectively, the " FenwielRelater
Events").

WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested that the Agentsthe Lenders waive any Event of Default thatilb@therwise aris
under Section 9.01 of the Financing Agreement gesalt of the Borrower's failure to deliver to thgents and the Lenders an unqualified opinic
its certified public accountants for the Fiscal ¥eaded March 31, 2013 as required under Secti@h(&)(iii)) of the Financing Agreement, and
Agents and the Lenders are willing to do so ontéinens and conditions set forth herein.




NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises athér good and valuable consideration, the pahtesto hereby agree

follows:
1. Defined Terms Any capitalized term used herein and not defisieall have the meaning assigned to it in the FimgnAgreement.
2. Amendment:.
(@) New Definitions. Section 1.01 of the Financing Agreement is hehended by adding the following definitions, ppeopriatt

alphabetical order:

" Eenwick Restructuring Costshas the meaning specified therefor in the definiof Consolidated EBITDA."

" Liquidity " means Availability plus Qualified Cash (calcuthteithout giving effect to (a) any receipt of taefunds b
the Borrower and its Subsidiaries and (b) any cesteipts attributable to the Borrower's wheel habsgl bearing
business)."

" Sixth Amendment means the Sixth Amendment to this Agreement,ddateof June 14, 2013, among the Borrowel
Agents and the Lenders."

" Sixth Amendment Effective Datemeans the date on which the Sixth Amendment $iedbme effective in accordai
with its terms."

" Specified Cost$ means (a) any stadp costs incurred by the Borrower in connectiorhvitis wheel hubs and bearii
business (including, the purchase by the Borroweteotain Inventory from Fenwick or other vendoes) approved
writing by the Required Lenders and (b) any FenviRelstructuring Costs."

(b) Existing Definitions.

0] Clause (b)(v) of the definition of "Consolidated IEBA" in Section 1.01 of the Financing Agreemenhireby amend:t
and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

"(v) the amount of all costs, fees and expenses incurrednnection with (A) the Transactions, includingh respec
to the writeoff of deferred fees and expenses related to thstikg Credit Facility, (B) the Third Amendment afitt
Wanxiang Transaction Documents, (C) the Sixth Ammegwt and (D) liquidating Fenwick in an aggregateoant not t
exceed $300,000 and as approved in writing by tequiRRed Lenders (including, without limitation, tesfees an
expenses of Houlihan Lokey and Latham & Watkins }.[dtch costs described in this clause (D§ehwick Restructurir
Costs")"




(ii) The definition of "Excess Cash Flow" in Section1ldd the Financing Agreement is hereby amended\pyléleting "and
immediately following clause (b)(viii) thereof, (B)eleting the period immediately following claud®(ix) thereof and (C) inserting the followi
immediately following clause (b)(ix) thereof:

", and (x) all Fenwick Restructuring Costs to tléeat paid in cash during such period, if any."

(i) Clause (b)(ii) of the definition of "Fixed Chargew&rage Ratio" in Section 1.01 of the Financinge&gnent is herel
amended and restated in its entirety to read &sfsl

" (i) Consolidated Net Interest Expense of such Persdritsau$ubsidiaries for such period (excluding (A& honeast
portions of Consolidated Net Interest Expense a@)dafy fees payable in connection with (1) the @hmendmer
pursuant to the Fee Letter, (2) the letter agre¢ndexted as of February 4, 2013, by the Borroweraoknowledged by tl
Collateral Agent, and (3) the letter agreementedats of March 13, 2013, by the Borrower and ackedged by th
Collateral Agent)"

(c) Section 7.01(a) (Reporting Regquirementsyection 7.01(a)(xvii) of the Financing Agreemenhereby amended by deleting "a
at the end of such Section. Section 7.01(a)(xigihereby amended and restated to read as follmasthe following new Sections 7.01(a)(xix)
7.01(a)(xx) of the Financing Agreement are herelsgited immediately following Section 7.01(a)(XYvaf the Financing Agreement:

"(xviii) within 15 days after each of the dates set fort8ention 7.03(d), a certificate of an Authorizedi€f of the
Borrower, in form and substance reasonably sat@fiado the Agents, attaching a schedule showirggddiculation ¢
Availability and Qualified Cash;

(xix) at least 2 Business Days (or such shorter pericghal be agreed to by the Agents) prior to subingitany
filing relating to the purchase by the Borroweranfy Inventory of Fenwick in connection with the Réck Insolvenc
Proceeding, copies of such filing and other relatecLiments as any Agent may reasonably request;

(xx) promptly upon request, such other information comog the condition or operations, financial orerthise
of any Loan Party or any Excluded Subsidiary as/ggnt may from time to time may reasonably reqtiest

(d) Section 7.03(d) (Liquidity) Article VII of the Financing Agreement is hereagnended by adding the following immediately ¢
Section 7.03(c) of the Financing Agreement:

"(d) Liguidity . Permit Liquidity on the dates set forth belowb®less than the amount set forth opposite suieh da
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Date Minimum Liquidity
June 28, 2013 $25,000,000_minudo the extent Specified Costs paid in ¢
during the period from the Sixth Amendment EffeetiDate t
June 28, 2013 exceed cash receipts from the Boriowaeel hut
and bearings business during such period, the anegual to th
lesser of such excess and $8,000,

July 31, 2013 $26,000,000_minudo the extent Specified Costs paid in ¢
during the period from the Sixth Amendment Effeetvate to Jul
31, 2013 exceed cash receipts from the Borrowdreehubs ar
bearings business during such period, the amounéaleip the
lesser of such excess and $8,000,

August 30, 201. $27,000,000minus to the extent Specified Costs paid in ¢
during the period from the Sixth Amendment EffeetiDate t
August 30, 2013 exceed cash receipts from the Bar's whee
hubs and bearings business during such periogniweint equal
the lesser of such excess and $8,000,!

(e) Section 9.01(c)(i) (Events of Default)Section 9.01(c)(i) of the Financing Agreemertiéseby amended and restated in its en
to read as follows:

() clauses (a)(i), (@)(ii), (a)ii), (@)(iv), (@)(VIa)(vi), (a)(xvii), (@)(xviii), (a) (xix), (b), (& (d), (), (h), (1)
(n), (0), (p) or (q) of Section 7.01Section 7.02 Section 7.0%r Article VIII of this Agreement, Sections 6(f)(&, 6(h), 6
(), 6(m), 6(n) and 7 of the Security Agreement atalises (c), (), (h), (i), (), (k) and () of #ele Sixth of the Pledc
Agreement;"

® Schedule 6.01() (Nature of BusinessSchedule 6.01(l) of the Financing Agreementasshy amended and restated to re:
follows:




"Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. remanufactures aesklls alternators, starters, wheel hubs andirgsafol
import and domestic cars, light trucks, heavy datyricultural and industrial applications. Our ¢uots are distribute
predominantly throughout the United States and Garsend sold to the largest auto parts retail chairtise United Statt
and Canada, including Advance, AutoZone, GenuimesKEBIAPA), O'Reilly Automotive and Pep Boys. Iddition, ou
products are sold to various traditional warehodseegprofessional installers and to major automeliianufacturers f
both their aftermarket programs and their warraaptacement programs.”

3. Waiver.

(a) Pursuant to the request of the Borrower and iramek upon the representations of the Borrower testherein, th
Agents and the Lenders hereby waive any Event éiidethat would otherwise arise under Section @fthe Financing Agreement solely as a r¢
of the Borrower's failure to deliver to the Ageatsd the Lenders an unqualified opinion of its €iedi public accountants for the Fiscal Year er
March 31, 2013 as required under Section 7.0lijagfiithe Financing Agreement; providéidat the Borrower shall deliver to the Agents ahe
Lenders the financial statements and all otherrtspequired under Section 7.01(a)(iii) of the Ficiag Agreement for the Fiscal Year ended M
31, 2013 (including, without limitation, an opiniaf the Borrower's certified public accountants ighhopinion (i) may be subject to "a go
concern” qualification as a result of the Fenwitddated Events and (ii) shall be without (A) anylification or exception as to the scope of ¢
audit, or (B) any qualification which relates t@ ttieatment or classification of any item and whiaha condition to the removal of such qualifiza,
would require an adjustment to such item, the éfféonvhich would be to cause any noncompliance wlith provisions of Section 7.03 of tt
Financing Agreement)) on or prior to July 1, 2013.

(b) The waiver in this Section 3 shall be effectiveyonl this specific instance and for the specificgmse set forth herein a
does not allow for any other or further departuoarf the terms and conditions of the Financing Agrest or any other Loan Document, which te
and conditions shall continue in full force andeeff

4. Conditions to Effectiveness The effectiveness of this Sixth Amendment isjectito the fulfillment, in a manner satisfactooythe Agent:
of each of the following conditions precedent (tia&e such conditions are fulfilled or waived by thgents is hereinafter referred to as th®ixth
Amendment Effective Dat8:

@ Representations and Warranties; No Event of Defailhe following statements shall be true and adrréi) the representatio
and warranties contained in this Sixth Amendmem®;TACLE VI of the Financing Agreement and in eachestLoan Document, certificate or ot
writing delivered to any Agent or any Lender purdizereto or thereto on or prior to the Sixth Ammaedt Effective Date are true and correct on
as of the Sixth Amendment Effective Date as thoogtde on and as of such date, except to the extahtahy such representation or warr.
expressly relates solely to an earlier date (inclvltiase such representation or warranty shallugeaind correct on and as of such earlier datejig
no Default or Event of Default shall have occuraa be continuing on the Sixth Amendment Effectdate or would result from this Si»
Amendment becoming effective in accordance witheitms.
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(b) Execution of Amendment The Agents and the Lenders shall have exectiiedSixth Amendment and shall have receiv
counterpart to this Sixth Amendment, duly execltg@ach Loan Party.

(c) Payment of Fees, Etc The Borrower shall have paid on or before thetfSAmendment Effective Date all fees and invoicedt:
and expenses then payable by the Borrower pursadhe Loan Documents, including, without limitatjcSections 2.06 and 12.04 of the Finan
Agreement.

(d) Delivery of Documents The Collateral Agent shall have received onefpke the Sixth Amendment Effective Date the foilogy
each in form and substance reasonably satisfatddhe Collateral Agent and, unless indicated oties, dated the Sixth Amendment Effective D

0] a copy of the resolutions of each Loan Party, fiedtias of the Sixth Amendment Effective Date byAarthorized Office
thereof, authorizing the execution, delivery andgrenance by such Loan Party of this Sixth Amendmtre performance of the Loan Document
amended thereby, and the execution and delivetiyeobther documents to be delivered by such Loaty Raconnection herewith and therewith;

(ii) a certificate of an Authorized Officer of each LoRarty, certifying as to the matters set forth umhsection (a) of th
Section 4; and

(i) such other agreements, instruments, approvalsiomgiand other documents, each satisfactory té\gents in form an
substance, as any Agent may reasonably request.

5. Representations and WarrantieEach Loan Party represents and warrants asvgllo

@ Organization, Good Standing, Et&ach Loan Party (i) is a corporation, limited llp company or limited partnership dt
organized, validly existing and in good standinglemthe laws of the state or jurisdiction of itgamization, (ii) has all requisite power and auitly
to conduct its business as now conducted and aemtg contemplated, and to execute and deliver $isith Amendment, and to consummate
transactions contemplated hereby and by the Fingndgreement, as amended hereby, and (iii) is dulglified to do business and is in g
standing in each jurisdiction in which the charaag&the properties owned or leased by it or incalhihe transaction of its business makes
qualification necessary, except (solely for thepmses of this subclause (iii)) where the failureb so qualified or in good standing could
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Askv&ffect.




(b) Authorization, Etc. The execution, delivery and performance by eadml®arty of this Sixth Amendment, and the perforcean
the Financing Agreement, as amended hereby, (i lh&en duly authorized by all necessary actiohdgi not and will not contravene any of
Governing Documents or any applicable Requireméhie in any material respect or any material Cactwal Obligation binding on or otherw
affecting it or any of its properties, (iii) do nahd will not result in or require the creationamiy Lien (other than pursuant to any Loan Docun
upon or with respect to any of its properties, &myldo not and will not result in any default, mmmpliance, suspension, revocation, impairn
forfeiture or nonrenewal of any permit, licensethanization or approval applicable to its operasiam any of its properties.

(c) Governmental Approvals No authorization or approval or other action bBgd no notice to or filing with, any Governme
Authority is required in connection with the dueeeution, delivery and performance of this Sixth Adment by the Loan Parties, and
performance of the Financing Agreement, as amehdszby.

(d) Enforceability of the Sixth AmendmentThis Sixth Amendment and the Financing Agreemasntmended herebyhen delivere
hereunder, will be legal, valid and binding obligation of each Ldzarty, enforceable against such Loan Party in decme with the terms there
except as enforceability may be limited by appliedbankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratarior other similar laws affecting creditt
rights generally.

(e) Representations and Warranties; No Event of Defailhe following statements shall be true and adrréi) the representatio
and warranties contained in this Sixth Amendmem®;TACLE VI of the Financing Agreement and in eachestLoan Document, certificate or ot
writing delivered to any Agent or any Lender purduzereto or thereto on or prior to the Sixth Anmeedt Effective Date are true and correct on
as of the Sixth Amendment Effective Date as thoogtde on and as of such date, except to the extahtahy such representation or warr.
expressly relates solely to an earlier date (inclvltiase such representation or warranty shallugeatind correct on and as of such earlier datejig
no Default or Event of Default has occurred andastinuing on the Sixth Amendment Effective Datenauld result from this Sixth Amendm
becoming effective in accordance with its terms.

6. Release Each Loan Party hereby acknowledges and aghegs (a) neither it nor any of its Affiliates haay claim or cause of acti
against any Agent or any Lender (or any of thespestive Affiliates, officers, directors, employeastorneys, consultants or agents) and (b)
Agent and each Lender has heretofore properly pagd and satisfied in a timely manner all of ittigdations to the Loan Parties and their Affilie
under the Financing Agreement and the other Loawcubwents that are required to have been performedroprior to the date here
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Agents and ltkeders wish (and the Loan Parties agree) to editaimny possibility that any past conditic
acts, omissions, events or circumstances would imggaotherwise adversely affect any of the Agearsd the Lenders' rights, interests, sec
and/or remedies under the Financing Agreementlaather Loan Documents. Accordingly, for andonsideration of the agreements containe
this Sixth Amendment and other good and valuabfesiceration, each Loan Party (for itself and it§ilistes and the successors, assigns, heir
representatives of each of the foregoing) (coNetyi, the " Releasory does hereby fully, finally, unconditionally aievocably release and fore
discharge each Agent, each Lender and each of thepective Affiliates, officers, directors, empd®p, attorneys, consultants and ac
(collectively, the " Released Parti§sfrom any and all debts, claims, obligations, daes, costs, attorneys' fees, suits, demandsljtiehiactions
proceedings and causes of action, in each casehehknown or unknown, contingent or fixed, direet indirect, and of whatever nature
description, and whether in law or in equity, undentract, tort, statute or otherwise, which anyeBsor has heretofore had or now or hereafte
shall or may have against any Released Party tspneaf any act, omission or thing whatsoever danenditted to be done on or prior to the S
Amendment Effective Date directly arising out obnaected with or related to this Sixth Amendmeln¢, Einancing Agreement or any other L
Document, or any act, event or transaction relatedttendant thereto, or the agreements of any tAgemny Lender contained therein, or
possession, use, operation or control of any ofifsets of any Loan Party, or the making of anynkaa other advances, or the management of
Loans or advances or the Collateral.

-7-




7. Reaffirmation. The Borrower hereby confirms its grant of a siglinterest and other obligations under and stthje the terms of tt
Security Agreement, and agrees that, notwithstantia effectiveness of this Sixth Amendment or ahthe transactions contemplated hereby,
grant of security interest and other obligatiors ot impaired or adversely affected in any manvigtsoever and shall continue to be in full fi
and effect and shall continue to secure all theu@etObligations (as defined in the Security Agreet)) as amended, increased and/or exte
pursuant to this Sixth Amendment.

8. Miscellaneous

@ ContinuedEffectiveness of the Financing Agreement and thiee©t oan Documents Except as otherwise expressly prov
herein, the Financing Agreement and the other Ldaouments are, and shall continue to be, in fultdoand effect and are hereby ratified
confirmed in all respects, except that on and dfer Sixth Amendment Effective Date (i) all referes in the Financing Agreement to "
Agreement"”, "hereto”, "hereof", "hereunder" or weomf like import referring to the Financing Agreemeshall mean the Financing Agreemer
amended by this Sixth Amendment, and (ii) all refees in the other Loan Documents to the "Finandggeement", "thereto”, "thereo
"thereunder" or words of like import referring teetFinancing Agreement shall mean the Financingeé&mrent as amended by this Sixth Amendr
To the extent that the Financing Agreement or atiner Loan Document purports to pledge to the @id Agent, or to grant to the Collate
Agent, a security interest or lien, such pledgeg@nt is hereby ratified and confirmed in all redpe Except as expressly provided herein
execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Si&thendment shall not operate as an amendment arewaf any right, power or remedy of
Agents and the Lenders under the Financing Agreeoreany other Loan Document, nor constitute anradment or waiver of any provision of -
Financing Agreement or any other Loan Document,cooistitute a waiver of, or consent to, any DefaulEvent of Default now existing or herea
arising under the Financing Agreement or any otlean Document, and Agents and the Lenders expressgrve all of their rights and reme
under the Financing Agreement and the other LoasuBents, under applicable law or otherwise.

(b) Counterparts This Sixth Amendment may be executed in any remal counterparts and by different parties henetseparat
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed tabwiginal, but all of which taken together shalhstitute one and the same agreement. Delive
an executed counterpart of this Sixth Amendmentelgfacsimile or electronic mail shall be equaltyedfective as delivery of an original exect
counterpart of this Sixth Amendment.




(c) Headings. Section headings herein are included for corera® of reference only and shall not constitutea of this Sixtl
Amendment for any other purpose.

(d) Costs and Expenses The Borrower agrees to pay on demand all feestscand expenses of the Agents and the Lend
connection with the preparation, execution andveeji of this Sixth Amendment.

(e) Sixth Amendment as Loan DocumenEach Loan Party hereby acknowledges and agne¢shis Sixth Amendment constitute
"Loan Document" under the Financing Agreement. okdingly, it shall be an Event of Default under tRamancing Agreement if (i) a
representation or warranty made by any Loan Partieuor in connection with this Sixth Amendment,jebhrepresentation or warranty is (A) sub
to a materiality or a Material Adverse Effect gtiafition, shall have been incorrect in any respdan made or deemed made, or (B) not subjec
materiality or a Material Adverse Effect qualificat, shall have been incorrect in any material eespvhen made or deemed made or (i) any
Party shall fail to perform or observe any termjammant or agreement contained in this Sixth Amenmdme

® Severability. Any provision of this Sixth Amendment that isopibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction $hak to suc
jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of sugfohibition or unenforceability without invalidagnthe remaining portions hereof or affecting
validity or enforceability of such provision in anyher jurisdiction.

(9) Governing Law. This Sixth Amendment shall be governed by theslaf the State of New York.

(h) Waiver of Jury Trial THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVE THR RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO A JUFR
TRIAL OF ANY CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION BASED UPON ORARISING OUT OF THIS SIXTH AMENDMENT OR ANY OF TH
TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREIN, INCLUDING CONTRAT CLAIMS, TORT CLAIMS, BREACH OF DUTY CLAIMS, ANL
ALL OTHER COMMON LAW OR STATUTORY CLAIMS.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties hereto have caused this Sixth Amentitnebe executed and delivered by their respe
duly authorized officers as of the date first venittabove.

BORROWER:
MOTORCAR PARTS OF AMERICA, INC
By: /s/ Selwyn Joffe

Selwyn Joffe
Chief Executive Office




COLLATERAL AGENT :

CERBERUS BUSINESS FINANCE, LL!

By: /s/ Daniel Wolf
Daniel Wolf
Presiden




ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND LENDER:

PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By: /s/ Fred Kiehne
Fred Kiehne
Senior Vice Presidel




LENDER:
ABLECO FINANCE LLC
By: /s/ Daniel Wolf

Daniel Wolf
Presiden




LENDER:
A5 FUNDING L.P.

By: A5 Fund Management LLC
Its: General Partne¢

By: /s/ Daniel Wolf
Daniel Wolf
Presiden




LENDER:
CERBERUS OFFSHORE LEVERED I L.

By: COL I GP Inc.
Its: General Partne¢

By: /s/ Daniel Wolf
Daniel Wolf
Vice Presiden




LENDER:
CERBERUS -1 FUNDING LLC
By: /s/ Daniel Wolf

Daniel Wolf
Vice Presiden




LENDER:
CERBERUS LEVERED LOAN OPPORTUNITIES FUND |, L.

By: Cerberus Levered Opportunities GP, L
Its: General Partne

By: /s/ Daniel Wolf
Daniel Wolf
Managing Directo




LENDER:
CERBERUS ONSHORE LEVERED II LL¢
By: /s/ Daniel Wolf

Daniel Wolf
Vice Presiden




LENDER:
CERBERUS OFFSHORE LEVERED II L

By: COL Il GP Inc.
Its: General Partne¢

By: /s/ Daniel Wolf
Daniel Wolf
Vice Presiden




LENDER:
CERBERUS AUS LEVERED LI

By: CALIGP LLC
Its: General Partne¢

By: /s/ Daniel Wolf
Daniel Wolf
Vice Presiden




LENDER:
CERBERUS ASRS FUNDING LL(
By: /s/ Daniel Wolf

Daniel Wolf
Vice Presiden




List of Subsidiaries
MVR Products Pte. Limited, a company organized utigde laws of Singapore
Unijoh Sdn. Bhd., a company organized under the laf\Malaysia
Motorcar Parts de Mexico, S.A. de C.V., a compamganized under the laws of Mexico
Motorcar Parts of Canada, Inc., a company organipetr the laws of Canada
Central Auto Parts Co., Ltd, a company organizetdeuthe laws of China
Fenwick Automotive Products Limited, a company oiigad under the laws of Canada
Introcan, Inc., a company organized under the lafABelaware

Fapco S.A. de C.V., a company organized underaivs bf Mexico
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Exhibit 23.0
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference irRbgistration Statements (Form S-8 No.’s 333-1143839-103313, and 333-144883) pertaining to
the Long Term Incentive Plan, 1994 Stock OptiomPénd 2004 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Ptaspectively, of Motorcar Parts of
America, Inc. of our reports dated June 17, 2018 mespect to the consolidated financial statesiant schedule of Motorcar Parts of America, Inc.
and the effectiveness of internal control overriitial reporting of Motorcar Parts of America, linecluded in this Annual Report (Form X)-for the
year ended March 31, 201

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

Los Angeles, C/
June 17, 201




Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Selwyn Joffe, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Moty Parts of America, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or emngtate a material fact necessary to mak
statements made, in light of the circumstances uwt&h such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, theégas presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimlisglosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))irmtednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15
(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoresused such disclosure controls and procedaoies designed under our supervisiot
ensure that material information relating to thgistrant, including its consolidated subsidiarissnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidfis report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused, such internal control overririal reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rigggitte reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatioy principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradiSslosure controls and procedures and presentiadsineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prores] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportifgat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth disguarter in the case of an annual report) thatrhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comhweer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anlolve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiEregistrant’s Board of Directors (or personggrening the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidfgaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invawaanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: June 17, 2013 /sl Selwyn Joffe

Selwyn Joffe
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, David Lee, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Moty Parts of America, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or emngtate a material fact necessary to mak
statements made, in light of the circumstances uwt&h such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, theégas presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimlisglosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))irmtednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15
(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoresused such disclosure controls and procedaoies designed under our supervisiot
ensure that material information relating to thgistrant, including its consolidated subsidiarissnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidfis report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused, such internal control overririal reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rigggitte reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatioy principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradiSslosure controls and procedures and presentiadsineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prores] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based upon such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportifgat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth disguarter in the case of an annual report) thatrhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comhweer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anlolve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiEregistrant’s Board of Directors (or personggrening the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidfgaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invawaanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: June 17, 2013 /s/ David Lee

David Lee
Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 31.3
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Kevin Daly, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Moty Parts of America, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or emngtate a material fact necessary to mak
statements made, in light of the circumstances uwt&h such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, theégas presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimlisglosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))irmtednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15
(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoresused such disclosure controls and procedaoies designed under our supervisiot
ensure that material information relating to thgistrant, including its consolidated subsidiarissnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidfis report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused, such internal control overririal reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rigggitte reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatioy principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradiSslosure controls and procedures and presentiadsineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prores] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based upon such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportifgat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth disguarter in the case of an annual report) thatrhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comhweer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anlolve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiEregistrant’s Board of Directors (or personggrening the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidfgaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invawaanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: June 17, 2013 /sl Kevin Daly

Kevin Daly
Chief Accounting Office




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATE OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, CHIEF FINAN CIAL OFFICER AND CHIEF
ACCOUNTING OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of MotorcartBaf America, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-#¢ the year ended March 31, 2013 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissionhe date hereof (the “Annual Report”), |, Selwlpife, Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section01 3% adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@nley Act of 2002, to my knowledge, that:

1. The Annual Report fully complies with the re@umrents of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securlieshange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Annual Repaitly presents, in all material respects, the foiahcondition and results of operations of the
Company.

/sl Selwyn Joffe
Selwyn Joffe

Chief Executive Office
June 17, 201

In connection with the Annual Report of MotorcartBaf America, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-#¢ the year ended March 31, 2013 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiothe date hereof (the “Annual Report”), I, Davidd, Chief Financial Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, aptetbpursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Odewf 2002, to my knowledge, that:

1. The Annual Report fully complies with the reguirents of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securlieshange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Annual Repaitly presents, in all material respects, the faialncondition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ David Lee

David Lee

Chief Financial Office
June 17, 201

In connection with the Annual Report of Motorcart8af America, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-&¢ the year ended March 31, 2013 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissionhe date hereof (the “Annual Report”), |, Kevialip, Chief Accounting Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section01 2% adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@mley Act of 2002, to my knowledge, that:

1. The Annual Report fully complies with the reguirents of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securlieshange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Annual Repaitly presents, in all material respects, the foiahcondition and results of operations of the
Company.

/sl Kevin Daly

Kevin Daly

Chief Accounting Office
June 17, 201

The foregoing certifications are being furnishedh® Securities and Exchange Commission as péneaiccompanying report on Form 10-K. A
signed original of each of these statements has jpexided to Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. arid e retained by Motorcar Parts of America,
Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchangam@ission or its staff upon request.




